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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains express or implied forward-looking statements that are based on our 
management’s belief and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. All statements other than 
statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including statements regarding our future results 
of operations or financial condition, business strategy and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are 
forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as 
“anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” 
“project,” “should,” “target,” “will,” or “would” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions.

These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:

• our expectations regarding our revenue, expenses and other operating results;

• our ability to acquire new customers and successfully retain existing customers;

• our ability to increase usage of our solution;

• our ability to effectively manage our growth;

• our ability to achieve or sustain profitability;

• future investments in our business, our anticipated capital expenditures and our estimates regarding our capital 
requirements;

• the costs and success of our sales and marketing efforts and our ability to promote our brand;

• our growth strategies for our solution;

• the estimated addressable market opportunity for our solution;

• our reliance on key personnel and our ability to identify, recruit and retain skilled personnel;

• our ability to effectively manage our growth, including any international expansion;

• our ability to maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights and any costs associated therewith;

• the effects of COVID-19, including variants of COVID-19, or other public health crises on our business and the 
global economy;

• our ability to compete effectively with existing competitors and new market entrants; and

• the growth rates of the markets in which we compete

You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking 
statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K primarily on our current expectations and projections about future 
events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition and operating results. The outcome of the events 
described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors described in the section titled 
“Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly 
changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and 
uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The 
results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur and actual results, 
events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. 
These statements are based on information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. While we believe 
that such information provides a reasonable basis for these statements, that information may be limited or incomplete. Our 
statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all relevant 
information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on these statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which 
the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to reflect new information 
or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or 
expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking 
statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, 
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joint ventures or investments.
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SUMMARY OF SELECTED RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR BUSINESS

Our business operations are subject to numerous risks, factors and uncertainties, including those outside of our control, 
that could cause our actual results to be harmed, including risks regarding the following:

• Our recent rapid growth may not be indicative of our future growth. Our rapid growth also makes it difficult to 
evaluate our future prospects and may increase the risk that we will not be successful.

• Our limited operating history and our history of operating losses makes it difficult to evaluate our current business 
and prospects and may increase the risks associated with your investment.

• Our business depends on customers increasing their use of our solution and any loss of customers or decline in 
their use of our solution could harm our business.

• Usage of our solution accounts for substantially all of our revenue.

• If we are unable to attract new customers and retain existing customers, our business, financial condition and 
results of operations will be adversely affected.

• We rely upon third-party providers of cloud-based infrastructure to host our cloud-based solution. Any disruption 
in the operations of these third-party providers, limitations on capacity or interference with our use could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• We expect fluctuations of our financial results which may cause quarterly comparisons not to be meaningful.

• Our revenue growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with law firms and other legal 
services providers, and if we are unable to establish and maintain successful relationships with them, our business, 
operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

• The markets in which we participate are competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our business will be 
harmed.

• We employ a pricing model that subjects us to various challenges, and given our limited history with our pricing 
model, we may not be able to accurately predict the optimal pricing necessary to attract new customers and retain 
existing customers.

• We rely on the performance of highly skilled personnel, including our management and other key employees, and 
the loss of one or more of such personnel, or of a significant number of our team members, could harm our 
business.

• Our current operations are international in scope and we plan on further geographic expansion, creating a variety 
of operational challenges.

• Unfavorable conditions in our industry or the global economy or reductions in legal spending could harm our 
business.

• Our business and results of operations may be materially adversely affected by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, 
including variants of COVID-19, or other similar outbreaks or pandemics.

• We may in the future be subject to legal proceedings and litigation, including intellectual property disputes, which 
are costly and may subject us to significant liability and increased costs of doing business. Our business may 
suffer if it is alleged or determined that our technology infringes the intellectual property rights of others.

• We operate in a highly regulated industry and either are or may be subject to a wide range of federal, state and 
local, as well as foreign, laws, rules and regulations, and our failure to comply with these laws and regulations 
may force us to change our operations or harm our business.

• If our information technology systems or data, including the personal information and other sensitive information 
we process, or the information technology systems or data of third parties upon whom we rely, are or were 
compromised, we could experience adverse consequences, including, but not limited, to additional costs, loss of 
revenue, significant liabilities, harm to our brand, or material disruption of our operations.

• Insiders have substantial control over us and will be able to influence corporate matters.
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Part I

Item 1. Business

Overview

DISCO provides a cloud-native, artificial intelligence-powered legal solution that simplifies ediscovery, legal document 
review and case management for enterprises, law firms, legal services providers and governments. Our scalable, integrated 
solution enables legal departments to easily collect, process and review enterprise data that is relevant or potentially relevant to 
legal matters. We leverage a cloud-native architecture and powerful artificial intelligence, or AI, models to automatically 
identify legally relevant documents and improve the accuracy and speed of legal document review. Our AI models continuously 
learn from legal work conducted on our solution and can be reused across legal matters, which further strengthens our ability to 
help our customers find evidence and resolve matters faster as they expand usage of our solution. We provide legal departments 
with the ability to centralize legal data into a single solution, improving security and privacy for our customers, enabling 
transparent collaboration with other legal industry participants and allowing customers to reuse data and lawyer work product 
across legal matters. By automating the manual, time-consuming and error-prone parts of ediscovery, legal document review 
and case management, we empower legal departments to focus on delivering better legal outcomes.

Since our incorporation in 2013, and beginning with our founders, DISCO has assembled a team that combines strength 
in software engineering, cloud computing and AI, with deep legal expertise and a rich understanding of the problems that 
lawyers and legal professionals face and how they work. This combination of expertise means that our team is distinctly well-
positioned to execute on our vision of building technology that powers the legal function across companies in every industry.

Our focus on delivering a solution that legal professionals value is coupled with a simple and transparent usage-based 
business model. We believe this enables our customers to easily adopt our solution, realize rapid time-to-value, scale their usage 
within and across applications to match their changing needs and collaborate with others. This has allowed us to build a 
powerful product-led growth engine that efficiently expands the usage of our solution for more legal matters and use cases 
within organizations, spreads our solution across the legal ecosystem through collaboration and word-of-mouth and increases 
the value of our solution as we collect and process more data and lawyers do more legal work in our solution. The success of 
this growth model is underscored by our dollar-based net retention rate of 146% as of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 
2021, we had 1,126 enterprises, law firms, legal services providers and government organizations as DISCO customers. See the 
section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for the definition of 
dollar-based net retention rate.

Law affects everyone, from the largest multinational corporations to local mom-and-pop businesses, from the most 
powerful national governments to the smallest towns and from major civic organizations to individual citizens. The impact of 
law on the business world is only growing, with businesses today operating in more jurisdictions than ever before and 
increasingly exposed to a growing number of constantly changing laws and regulations that can materially damage a company’s 
brand and operations. This has turned the corporate legal function into a mission-critical, strategic component of the modern 
enterprise and contributed to the growth in global spend on legal services. But despite its enormous scale and attractive 
opportunities for automation and the application of AI to improve lawyer productivity and job satisfaction, the legal industry 
has lagged behind other industries in digitization and cloud technology adoption.

Legal work often requires lawyers to collect and review enterprise data to determine the facts. This process includes 
ediscovery, which refers to the process of collecting, searching and producing digital enterprise data that can constitute 
documentary evidence and legal document review, which refers to the substantive review of collected digital enterprise data by 
legal professionals to determine the facts and final evidence in a legal matter. Today, many legal departments rely on a complex 
and services-heavy network of law firms, legal services providers and legacy point solutions for ediscovery and legal document 
review. This fragmented, multi-vendor approach is extremely manual, difficult to use and ill-suited to handle the massive 
growth in the volume, variety and velocity of enterprise data that legal departments are experiencing, which ultimately limits 
the productivity of legal professionals and their ability to resolve legal matters quickly and on favorable terms. However, recent 
technological advances such as AI and cloud computing have reached a point of technological maturity where they can enable 
legal technology applications to transform legal work and automate much of the previously manual, time-consuming work done 
by legal professionals. At the same time, we believe rapid growth in use of consumer software and other consumer technology, 
including the proliferation of mobile devices, the generational shift of lawyers and the increasing career mobility of lawyers, are 
all contributing to a radical change in expectations for legal technology used in the workplace.
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Our Solution

Since our inception, our principal goal has been to create experiences that feel “magical” to lawyers, by delivering 
intuitive, intelligent offerings that are well-tailored to lawyers’ workflows and a joy for legal professionals to use. Our solution 
is enabled by our deep investment in a modern, scalable cloud architecture that accelerates application development; makes our 
offerings robust, scalable and secure; and enables us to act as a secure single system of record and engagement for all legal data 
at enterprise scale. We have built our solution to incorporate the latest advances in automation and AI directly into existing 
lawyer workflows to multiply lawyer productivity across the ediscovery and legal document review lifecycle. Our cloud-
native, AI-powered software is augmented with deep expertise, consultative professional services and flexible customer support 
that enables us to be a single-source provider and meet the diverse needs of customers in every industry. With our full-stack 
solution, legal departments no longer need to rely on a fragmented network of slow, antiquated processes and law firms and 
service providers manually collecting, searching and reviewing documents. We believe this reduces legal costs, increases 
lawyer productivity and improves legal outcomes. We intend to extend our solution and apply it to other kinds of legal work 
over time, enabling us to compete for an increasing share of global spend on legal services.

Our full-stack solution currently includes:

• DISCO Ediscovery automates much of the ediscovery process, saving legal departments from costly and 
cumbersome manual tasks associated with collecting, processing, enriching, searching, reviewing, analyzing, 
producing and using enterprise data that is at issue in legal matters.

• DISCO Review is AI-powered document review that consistently delivers legal document reviews that are high 
quality, on time and on budget.

• DISCO Case Builder allows legal professionals to collaborate across teams to effectively build a compelling 
case by offering a single place to search, organize and review witness testimony and other important legal data.

Key Benefits of Our Solution

Our end-to-end solution was designed to improve the everyday experience of lawyers and legal professionals and 
improve legal outcomes for legal departments. We deliver the following key benefits:

• Full Stack and Turnkey.    We enable customers to consume our offerings in a self-service way or as a turnkey, 
full-stack solution, giving our customers the flexibility to tailor their ediscovery and legal document review 
processes to their own legal work strategy and use different combinations of our offerings on different subsets 
of their legal work. The availability of our full-stack solution removes the need for our customers to manage 
workflows and data transfer between multiple services providers and point solutions, freeing up legal 
professionals to focus on higher value legal work. Additionally, because we use DISCO Ediscovery internally to 
deliver DISCO Review, we are able to maintain a tight feedback loop that accelerates improvement of our 
solution and training of our AI models, increasing the effectiveness of our overall solution for all customers 
over time. Our cloud-native, AI-powered solution is augmented with deep expertise, consultative professional 
services and flexible customer support, enabling us to be a single-source provider and meet the diverse needs of 
customers across industries.

• High End-User Satisfaction Driven by Applications Built for Lawyers and Other Legal Professionals.    We 
strive to create product experiences that feel “magical” to lawyers: intuitive, easy to use, powerful and 
comprehensive. Our cloud-native architecture delivers a level of performance comparable to the consumer 
applications that modern lawyers use every day. Our applications bring sophisticated technology, such as AI, to 
bear at the right points in a legal workflow in a way that feels natural and is not intimidating to the end user. 
These characteristics of our solution encourage and accelerate widespread adoption by lawyers and other legal 
professionals, which in turn accelerates the time to value for our customer.

• Increased Accuracy and Quality of Review.    Our solution allows lawyers to use AI and analytics integrated 
into a lawyer-friendly and highly automated workflow to increase the accuracy and quality of legal reviews. 
These innovations allow lawyers to spend less time finding and fixing human errors and managing the routing 
of documents through lawyer workflows and more time on higher value tasks that require legal judgment. 
Customers can realize these benefits either by leveraging DISCO Review or using DISCO Ediscovery as the 
solution on which existing law firms and legal services providers conduct legal document review themselves.

• Faster Resolution of Legal Matters with Better Outcomes.    Our solution enables lawyers to determine the 
facts and use those facts to assess legal matters and produce evidence more quickly. We believe this enables 
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them to resolve legal matters faster, which can result in significantly reduced legal costs and the reduction or 
avoidance of legal risks across their full portfolio of legal matters.

• Scalable, Secure, Single System of Record and Engagement for Legal Data.    The scalability, performance 
and extensibility of our cloud-native architecture allows customers to use DISCO as a secure single system of 
record and engagement for all enterprise data related to legal matters at enterprise scale. This enhances the 
security and integrity of our customers’ enterprise data involved in legal matters, provides fine-grained control 
over user access to this data and the workflows users employ and empowers lawyers to easily search, visualize 
and interact with the complete corpus of enterprise data involved in legal matters in real time and in one place. 
With a single system of record and engagement, our AI models can continuously learn from all of a customer’s 
data and legal work product across all legal matters, enabling our customers to gain insights from legal work 
performed in earlier legal matters to accelerate legal work in subsequent legal matters.

• Cost Flexibility and Predictability.    Our single, end-to-end solution replaces the fragmented landscape of 
solutions and vendors historically used by legal departments. The solutions we replace often include separate, 
high and unpredictable costs for different parts of the ediscovery and legal document review process, such as 
processing, the review platform, analytics and infrastructure. By contrast, our simple, all-in pricing model and 
flexible terms align with our customers’ needs, are easy to understand and guarantee costs for our customers, 
allowing legal departments to improve cost predictability and budget planning.

Our Customers

As of December 31, 2021, we had 1,126 customers, increasing from 825 as of December 31, 2020. Our customers 
include a diverse set of enterprises across a broad set of industries, as well as law firms, legal services providers of all sizes and 
governmental organizations. While we serve customers across many different industries, the way in which lawyers and legal 
professionals use our solution is similar regardless of the specific industry in which each customer operates. This commonality 
has created efficiencies in our sales and marketing and product development efforts because we do not need to tailor them to a 
wide range of different customer use cases.

We define a customer as an entity that we have a contract with and from whom we have recognized revenue during the 
preceding month. Legal departments that use our solution and use many law firms across their legal matters, as well as law 
firms and service providers that use our solution for multiple clients, are each treated as one customer. Regardless of who we 
contract with, the ultimate payer is almost always the corporate legal department, with law firms and service providers passing 
on our bills to their client for reimbursement.

In 2021, no customer accounted for more than 10% of our revenue and less than 10% of our revenue was generated from 
customers outside of the United States.

Our Growth Strategies

We are pursuing multiple levers for future growth:

Fuel the DISCO Product-Led Growth Engine

• Maintain and Advance Our Innovation and Brand.    We intend to keep combining our deep legal domain 
expertise and commitment to world-class software engineering to continue delivering features that lawyers love 
and introducing new applications to address more areas of legal work.

• Add New Customers.    We believe we have a significant opportunity to further grow our customer base and our 
market leadership and differentiated solution will enable us to efficiently acquire new customers across all 
channels. As of December 31, 2021, we had 1,126 customers, increasing from 825 customers as of 
December 31, 2020.

• Increase Usage and Penetration Within Our Existing Customer Base.    We believe that we will be able to 
continue expanding customer relationships by increasing customers’ usage of applications that they already buy 
from us, selling more of our existing applications to existing customers, and, in the future, introducing 
additional applications to sell to existing customers. 
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Extend our Reach

• Expand Our Sales Coverage and Establish a Digital Sales Channel.    We intend to continue to increase our 
salesforce headcount in strategic locations across the United States and globally. Additionally, we plan to 
develop a digital, self-service sales channel that can simplify the sales process and enable customers to easily 
adopt our solution through our website without the need to speak with a sales representative.

• Expand Internationally.    Our market is global and we have a significant opportunity to expand internationally. 
In 2021, less than 10% of our revenue was generated by customers outside of the United States.

• Extend and Strengthen Our Channel Partnerships and Integrations.    We intend to cultivate and leverage 
channel partners to grow our market presence, enhance the virality of our solution and drive greater sales 
efficiency.

• Expand Our Offering Portfolio.    We intend to leverage our technology to introduce further offerings that 
increase lawyer productivity across more and more areas of legal work over time.

• Pursue Strategic Acquisitions and Strategic Investments. We intend to selectively pursue acquisitions and 
strategic investments that we believe can expand the functionality and value of our solution and bring talent to 
our company. 

Our Employees and Culture

We believe that great achievements come from aiming great people at big problems, and that our employees, who we call 
“Discovians,” are the principal driver of our success. We strive to attract, retain, develop and promote humble, curious and 
empathetic Discovians across all areas of our business. We are committed to fostering a diverse and inclusive workplace that 
values input from every corner of our business and creating an environment where all people feel welcome and connected 
regardless of their background. Our culture is guided by the principles we set forth in our MAGIC core values: Meaningful 
impact, All-in, Grit and grace, Innovation and Craft. These principles shape our culture and guide the way we work, support 
each other and our communities and serve our customers. We believe that our culture and commitment to giving back to our 
community are critical to advancing our mission of using technology to strengthen the rule of law. 

Diversity, equity and inclusion is a cornerstone of our strategy in this regard: we are committed to making DISCO a 
place where all people feel welcome and connected regardless of their background. Our aim is to build a company where great 
people can do the work of their lives and where every Discovian can see the impact that their work has on advancing our 
mission of using technology to strengthen the rule of law. We believe one of the greatest contributors to satisfaction at work is 
working with people who are good at their jobs and who are also good human beings. We have focused on building a culture 
that encourages bold experimentation and innovation and that is rigorous about measuring the results of our innovation so that 
we can direct investment toward ideas that work and away from ideas that do not. Our human capital resources objectives 
include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our existing and additional employees. 
The principal purposes of our equity and other incentive plans are to attract, retain and motivate selected employees, consultants 
and directors. As of December 31, 2021, we had 470 full-time employees.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our solution through a direct sales force which is organized based on the stages of our sales motion. Our sales 
organization includes sales development representatives, field sales, inside sales, solution architects and our customer success 
team. Our sales development representatives are responsible for finding and initiating contact with prospective customers, 
booking initial meetings with our sales team and demonstrating our applications. Our field and inside sales teams are 
responsible for converting interested prospects into DISCO customers and then expanding our relationship with existing 
customers by increasing their usage of our applications and cross-selling additional applications. Our solution architects provide 
deep expertise in our technology and are responsible for providing current and prospective clients with technical and workflow 
sales consulting. Once a customer is signed, our customer success team is responsible for onboarding our customers and driving 
user adoption in each customer organization. Our customer success professionals maintain ongoing relationships with users at 
our customers and partner with our sales team to secure referrals and capture upsell opportunities.

In addition to our direct sales force, we also sell through legal services providers who buy our applications and resell 
them to their own customers, often in combination with professional services. The customers of our customers who are legal 
services providers are generally legal departments and law firms. Some of our law firm customers additionally buy our 
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applications for the purpose of reselling them to their clients, who are legal departments, often in combination with professional 
services and legal services.

One particular area of focus of our sales team is the conversion of users into customers. Our typical entry into an 
organization is through lawyers at corporate legal departments and law firms. These or other customers also use our 
applications to collaborate with other legal industry participants who may or may not be our customers. For example, a legal 
department may add users who work at law firms that are not yet our customers. We aim to proactively secure referrals to other 
prospective customers as well as converting users of our solution who are not yet customers.

Our marketing activities are focused on building our brand reputation, increasing awareness of our solution among 
potential customers, converting users into customers and otherwise driving customer demand. We reach potential customers 
and generate leads for our sales team through a combination of customer prospecting, content marketing, social media, digital 
marketing, public relations, event marketing and sponsorships. We also incorporate lead generation directly into our product 
experience, with buttons that enable our customers to easily increase their usage, add new applications and engage our experts 
for additional support. Additionally, we believe we have an attractive opportunity to develop a more robust digital sales channel 
that can further facilitate efficient, self-service adoption by our customers.

Research and Development

Our research and development organization is responsible for the design, development, testing and delivery of our cloud-
native solution and platform. We believe that our substantial and continued investment in research and development, including 
hiring top engineering talent, in conjunction with our focus on having lawyers and legal professionals involved in every aspect 
of the product development process is critical to expanding our leadership position and developing applications that seem 
magical to our users. Additionally, our product development process and roadmap are informed by the continuous feedback we 
receive from Discovians who use our software as part of our DISCO Review offering and in our support and professional 
services organization.

Our Competition

Our market is rapidly evolving and highly competitive. Almost all potential customers have existing solutions for 
ediscovery and legal document review in place, which typically consists of a mix of on-premise point solutions and human 
professional services. To win new customers, we must displace these incumbent solutions.

We believe our competitors fall into several categories:

• Legal services providers. Competitors in this category include large dedicated legal services providers such as 
Consilio LLC, Epiq Systems, Inc. and KLDiscovery Inc., the legal services divisions of large professional 
services firms such as Deloitte & Touche LLP, Ernst and Young LLP, KPMG LLP and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and a large number of smaller regional and local legal services providers. Certain 
law firms also provide ediscovery solutions and legal document review services to their clients that may 
compete with our solutions for discrete matters.

• Legacy on-premise software. Competitors in this category include Nuix Limited, Open Text Corporation, 
Relativity ODA LLC, or Relativity, RELX PLC and Thomson Reuters Corporation, as well as many other 
smaller software companies.

• Cloud software. Competitors in this category include Everlaw, Inc., Logik Systems, Inc. (d.b.a. Logikcull), 
Relativity through its RelativityOne product offering and Reveal Data Corporation as well as many other 
smaller software companies.

In addition, we expect to expand our solution to address additional areas of the legal function and we will likely face 
further competition from existing companies in such areas.

We believe the principal competitive factors in our market include the following:

• level of user satisfaction;

• ease of deployment, implementation and use;

• scalability, reliability, security and performance;

• breadth of offering;
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• solution features and capabilities;

• accuracy, quality and speed of review;

• ability to connect multiple stakeholders in a cloud-based solution;

• quality and use of AI;

• comprehensiveness, quality and availability of support and professional services;

• brand awareness and reputation; and

• cost and predictability of costs.

We believe we generally compete favorably with our competitors on the basis of these factors. However, certain of our 
competitors may have greater name recognition, longer operating histories, more established customers, substantially greater 
financial and technical resources and larger sales and marketing budgets than we do.

Intellectual Property

We rely on certain intellectual property rights, including patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets, as well as 
contractual protections to establish and protect our proprietary rights with respect to employees, contractors, customers and 
partners. 

We have certain registrations (and applications for registration) for intellectual property rights. As of December 31, 
2021, we held three U.S. granted patents and 11 pending U.S. patent applications. Our three issued U.S. patents are scheduled 
to expire on June 28, 2037. As of December 31, 2021, we held one registered U.S. trademark. As of December 31, 2021, we 
held seven domain names in the United States and in foreign jurisdictions. The existence of a pending application is not an 
assurance that it will issue or lead to a registration.

Government Regulation

Our business is and will continue to be subject to extensive and evolving U.S. federal, state and foreign laws, rules and 
regulations, including the rules and regulations of the organizations and other authorities governing the legal profession in the 
jurisdictions in which we or our customers operate. In addition, we are subject to regulations and laws specifically governing 
the internet and the collection, storage, processing, transfer and other use of personal information and other customer data. We 
are also subject to laws and regulations involving taxes, privacy and data security, anti-spam, content protection, electronic 
contracts and communications, mobile communications, unencumbered internet access to our solution, the design and operation 
of websites and internet neutrality. See the section titled “Risk Factors - Risks related to Litigation, Regulatory Compliance and 
Governmental Matters - We operate in a highly regulated industry and either are or may be subject to a wide range of federal, 
state and local, as well as foreign, laws, rules and regulations and our failure to comply with these laws and regulations may 
force us to change our operations or harm our business.”

Facilities

Our corporate headquarters is located in Austin, Texas, where we lease approximately 49,000 square feet pursuant to a 
lease that expires in October 2022. This office is leased, and we do not own any real property. We may lease or purchase 
additional space as needed to accommodate our needs.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in December 2013. Our principal executive offices are located at 3700 N. Capital of 
Texas Hwy., Suite 150, Austin, Texas 78746, and our telephone number at that address is (833) 653-4726. Our website address 
is www.csdisco.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference 
into this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and you should not consider information on our website to be part of this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendment 
to these reports are filed with the SEC. Such reports and other information filed by us with the SEC are available free of charge 
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on our website at www.csdisco.com when such reports are available on the SEC’s website. The SEC maintains an internet site 
that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the 
SEC at www.sec.gov. The information contained on the websites referenced in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is not 
incorporated by reference into this filing. Further, our references to website URLs are intended to be inactive textual references 
only.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described below. You 
should carefully consider the risks described below, together with the financial and other information contained in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes. The risks and uncertainties described below are 
not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not 
material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the following risks or others not 
specified below materialize, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially and 
adversely affected. Unless otherwise indicated, references in these risk factors to our business being harmed will include harm 
to our business, reputation, brand, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. As a result, the trading price of our 
common stock could decline. 

Risks Related to Our Growth and Capital Requirements 

Our recent rapid growth may not be indicative of our future growth. Our rapid growth also makes it difficult to evaluate our 
future prospects and may increase the risk that we will not be successful. 

We have experienced substantial growth in our business since inception. For example, our revenue was $114.3 million 
and $68.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We have also experienced significant growth 
in headcount, our number of customers, usage and amount of data delivered across our solution. You should not rely on the 
revenue growth of any prior quarterly or annual period as an indication of our future performance. Even if our revenue 
continues to increase, we expect that our revenue growth rate may decline in the future as a result of a variety of factors, 
including the maturation of our business, increased competition, changes to technology, a decrease in the growth of our overall 
market, or our failure, for any reason, to continue to take advantage of growth opportunities. Overall growth of our revenue 
depends on a number of factors, including our ability to: 

• price our solution effectively so that we are able to attract new customers and expand sales to our existing 
customers;

• expand the functionality applications of our solution;

• maintain and expand the rates at which customers use our solution;

• provide our customers with support that meets their needs;

• maintain or increase customer satisfaction with our solution;

• continue to introduce and sell our solution to new markets;

• continue to develop applications and new functionality on our solution and successfully further optimize our 
solution, including continued innovation of our artificial intelligence system for legal documents;

• successfully identify and acquire or invest in businesses, products or technologies that we believe could 
complement or expand our solution;

• recruit, hire, train and manage additional qualified developers, professionals and sales and marketing personnel; 
and

• increase awareness of our brand on a global basis and successfully compete with other companies.

We may not successfully accomplish any of these objectives, and as a result, it is difficult for us to forecast our future 
results of operations. If the assumptions that we use to plan our business are incorrect or change in reaction to changes in the 
markets in which we operate, or if we are unable to maintain consistent revenue or revenue growth, our stock price could be 
volatile and it may be difficult to achieve and maintain profitability.

In addition, we expect to continue to expend substantial financial and other resources on: 

• our technology infrastructure, including systems architecture, scalability, availability, performance and security;

• sales and marketing, including a significant expansion of our sales organization to engage existing and prospective 
customers, increase brand awareness and drive adoption of our solution;
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• product development, including investments in our development team and the development of new applications of 
our solution and new functionality for our existing applications and in the protection of our intellectual property 
rights related to our product development;

• services and support for the benefit and assistance of customers using our solution;

• acquisitions or strategic investments;

• international expansion; and

• general administration, including increased legal and accounting expenses associated with being a public 
company.

These investments may not be successful on the timeline we anticipate or at all and may not result in increased revenue 
growth. If we are unable to maintain or increase our revenue at a rate sufficient to offset the expected increase in our costs, our 
business, financial position and results of operations will be harmed and we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability 
over the long term. Additionally, we have encountered, and may in the future encounter, risks and uncertainties frequently 
experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing industries, such as unforeseen operating expenses, difficulties, 
complications, delays and other known or unknown factors that may result in losses in future periods. If our revenue growth 
does not meet our expectations in future periods, our business, financial position and results of operations may be harmed and 
we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future. 

We may not be able to successfully manage our growth and, if we are not able to grow efficiently, our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be harmed. 

The rapid growth we have experienced in our business places significant demands on our operational infrastructure. As 
usage of our solution grows, we will need to devote additional resources to improving and maintaining our infrastructure and 
integrating with third-party applications, including open source software. In addition, we will need to appropriately scale our 
internal business systems and our services organization, including customer support and professional services, to serve our 
growing customer base. Any failure of or delay in these efforts could lead to impaired system performance and reduced 
customer satisfaction, resulting in decreased sales to customers, lower dollar-based net retention rates, the issuance of service 
credits or requested refunds, which would hurt our revenue growth and our reputation. Even if we are successful in our 
expansion efforts, they will be expensive and complex, and require the dedication of significant management time and attention. 
We could also face inefficiencies or service disruptions as a result of our efforts to scale our internal infrastructure. We cannot 
be sure that the expansion of and improvements to our internal infrastructure will be effectively implemented on a timely basis, 
if at all, and such failures could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our limited operating history and our history of operating losses makes it difficult to evaluate our current business and 
prospects and may increase the risks associated with your investment. 

We launched our business in 2013 and have experienced net losses in each fiscal year since inception. We incurred net 
losses of $24.3 million and $22.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 
2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $127.5 million. We will need to generate and sustain increased revenue levels and 
manage costs in future periods in order to become profitable. Even if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to maintain 
or increase our level of profitability. We intend to continue to incur significant costs to support further growth and further 
develop our solution, including expanding the functionality of our solution, technology infrastructure and business systems, 
expanding our direct sales force and partner ecosystem, increasing our marketing activities and growing our international 
operations. We will also face increased compliance costs associated with growth, expansion of our customer base and the costs 
of being a public company. These increased expenditures will make it harder for us to achieve or sustain profitability and we 
cannot predict if we will achieve or sustain profitability in the near term or at all. We may incur significant losses in the future 
for a number of reasons, including the other risks described herein, and unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and 
delays and other unknown events. If we are unable to achieve and sustain profitability, the value of our common stock could 
decline and our business may be harmed. 

We have limited historical financial data and operate in a rapidly evolving market. As a result, it is difficult to evaluate 
our current business and our future prospects, including our ability to plan for and model future growth, and any predictions 
about our future revenue and expenses may not be as accurate as they would be if we had a longer operating history or operated 
in a more predictable market. We have encountered and will continue to encounter risks and difficulties frequently experienced 
by rapidly growing companies in constantly evolving industries, including the risks described herein. If we do not address these 
risks successfully, our business may be harmed. 
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Our ability to timely raise capital in the future may be limited, or such capital may be unavailable on acceptable terms, if at 
all. 

We have funded our operations since inception primarily through payments received from our customers, sales of equity 
securities, including our IPO in July 2021, and borrowings under our former credit facility. We cannot be certain when or if our 
operations will generate sufficient cash to fully fund our ongoing operations or the growth of our business. We intend to 
continue to make investments to support our business and may require additional funds. We evaluate financing opportunities 
from time to time and our ability to obtain financing will depend, among other things, on our development efforts, business 
plans, operating performance and condition of the capital markets at the time we seek financing. Additional financing may not 
be available on favorable terms, if at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to invest in 
future growth opportunities, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Furthermore, if we issue 
additional equity securities, stockholders will experience dilution and the new equity securities could have rights senior to those 
of our common stock. Because our decision to issue securities in future offerings will depend on numerous considerations, 
including factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of any future issuances of debt 
or equity securities. As a result, our stockholders bear the risk of future issuances of debt or equity securities reducing the value 
of our common stock and diluting their interests. 

Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our equity incentive plans 
or otherwise will dilute all other stockholders. 

We may issue additional capital stock in the future that will result in dilution to all other stockholders. We expect to grant 
equity awards to employees, directors and consultants under our equity incentive plans. We may also raise capital through 
equity financings in the future. As part of our business strategy, we may acquire or make investments in companies and issue 
equity securities to pay for any such acquisition or investment. Any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause 
stockholders to experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per share value of our common stock to 
decline.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry 

Our business depends on customers increasing their use of our solution and any loss of customers or decline in their use of 
our solution could harm our business. 

Our ability to grow and generate incremental revenue depends, in part, on our ability to maintain and grow our 
relationships with existing customers and to have them increase their usage of our solution. Customers are charged in part based 
on their usage of our solution. If our customers do not increase their usage of our solution, our revenue may decline and our 
results of operations may be harmed. Most of our customers do not have long-term contractual financial commitments to us 
and, therefore, most of our customers may reduce or cease their use of our solution at any time. Customers may terminate or 
reduce their use of our solution for any number of reasons, including the settlement or other resolution of legal matters, 
reductions in the volume of major legal matters experienced, customer budget constraints, customer satisfaction or negative 
perceptions as to the reliability of our solution relative to traditional methods of performing legal services, changes in our 
customers’ underlying businesses and financial conditions, changes in the type and size of our customers, pricing changes, legal 
industry trends away from litigation toward alternative forms of dispute resolution, competitive conditions and general 
economic conditions. In addition, even if our customers expand their usage of our solution, we cannot guarantee that they will 
maintain those usage levels for any meaningful period of time. 

Customers under usage-based contracts can cancel their contracts or reduce their usage at any time. The loss of 
customers or reductions in their usage of our solution may each have a negative impact on our business, results of operations 
and financial condition. In addition, existing customers may negotiate lower rates for their usage in exchange for an agreement 
to renew, expand their usage in the future or adopt new solutions. As a result, these customers may not reduce their usage of our 
solution, but the revenue we derive from that usage will decrease. If our customers reduce their usage of or do not continue to 
use our solution, our revenue and other results of operations will decline and our business will suffer. 

Our future success also depends in part on our ability to expand our existing customer relationships by increasing usage 
and selling additional solutions to our existing customers. The rate at which our customers purchase solutions from us depends 
on a number of factors, including our ability to develop additional solutions for our solution and the quality of such 
applications, general economic conditions and pricing and services offered by our competitors. If our efforts to increase usage 
and sell additional solutions to our customers are not successful, our business may be harmed. 
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Usage of our solution accounts for substantially all of our revenue. 

We have derived and expect to continue to derive substantially all of our revenue from our solution. As such, market 
adoption of our solution is critical to our continued success. Our operating results could suffer due to: 

• any decline in demand for our solution;

• the failure of our solution to achieve continued market acceptance;

• the failure of the market for cloud-based technologies for the legal market to continue to grow, or grow as quickly 
as we expect;

• the introduction of products and technologies that serve as a replacement or substitute for, or represent an 
improvement over, our solution;

• technological innovations or new standards that our solution does not address;

• sensitivity to current or future prices offered by us or our competitors;

• our customers’ development of their own proprietary solutions; and

• our inability to release enhanced versions of our solution on a timely basis.

If the market for our solution grows more slowly than expected or if demand for our solution does not grow as quickly as 
anticipated, whether as a result of competition, pricing sensitivities, product obsolescence, technological change, unfavorable 
economic conditions, uncertain geopolitical environment, budgetary constraints of our customers or other factors, our business 
would be harmed. 

If we are unable to attract new customers and retain existing customers, our business, financial condition and results of 
operations will be adversely affected. 

We must attract new customers and retain existing customers to continue to grow our business. Our success will depend 
to a substantial extent on the widespread adoption of our solution as an alternative to existing offerings, including as an 
alternative to traditional systems relying on manual tasks and processes. Our customers include law firms and other legal 
services providers, legal departments of corporate enterprises and organizations and governmental entities. We must convince 
potential customers of the value of our cloud software solution and that our technologies can automate and simplify legal 
services more accurately, efficiently and securely than lawyers and their staff and the products of our competitors. This may 
require significant and costly sales efforts that are targeted at law firms and legal departments of corporate enterprises and 
organizations and the senior management of these potential customers. In addition, our ability to attract new customers depends 
in part on our partner ecosystem, consisting of law firms and other legal services providers who resell our solution. We must 
develop and maintain strong relations with our partner ecosystem and convince our partners of the value of our solution so that 
they drive adoption of our solution by their customers. Additionally, our solution allows our customers to add other legal 
industry participants as non-paying users of our solution. Our ability to attract new customers depends in part on our ability to 
convert the non-paying part users. Our success also depends in part on our ability to offer compelling solutions and the 
effectiveness of our sales organization. Numerous other factors, many of which are out of our control, may now or in the future 
impact our ability to acquire new customers, including, but not limited to: 

• competitive offerings;

• potential customers’ commitments to other providers;

• real or perceived costs of switching to our solution;

• our failure to expand, retain and motivate our sales and marketing personnel;

• our failure to develop or expand relationships with potential customers and our partner ecosystem;

• failure by us to help our customers to successfully deploy our solution;

• negative media or industry or financial analyst commentary regarding us or our solution;

• negative perceptions about the reliability of cloud-based legal solutions;

• litigation activity; and

• deteriorating general economic conditions.
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If the legal market and the demand for legal services decline, customers may decide not to adopt our solution and our 
existing customers may cease using our solution to reduce costs. As a result of these and other factors, we may be unable to 
attract new customers or retain existing customers, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

If our solution fails to perform properly due to defects, interruptions, delays in performance or similar problems and if we 
fail to resolve any defect, interruption, delay or other problem, we could lose customers, become subject to service 
performance or warranty claims or incur significant costs. 

Our operations are dependent upon our ability to prevent system interruption. The technologies underlying our cloud 
solution are complex and may contain material defects or errors, which may cause disruptions in availability or other 
performance problems. We have from time to time found defects in our solution and may discover additional defects in the 
future that could result in service issues. These defects or errors could also be found in third-party applications on which we 
rely. We may not be able to detect and correct defects or errors before a customer begins using our solution. Consequently, we 
or our customers may discover defects or errors after our solution has been deployed. 

In addition, we may experience system slowdowns and interruptions from time to time. Continued growth in our 
customer base could place additional demands on our solution and could cause or exacerbate slowdowns or interrupt the 
availability of our solution. If there is a substantial increase in the volume of usage on our solution, we will be required to 
further expand and upgrade our technology and infrastructure. There can be no assurance that we will be able to accurately 
project the rate or timing of increases, if any, in the use of our solution or expand and upgrade our systems and infrastructure to 
accommodate such increases on a timely basis. In such cases, if our users are not able to access our solution or encounter 
slowdowns when doing so, we may lose customers or partners. In order to remain competitive, we must continue to enhance 
and improve the responsiveness, functionality and features of our solution. Our response to such slowdowns or interruptions 
may not be sufficient to address all aspects or any unanticipated consequence or incidents and our insurance may not be 
sufficient to compensate us for the losses that could occur. 

Our customers use our solution to manage critical aspects of their businesses and operations. The occurrence of any 
defects, errors, disruptions in service or other performance problems, or delays with our solution, whether in connection with 
the day-to-day operations or otherwise, could result in: 

• loss of customers;

• loss of partners;

• reduced customer usage of our solution;

• reduced ability to attract new customers;

• lost or delayed market acceptance and sales of our solution;

• delays in payment to us by customers;

• injury to our reputation and brand;

• legal claims, including warranty claims, against us; and

• diversion of our resources, including through increased service and warranty expenses or financial concessions, 
and increased insurance costs.

The costs incurred in correcting any material defects, errors or other performance problems in our solution may be 
substantial and could harm our business. 

Incorrect or improper use of our solution could result in customer dissatisfaction and harm our business, results of 
operations, financial condition and growth prospects. 

We regularly train our customers in the proper use of and the variety of benefits that can be derived from our solution to 
maximize its potential. Our failure to train customers on how to efficiently and effectively deploy and use our solution, or our 
failure to provide effective support or professional services to our customers, whether actual or perceived, may result in 
negative publicity or legal actions against us. Also, as we continue to expand our customer base, any actual or perceived failure 
by us to properly provide these services will likely result in lost opportunities for follow-on sales of our related services. 
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Customers may find our solution to be complicated to use and it may not be easy to maximize the value of our solution 
without proper training. Moreover, we have designed our solution to allow for use by law firms and legal services providers 
who are not direct customers. If our customers or such third-parties perceive that our solution is too complex or time-consuming 
to learn and use, customer perceptions of our company and our solution may be impaired, our reputation and brand may suffer 
and customers may choose not to use our solution or increase their purchases of our offerings. Further, incorrect or improper 
use of our solution by our customers or their external legal services providers may result in negative legal outcomes and 
potentially subject such parties to claims of malpractice, which would adversely affect our reputation and customer confidence 
in our solution. 

We rely upon third-party providers of cloud-based infrastructure to host our cloud-based solution. Any disruption in the 
operations of these third-party providers, limitations on capacity, or interference with our use could adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our continued growth depends in part on the ability of our existing and potential customers to continue to adopt and 
utilize our cloud-based solution. We outsource substantially all of the infrastructure relating to our cloud-based solution to 
third-party hosting services. In particular, Amazon Web Services, or AWS, provides the cloud computing infrastructure that we 
use to host our solution and many of the internal tools we use to operate our business. Customers of our cloud-based solution 
expect to be able to access our solution at any time, without interruption or degradation of performance. Our cloud-based 
solution depends on protecting the virtual cloud infrastructure hosted by third-party hosting services by maintaining its 
configuration, architecture, features and interconnection specifications, as well as the information stored in these virtual data 
centers, which is transmitted by third-party internet service providers. Any disruption as a result of cyber-attacks or similar 
issues, or any limitation on the capacity of our third-party hosting services, could impede our ability to onboard new customers 
or expand the usage of our existing customers or otherwise adversely affect our business, which could adversely affect our 
financial condition and results of operations. Due the fact that we rely on third-party providers of cloud-based infrastructure to 
host our cloud-based solution, it may become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve their performance, especially 
during peak usage times and as our cloud capabilities become more complex and our user traffic increases, because we do not 
control the infrastructure supporting these services. In addition, any incident affecting our third-party hosting services’ 
infrastructure that may be caused by cyber-attacks, natural disasters, fire, flood, severe storm, earthquake, power loss, 
telecommunications failures, outbreaks of contagious diseases, terrorist or other attacks and other similar events beyond our 
control could negatively affect our cloud-based solution. If our cloud-based solution is unavailable or if our users are unable to 
access our cloud-based solution within a reasonable amount of time or at all, we may experience a loss of customers, lost or 
delayed market acceptance of our solution, delays in payment to us by customers, injury to our reputation and brand, legal 
claims against us and the diversion of our resources. We may also incur significant costs for using alternative equipment or 
taking other actions in preparation for, or in reaction to, events that damage the third-party hosting services we use. 

As our business grows, we may need to engage additional providers of cloud computing infrastructure to support our 
operations. Adequate additional support may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. Furthermore, certain 
customers may require that we use or avoid specific providers of cloud computing infrastructure. If we fail to enter into 
agreements or integrate our solution with third-party offerings that our customers require to operate their businesses, or to 
provide the proper support or ease of integration our customers require, we may not be able to offer the functionality that our 
customers and their consumers expect, which would harm our business. In addition, in the event that our service agreements 
with our third-party hosting services are terminated, or there is a lapse of service, elimination of services or features that we 
utilize, interruption of internet service provider connectivity or damage to such facilities, we could experience interruptions in 
access to our cloud-based solution as well as significant delays and additional expense in arranging or creating new facilities 
and services and/or re-architecting our cloud-based solution for deployment on a different cloud infrastructure service provider, 
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We rely on AWS to host our solution, and any disruption of service from AWS or material change to our arrangement 
with AWS could adversely affect our business. 

We currently host our solution and support most of our operations using AWS, a provider of cloud infrastructure 
services. We do not control the operations of AWS’s facilities. AWS’s facilities are vulnerable to damage or interruption from 
earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, cyber security attacks, terrorist attacks, power losses, telecommunications failures and 
similar events or could be subject to break-ins, computer viruses, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism and other misconduct. 
The occurrence of any of these events, a decision to close the facilities or cease or limit providing services to us without 
adequate notice or other unanticipated problems could result in interruptions to our solution, which may be lengthy. Our 
solution’s continuing and uninterrupted performance is critical to our success and employers and job seekers may become 
dissatisfied by service interruption. Sustained or repeated system failures could reduce the attractiveness of our solution to 
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customers, cause our customers to decrease their use of or stop using our solution and otherwise adversely affect our business. 
Moreover, negative publicity from disruptions could damage our reputation. 

AWS does not have an obligation to renew its agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we 
cannot renew our agreement or are unable to renew on commercially reasonable terms, we may experience costs or downtime 
in connection with the transfer to, or the addition of, new cloud infrastructure or other data center. If these providers charge 
high costs for or increase the cost of their services, we will experience higher costs to operate our business and may have to 
increase the fees to use our marketplace and our operating results may be adversely impacted. 

Upon expiration or termination of our agreement with AWS, we may not be able to replace the services provided to us in 
a timely manner or on terms and conditions, including service levels and cost, that are favorable to us, and a transition from one 
vendor to another vendor could subject us to operational delays and inefficiencies until the transition is complete. Switching our 
operations from AWS to another cloud or other data center provider would also be technically difficult, expensive and time 
consuming. 

Any of the above circumstances or events may harm our reputation, cause customers to stop using our solution, impair 
our ability to increase revenue from existing customers, impair our ability to grow our customer base, subject us to financial 
penalties and liabilities under our service level agreements and otherwise harm our business, results of operations and financial 
condition. 

We expect fluctuations of our financial results, which may cause quarterly comparisons not to be meaningful. 

Our business model is usage-based and there is inherent unpredictability in the timing, duration and scope of our 
customers’ legal matters requiring use of our solution. Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and are expected to 
fluctuate in the future due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. As a result, our quarterly results of 
operations, including the levels of our revenues, working capital and cash flows, may vary significantly in the future, such that 
period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations may not be meaningful. Our financial results may fluctuate due to a 
variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to predict, including, but not limited to: 

• the timing of our customers’ usage of our solution;

• the level of demand for or pricing of our solution;

• our ability to grow or maintain usage by our existing customers and acquire new customers;

• the timing and success of new functionality, features, integrations, capabilities and enhancements by us to our 
solution, or by our competitors to their products, or any other changes in the competitive landscape of our market;

• the timing and amount of our investments to expand the capacity of our third-party cloud infrastructure providers;

• changes in our customers’ budgets and in the timing of their budget cycles and purchasing decisions;

• changes in regulatory or legal environments that may cause us to incur, among other elements, expenses 
associated with compliance;

• general economic conditions, both domestically and internationally, as well as economic conditions specifically 
affecting industries in which our customers participate;

• the effects of potential acquisitions and their integration;

• the impact of new accounting pronouncements;

• changes in the competitive dynamics of our market, including consolidation among competitors or customers;

• significant security breaches of, technical difficulties with or interruptions to the delivery and use of our solution;

• awareness of our brand and our reputation in our target markets;

• errors in our forecasting of the demand for our solution, which would lead to lower revenues, increased costs, or 
both; and

• our ability to control costs, including research and development and sales and marketing expenses.

Any one or more of the factors above may result in significant fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations. In 
addition, because we were founded in 2013 and have experienced rapid expansion of our business and revenues since such 
time, we do not have a long history upon which to base forecasts of future revenue and operating results. Accordingly, we may 
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be unable to accurately forecast our revenues. As a result, our past results may not be indicative of our future performance, and 
the variability and unpredictability of our quarterly results of operations or other operating metrics could result in our failure to 
meet our expectations or those of investors or analysts with respect to revenues or other metrics for a particular period. If we 
fail to meet or exceed such expectations for these or any other reasons, the trading price of our common stock could decline 
substantially and we could face lawsuits that are costly and may divert management’s attention, including securities class action 
suits. 

If we fail to forecast our revenue accurately, or if we fail to manage our expenditures, our operating results could be 
adversely affected. 

Because our recent growth has resulted in the rapid expansion of our business and revenues, we do not have a long 
history upon which to base forecasts of future revenue and operating results. We cannot accurately predict customers’ usage 
given the uncertain timing and duration of legal matters and the diversity of our customer base across industries, geographies 
and size and other factors. Accordingly, we may be unable to accurately forecast our revenues notwithstanding our substantial 
investments in sales and marketing, infrastructure and research and development in anticipation of continued growth in our 
business. If we do not realize returns on these investments in our growth, our results of operations could differ materially from 
our forecasts, which would adversely affect our results of operations and could disappoint analysts and investors, causing our 
stock price to decline. 

If we fail to adapt and respond effectively to rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, changing regulations 
and changing customer needs, requirements or preferences, our solution may become less competitive. 

The market in which we compete is relatively new and subject to rapid technological change, evolving industry standards 
and regulatory changes, as well as changing customer needs, requirements and preferences. 

The success of our business will depend, in part, on our ability to adapt and develop enhancements for our solution that 
respond effectively to these changes on a timely basis and in a user-friendly manner. If we are unable to evolve our cloud 
solution to satisfy our customers’ needs and provide enhancements or add new and innovative features and capabilities to our 
solution that keep pace with rapid technological and industry change, our revenue and operating results could be adversely 
affected. If new technologies emerge that enable our competitors to deliver competitive products, services and applications at 
lower prices, more efficiently, more conveniently or more securely, such technologies could adversely impact our ability to 
compete. If our solution does not allow us or our customers to comply with the latest regulatory requirements, our existing 
customers may decrease their usage on our solution and new customers will be less likely to adopt our solution. 

A limited number of customers represent a substantial portion of our revenue. If we fail to retain these customers, our 
revenue could decline significantly. 

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from sales to our top 10% customers. As a result, our revenue could 
fluctuate materially and could be materially and disproportionately impacted by purchasing decisions of these customers or any 
other significant future customer. Any of our significant customers may decide to purchase less than they have in the past, may 
alter their purchasing patterns at any time with limited notice, or may decide not to continue to use our solution at all, any of 
which could cause our revenue to decline and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. If we do not 
further diversify our customer base, we will continue to be susceptible to risks associated with customer concentration. 

Our revenue growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with law firms and other legal services 
providers, and if we are unable to establish and maintain successful relationships with them, our business, operating results 
and financial condition could be adversely affected. 

We seek to grow our partner ecosystem as a way to grow our business. We plan to continue to establish and maintain 
similar strategic relationships with law firms and other legal services providers and we expect these entities to become an 
increasingly important aspect of our business. Our future growth in revenue and ability to achieve and sustain profitability 
depends in part on our ability to identify, establish and retain successful strategic partner relationships in the United States and 
internationally, which will take significant time and resources and involve significant risk. In order to develop and expand our 
distribution channel, we must develop and improve our processes for partner introduction and training. If we do not succeed in 
identifying suitable strategic partners or maintain our relationships with such partners, our business, operating results and 
financial condition may be adversely affected. 
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Moreover, we cannot be certain that these law firm and other legal services provider partners will prioritize or provide 
adequate resources to promote or utilize our solution. Further, some of our partners also work with our competitors. As a result 
of these factors, many of our law firm and other legal services provider partners may choose to promote alternative technologies 
in addition to or in lieu of our solution, either on their own or in collaboration with others, including our competitors. We 
cannot assure you that our law firm and other legal services provider partners will continue to cooperate with us. In addition, 
actions taken or omitted to be taken by such parties may adversely affect us. Even if we are successful in establishing and 
maintaining these relationships with law firms and other legal services providers, we cannot assure you that these relationships 
will result in increased customer usage of our solution or increased revenue to us. 

Failure to effectively develop and expand our marketing and sales capabilities could harm our ability to increase our 
customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our solution. 

Our ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our solution will significantly 
depend on our ability to expand our marketing and sales operations. We plan to continue expanding our sales force and strategic 
partners, both domestically and internationally. We also plan to dedicate significant resources to sales, marketing and demand-
generation programs, including various online marketing activities as well as targeted account-based advertising. The 
effectiveness of our targeted account-based advertising has varied over time and may vary in the future. All of these efforts will 
require us to invest significant financial and other resources and if they fail to attract additional customers, our business will be 
harmed. If our lead generation methods do not result in broader market acceptance of our solution, we will not realize the 
intended benefits of this strategy and our business will be harmed. 

We believe that there is significant competition for sales personnel, including sales representatives, sales managers and 
sales engineers, with the skills and technical knowledge that we require. Our ability to achieve significant revenue growth will 
depend in large part on our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient numbers of sales personnel to support our 
growth. New hires require significant training and may take significant time before they achieve full productivity. Our recent 
hires may not become productive as quickly as we expect, if at all, and we may be unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of 
qualified individuals in the markets where we do business or plan to do business. In addition, particularly if we continue to 
grow rapidly, new members of our sales force will have relatively little experience working with us, our solution and our 
business model. If we are unable to hire and train sufficient numbers of effective sales personnel, our sales personnel do not 
reach significant levels of productivity in a timely manner, or our sales personnel are not successful in acquiring new customers 
or expanding usage by existing customers, our business will be harmed. 

The markets in which we participate are competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our business will be harmed. 

The market for technology solutions for law firms, private enterprises and government and other organizations is highly 
fragmented, competitive and constantly evolving. With the introduction of new technologies and market entrants, we expect 
that the competitive environment in which we compete will remain intense going forward. Almost all potential customers have 
existing solutions for ediscovery and legal document review in place, which typically consists of a mix of on-premise point 
solutions and human professional service providers to deliver these solutions. Our competitors include (i) legal services 
providers, including large dedicated legal services providers such as Consilio LLC, Epiq Systems, Inc. and KLDiscovery Inc., 
the legal services divisions of large professional firms such as Deloitte & Touche LLP, Ernst and Young LLP, KPMG LLP and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, as well as a large number of smaller regional and local services companies and certain law firms 
providing in-house ediscovery and document review solutions; (ii) legacy on-premise software providers, such as Nuix Limited, 
Open Text Corporation and Relativity ODA LLC, or Relativity, RELX PLC and Thomson Reuters Corporation; and (iii) cloud 
software providers, such as Everlaw, Inc., Logik Systems, Inc. (d.b.a. Logikcull), Relativity’s through its RelativityOne offering 
and Reveal Data Corporation. In addition, we expect to expand our solution to address additional areas of the legal function and 
we likely face further competition from existing companies in such areas. 

Some of our competitors have made or may make acquisitions or be acquired by private equity sponsors, enterprises or 
special purpose acquisition companies or may enter into commercial relationships or other strategic relationships that may 
provide more comprehensive offerings than they individually had offered. Such acquisitions or relationships may help 
competitors achieve greater economies of scale than us. In addition, new entrants not currently considered to be competitors 
may enter the market through acquisitions, partnerships or strategic relationships. 

We compete on the basis of a number of factors, including: 

• our solution’s functionality, scalability, performance, ease of use, reliability, security, availability and cost-
effectiveness relative to that of our competitors’ products and services;
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• our ability to utilize new and proprietary technologies to offer services and features previously not available in the 
marketplace;

• our ability to identify new markets, applications and technologies;

• our ability to attract and retain customers;

• our brand, reputation and trustworthiness;

• perceptions about the security, privacy and availability of our solution relative to competitive products and 
services;

• the quality of our customer support;

• our ability to recruit software developers and sales and marketing personnel; and

• our ability to protect our intellectual property.

Our competitors vary in size and in the breadth and scope of the products and services offered. Many of our competitors 
and potential competitors have greater name recognition, greater market penetration, longer operating histories, more 
established customer relationships and installed customer bases and substantially greater financial, human, technical and other 
resources than we do and may be able to offer competing solutions to potential customers on more favorable terms than us. 
While some of our competitors provide a platform with applications to support one or more use cases, many others provide 
point-solutions that address a single use case. Other potential competitors not currently offering competitive applications may 
expand their product offerings to compete with our solution. Our competitors may be able to respond more quickly and 
effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards and customer requirements. An existing 
competitor or new entrant could introduce new technology that reduces demand for our solution. In addition to application and 
technology competition, we face pricing competition. Some of our competitors offer their applications or services at a lower 
price, which has resulted in pricing pressures. Some of our larger competitors have the operating flexibility to bundle competing 
applications and services with other offerings, including offering them at a lower price or for no additional cost to customers as 
part of a larger sale of other products. For all of these reasons, we may not be able to compete successfully and competition 
could result in the failure of our solution to achieve or maintain market acceptance, any of which could harm our business.

If the estimates and assumptions we have used to calculate the size of our addressable market opportunity are inaccurate, 
our future growth rate may be limited.

We have estimated the size of our addressable market opportunity based on data published by third parties and on 
internally generated data and assumptions. While we believe our market size information is generally reliable, such information 
is inherently imprecise and relies on our and third parties’ projections, assumptions and estimates within our target market, 
which are necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those described in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our market is developing and may develop differently than we expect. Market opportunity 
estimates and growth forecasts included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other filings we make from time to time with 
the SEC are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may not prove to be accurate. If 
such third-party or internally generated data prove to be inaccurate or we make errors in our projections, assumptions or 
estimates based on that data, including how current customer data and trends may apply to potential future customers and the 
number and type of potential customers, our addressable target market opportunity and/or our future growth rate may be less 
than we currently estimate. In addition, these inaccuracies or errors may cause us to misallocate capital and other business 
resources, which could divert resources from more valuable alternative projects and harm our business. 

The variables that go into the calculation of our market opportunity are subject to change over time and there is no 
guarantee that any particular number or percentage of addressable users or companies covered by our addressable target market 
opportunity estimates will purchase our solution at all or generate any particular level of revenue for us. Any expansion in our 
market depends on a number of factors, including the cost, performance and perceived value associated with our solution and 
applications and those of our competitors. Even if the market in which we compete meets the size estimates and growth 
forecasted in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we may not be successful in capitalizing on such market opportunity and our 
business could fail to grow for a variety of reasons, including reasons outside of our control, such as competition in our 
industry.

Our growth is subject to many factors, including our success in expanding our international operations, continuing to 
expand the use of our solution by our customers and otherwise implementing our business strategy, which are subject to many 
risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, information regarding the size of our addressable market opportunity should not be taken 
as indicative of our future growth.
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If we fail to develop, maintain and enhance our brand, our ability to expand our customer base will be impaired and our 
business, results of operations and financial condition may suffer. 

We believe that maintaining and enhancing our brand is important to continued market acceptance of our existing and 
future applications, attracting new customers and retaining existing customers. We also believe that the importance of brand 
recognition will increase as competition in our market increases. Successfully maintaining and enhancing our brand will depend 
largely on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts and strategies, our ability to provide a reliable solution that continues to 
meet the needs of our customers at competitive prices, our ability to maintain our customers’ trust, our ability to continue to 
develop new functionality and applications for our solution and our ability to successfully differentiate our solution from 
competitive products and services. Additionally, our brand and reputation may be affected if customers do not have a positive 
experience with our law firm and other legal services provider partners’ services. Our brand promotion activities may not 
generate customer awareness or yield increased revenue, and even if they do, any increased revenue may not offset the expenses 
we incurred in building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand, our business may be harmed. 

Furthermore, any negative publicity relating to our employees, customers or others associated with these parties may also 
tarnish our own reputation simply by association and may reduce the value of our brand. Damage to our brand and reputation 
may result in reduced demand for our solution and increased risk of losing market share to our competitors. Any efforts to 
restore the value of our brand and rebuild our reputation may be costly and may not be successful. 

We employ a pricing model that subjects us to various challenges, and given our limited history with our pricing model, we 
may not be able to accurately predict the optimal pricing necessary to attract new customers and retain existing customers. 

We generally charge our customers for their usage of our solution across a variety of dimensions of usage. We do not 
know whether our current or potential customers or the market in general will continue to accept this pricing model going 
forward and, if it fails to gain acceptance, our business could be harmed. In addition, we have limited experience with respect to 
determining the optimal pricing for our solution and, as a result, we have changed our pricing model in the past and expect that 
we may need to change it in the future. As the market for our solution matures and technology changes and improves, or as new 
competitors introduce new products or services that compete with ours, we may be unable to attract new customers at the same 
price or based on the same pricing models as we have used historically. Pricing decisions may also impact the mix of adoption 
among our customers and negatively impact our overall revenue. Moreover, frequent or significant users of our solution may 
demand substantial price concessions. As a result, in the future we may be required to reduce our prices or develop new pricing 
models, which could adversely affect our revenue, gross margin, profitability, financial position and cash flow. 

Our sales cycles with customers can be long and unpredictable and our sales efforts require considerable time and expense. 

The timing of our sales with our enterprise customers and related revenue recognition is difficult to predict because of the 
length and unpredictability of the sales cycle for these customers. In addition, for our enterprise customers, the lengthy sales 
cycle for the evaluation and implementation of our solution may also cause us to experience a delay between incurring expenses 
for such sales efforts and the generation of corresponding revenue. The length of our sales cycle for these customers can vary 
substantially from customer to customer. Our sales efforts involve educating our customers about the use, technical capabilities 
and benefits of our solution. Customers often undertake a prolonged evaluation process, which frequently involves not only our 
solution but also those of our competitors. In addition, the size of potential customers may lead to longer sales cycles. As the 
use of our solution can be dependent upon the timing of work in legal matters, our sales cycle can extend to even longer periods 
of time. During the sales cycle, we expend significant time and money on sales and marketing and contract negotiation 
activities, which may not result in a completed sale. Additional factors that may influence the length and variability of our sales 
cycle include: 

• the effectiveness of our sales force, particularly new salespeople, as we increase the size of our sales force and 
train our new salespeople to sell to enterprise customers; 

• the discretionary nature of customers’ purchasing decisions and budget cycles;

• customers’ procurement processes, including their evaluation of competing products and services;

• economic conditions and other factors affecting customer budgets;

• the regulatory environment in which our customers operate;

• customers’ familiarity with cloud computing solutions;

• evolving customer demands; and

• competitive conditions.
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Given these factors, it is difficult to predict whether and when a customer will switch to our solution. 

Further, some of our potential customers may undertake a significant evaluation and negotiation process due to size, 
organizational structure and approval requirements, all of which can lengthen our sales cycle. We may also face unexpected 
deployment challenges with such enterprises or more complicated deployment of our solution. These enterprises may demand 
additional features, support services and pricing concessions or require additional security management or control features. We 
may spend substantial time, effort and money on sales efforts to these customers without any assurance that our efforts will 
produce any sales or that these customers will deploy our solution widely enough across their organization to justify our 
substantial upfront investment. As a result, it is difficult to predict exactly when, or even if, we will make a sale to a potential 
customer or if we can increase sales to our existing customers. 

If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow, our success and our business and competitive position may be 
harmed. 

We believe our culture has been a key contributor to our success to date and that the critical nature of the solution that we 
provide promotes a sense of greater purpose and fulfillment in our employees. We have invested in building a strong corporate 
culture and believe it is one of our most important and sustainable sources of competitive advantage. Any failure to preserve our 
culture could negatively affect our ability to retain and recruit personnel, which is critical to our growth, and to effectively focus 
on and pursue our corporate objectives. As we grow and develop the systems and processes associated with being a public 
company, we may find it difficult to maintain these important aspects of our culture. In addition, as we grow and our resources 
become more globally dispersed, we may find it increasingly difficult to maintain these beneficial aspects of our corporate 
culture. If we fail to maintain our corporate culture, or if we are unable to retain or hire key personnel, our business and 
competitive position may be harmed. 

The success of our business depends on our customers’ continued and unimpeded access to our solution on the internet. 

Our customers must have internet access in order to use our solution. We have experienced, and may in the future 
experience, disruptions, outages, defects and other performance and quality problems with the public cloud and internet 
infrastructure on which our cloud solution relies. These problems can be caused by a variety of factors, including introductions 
of new functionality, vulnerabilities and defects in proprietary and open source software, human error or misconduct, capacity 
constraints, design limitations, as well as from internal and external security breaches, malware and viruses, ransomware, cyber 
events, denial or degradation of service attacks or other security-related incidents. In addition, some internet providers may take 
measures that affect their customers’ ability to use our solution, such as degrading the quality of the content we transmit over 
their lines, giving that content lower priority, giving other content higher priority than ours, blocking our content entirely, or 
attempting to charge their customers more for using our solution. As we expand our operations internationally, these problems 
will be further exacerbated and we will face additional complexity due to our inability to control internet infrastructure outside 
the United States. Any disruptions, outages, defects and other security performance and quality problems with the public cloud 
and internet infrastructure on which our cloud solution relies, or any material change in our contractual and other business 
relationships with our public cloud providers, could result in reduced use of our solution, increased expenses, including 
significant, unplanned capital investments and harm to our brand and reputation, any of which could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Any failure to offer high-quality support and professional services for our customers may harm our relationships with our 
customers and, consequently, our business. 

Once our solution is deployed, our customers sometimes request consulting and training to assist them in integrating our 
solution into their business and rely on our customer support personnel to resolve issues and realize the full benefits that our 
solution provides. Our ability to provide effective customer support is largely dependent on our ability to attract, train and retain 
qualified personnel with experience in supporting customers with a cloud solution such as ours and maintaining the same. The 
number of our customers has grown significantly, which is likely to increase demand for consulting, training, support and 
maintenance related to our solution and place additional pressure on our customer support teams. If we are unable to provide 
sufficient high-quality consulting, training, integration and maintenance resources, our customers may not effectively integrate 
our solution into their business or realize sufficient business value from our solution to justify further usage, which could 
impact our future financial performance. We may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in 
customer demand for technical support or maintenance assistance. We also may be unable to modify the future, scope and 
delivery of our maintenance services and technical support to compete with changes in the technical services provided by our 
competitors. Increased customer demand for support and professional services, without corresponding revenue, could increase 
costs and negatively affect our operating results. In addition, as we continue to grow our operations and support our global 
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customer base, we need to be able to continue to provide efficient support and effective maintenance that meets our customers’ 
needs globally at scale. Our ability to attract new customers is highly dependent on our business reputation and on positive 
recommendations from our existing customers. Any failure to maintain high-quality support services, or a market perception 
that we do not maintain high-quality support services for our customers, would harm our business. 

We rely on the performance of highly skilled personnel, including our management and other key employees and the loss of 
one or more of such personnel, or of a significant number of our team members, could harm our business. 

We believe our success has depended, and continues to depend, on the efforts and talents of senior management and key 
personnel, including Kiwi Camara, our Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer. From time to time, there may be changes in 
our management team resulting from the hiring or departure of executives and key employees, which could disrupt our 
business. We also are dependent on the continued service of our existing software engineers because of the complexity of our 
solution, and our existing salespeople, because of their relationship with our customers. Our senior management and key 
employees are employed on an at-will basis. In addition, many of our senior management and key employees may be able to 
receive significant proceeds from sales of our equity in the public markets after our IPO, which may reduce their motivation to 
continue to work for us. We cannot ensure that we will be able to retain the services of any member of our senior management 
or other key employees or that we would be able to timely replace members of our senior management or other key employees 
should any of them depart. The loss of one or more of our senior management or other key employees could harm our business. 

The failure to attract and retain additional qualified personnel could prevent us from executing our business strategy. 

To execute our business strategy and growth plan, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. Competition for 
executive officers, software developers, legal professionals, sales and customer support personnel and other key employees in 
our industry is intense. In particular, we compete with many other companies for software developers with high levels of 
experience in designing, developing and managing cloud-based software, as well as for legal professionals to support our 
solution and skilled sales and operations professionals. In addition, we believe that the success of our business and corporate 
culture depends on employing people with a variety of backgrounds and experiences and the competition for such diverse 
personnel is significant. While the market for such talented personnel is particularly competitive in Austin, Texas, where our 
headquarters is located, it is also competitive in other markets where we maintain operations and the increased prevalence of 
remote work has increased competition for employees in all markets. Moreover, to the extent we expand our operations to 
additional markets, we may face difficulties attracting talented personnel to such locations. Many of the companies with which 
we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we do and can frequently offer such personnel substantially 
greater compensation than we can offer. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, 
our business would be harmed. 

Future acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships, or alliances could be difficult to identify and integrate, divert the 
attention of management, disrupt our business and dilute stockholder value. 

While we have not made acquisitions historically, we may in the future make acquisitions of other companies, products 
and technologies that we believe could complement, expand or enhance the features and functionality of our solution and 
technical capabilities, broaden our service offerings or offer growth opportunities. We may not be able to find suitable 
acquisition candidates and we may not be able to complete acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all. If we do complete 
acquisitions, we may not ultimately strengthen our competitive position or achieve our goals and any acquisitions we complete 
could be viewed negatively by customers, developers or investors. In addition, we may not be able to integrate acquired 
businesses successfully or effectively manage the combined company following an acquisition. If we fail to successfully 
integrate our acquisitions, or the people or technologies associated with those acquisitions, into our company, the results of 
operations of the combined company could be adversely affected. Any integration process will require significant time and 
resources, require significant attention from management and disrupt the ordinary functioning of our business and we may not 
be able to manage the process successfully, which could harm our business. In addition, we may not successfully evaluate or 
utilize the acquired technology and accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition transaction, including accounting 
charges. 

We may have to pay cash, incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisition, each of which could affect 
our financial condition or the value of our capital stock. The sale of equity to finance any such acquisitions could result in 
dilution to our stockholders. If we incur more debt, it would result in increased fixed obligations and could also subject us to 
covenants or other restrictions that would impede our ability to flexibly operate our business. 
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Our current operations are international in scope and we plan on further geographic expansion, creating a variety of 
operational challenges. 

A component of our growth strategy involves the further expansion of our operations and customer base internationally. 
For the year ended December 31, 2021, the percentage of revenue generated from customers outside the United States was less 
than 10% of our total revenue. Beyond the United States, we have operational presence in several international jurisdictions, 
including the United Kingdom where our subsidiary, CS Disco, Ltd., is located. We are continuing to adapt to and develop 
strategies to address international markets but there is no guarantee that such efforts will have the desired effect. In connection 
with such expansion, we may face difficulties, including costs associated with expansion, varying seasonality patterns, potential 
adverse movement of currency exchange rates, longer payment cycle difficulties in collecting accounts receivable in some 
countries, increased management, travel, infrastructure and legal compliance costs associated with having operations and 
developing our business in multiple jurisdictions, different technical standards, existing or future regulatory and certification 
requirements and required features and functionality, political and economic conditions and uncertainty in each country or 
region in which we operate and general economic and political conditions and uncertainty around the world, tariffs and trade 
barriers, a variety of regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability to operate, adverse tax events, reduced protection of 
intellectual property rights in some countries and a geographically and culturally diverse workforce and customer base. In 
addition, our solution has been developed with a focus on the practice of law in the United States and the rules and regulations 
applicable domestically in the United States and we may be required to expend substantial time and resources to update our 
solution or develop new applications to address alternative systems of legal resolution in other jurisdictions. Furthermore, in 
certain jurisdictions in which we seek to enter, the rules and regulations governing the practice of law and e-discovery may 
impose additional obligations or restrictions on our operations. Failure to overcome any of these difficulties could harm our 
business. 

Our limited experience in operating our business internationally increases the risk that any potential future expansion 
efforts that we may undertake will not be successful. If we invest substantial time and resources to further expand our 
international operations and are unable to do so successfully and in a timely manner, our business may be harmed. 

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. 

Our sales contracts are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars and therefore substantially all of our revenue is not subject 
to foreign currency risk. However, a strengthening of the U.S. dollar could increase the real cost of our solution to our 
customers outside of the United States, which could adversely affect our operating results. In addition, an increasing portion of 
our operating expenses is incurred and an increasing portion of our assets is held outside the United States. These operating 
expenses and assets are denominated in foreign currencies and are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates. While we do not currently engage in hedging efforts, if we do not successfully hedge against the risks 
associated with currency fluctuations as our international operations and customer base grow, our business may be harmed. 

Risks Related to Socioeconomic Factors 

Unfavorable conditions in our industry or the global economy or reductions in legal spending could harm our business. 

Our results of operations may vary based on the impact of changes in our industry or the global economy on us or our 
customers and potential customers. This risk is presently heightened by the uncertain economic impact of the ongoing 
COVID-19 pandemic. Current or future economic uncertainties or downturns could adversely affect our business and results of 
operations. Negative conditions in the general economy both in the United States and abroad, including conditions resulting 
from changes in gross domestic product growth, financial and credit market fluctuations, political turmoil, natural catastrophes, 
warfare and terrorist attacks on the United States, Europe, the Asia-Pacific region, or elsewhere, could cause a decrease in 
business investments, including spending on information technology, which would harm our business. To the extent that our 
solution is perceived by customers and potential customers as too costly, or difficult to deploy or migrate to, our revenue may 
be disproportionately affected by delays or reductions in general information technology spending. Moreover, corporate entities 
may elect to reduce legal spending, both internally and through outside counsel, or be less willing to try alternatives to the 
traditional legal function. Also, our competitors, many of whom are larger and have greater financial resources than we do, may 
respond to market conditions by lowering prices and attempting to lure away our customers. We cannot predict the timing, 
strength or duration of any economic slowdown, instability or recovery, generally or within any particular industry. 
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Our business and results of operations may be materially adversely affected by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, including 
variants of COVID-19, or other similar outbreaks or pandemics. 

Our business could be materially adversely affected by the outbreak of a widespread health epidemic or pandemic, 
including the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, variants of COVID-19 or other similar outbreaks or pandemics. The COVID-19 
outbreak has reached across the globe, resulting in the implementation of significant governmental measures, including 
lockdowns, closures, quarantines, travel bans and occupancy limits intended to control the spread of the virus. Government 
authorities, including those in Austin, Texas, where our headquarters is located, previously instituted policies that required most 
of our employees in that area to work remotely. While strict shelter-in-place and similar orders have generally been lifted, 
continued limitations on indoor occupancy or other restrictions applicable to in-person operations have been and may in the 
future be re-instituted in some jurisdictions as rates of infection increase in those locations, including in light of the current 
spread of the Omicron variant and other potentially more contagious variants of the COVID-19 virus. These policies have, and 
are expected to continue to have, an impact on our business and the business of our customers. For example, customers’ 
inability to access their office resulted in delays in collecting data for use in legal matters and delayed increases in usage of our 
solution consequently reduced our revenue growth. This impact could increase if further actions that alter our operations are 
required by applicable government authorities or if we determine further actions are in the best interests of our customers’ or of 
our employees. 

To the extent that these restrictions remain in place or are reinstated, additional prevention and mitigation measures are 
implemented in the future, or there is uncertainty about the effectiveness of these or any other measures to contain or treat 
COVID-19 and COVID-19 variants, there could be an adverse impact on global economic conditions, which could materially 
and adversely impact our customers through reduced consumer demand for their products and services, which could in turn 
negatively impact our customers’ willingness or ability to enter into or renew contracts with us. While at this time we are 
working to manage and mitigate potential disruptions to our operations, the fluid nature of the pandemic and uncertainties 
regarding the related economic impact are likely to result in sustained market turmoil, which may harm our business, results of 
operations and financial condition. We cannot predict how the COVID-19 pandemic and COVID-19 variants will continue to 
develop, whether and to what extent government regulations or other restrictions may impact our operations or those of our 
customers, availability and rates of vaccination or whether or to what extent the COVID-19 pandemic and COVID-19 variants 
or the effects thereof may have longer-term unanticipated impacts on our business. 

The extent of COVID-19 and COVID-19 variants’ effects on our operational and financial performance will depend on 
future developments, including the duration, spread and intensity of the pandemic, all of which are uncertain and difficult to 
predict considering the rapidly evolving landscape. As a result, it is not currently possible to ascertain the overall impact of 
COVID-19 on our business. However, if the pandemic continues to persist as a severe worldwide health crisis, the disease may 
harm our business and may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section. 

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property 

Any failure to protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights could substantially harm our business and 
operating results. 

Our success and ability to compete depends in part on our intellectual property and our other proprietary technology 
information. We seek to control access to our proprietary information by entering into a combination of confidentiality and 
proprietary rights agreements, invention assignment agreements and nondisclosure agreements with our employees, consultants 
and third parties with whom we have relationships. 

As of December 31, 2021, we had three U.S. granted patents and 11 pending U.S. patent applications related to our 
solution and its technology. We cannot assure you that any of our patent applications will result in the issuance of a patent or 
that the examination process will not require us to narrow our claims. Any patents that issue from any patent applications may 
not give us the protection that we seek or may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. Any patents that may issue in the 
future from our pending or future patent applications may not provide sufficiently broad protection and may not be valid and 
enforceable in actions against alleged infringers. Any patents we have obtained or may obtain in the future may be found to be 
invalid or unenforceable in light of recent and future changes in the law, or because of technology developed prior to the 
inventions we have sought to patent or because of defects in our patent prosecution process. 
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We may in the future be subject to legal proceedings and litigation, including intellectual property disputes, which are costly 
and may subject us to significant liability and increased costs of doing business. Our business may suffer if it is alleged or 
determined that our technology infringes the intellectual property rights of others. 

The software industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets 
and other intellectual property rights. Companies in the software industry are often required to defend against litigation claims 
based on allegations of infringement, misappropriation or other violations of intellectual property rights. Our technologies may 
not be able to withstand any third-party claims or rights against their use. In addition, many of these companies have the 
capability to dedicate substantially greater resources to enforce their intellectual property rights (and may also have greater 
resources to defend claims that may be brought against them). Any litigation may also involve patent holding companies or 
other adverse patent owners that have no relevant product revenue and against which our patents may therefore provide little or 
no deterrence. If a third party is able to obtain an injunction preventing us from accessing such third-party intellectual property 
rights, or if we cannot license or develop technology for any infringing aspect of our business, we would be forced to limit or 
stop offering applications impacted by the claim or injunction or cease business activities covered by such intellectual property 
and may be unable to compete effectively. Any inability to license third-party technology in the future would have an adverse 
effect on our business or operating results and would adversely affect our ability to compete. We may also be contractually 
obligated to indemnify our customers in the event of infringement of a third party’s intellectual property rights and any such 
claims could hurt our business as well. Such claims, regardless of their merit, can be time-consuming, costly to defend in 
litigation and damaging to our reputation and brand. In addition, although we carry general liability and cyber security 
insurance, our insurance may not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed or otherwise protect us from 
liabilities or damages with respect to claims alleging compromises of customer data and any such coverage may not continue to 
be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. 

Lawsuits are time-consuming and expensive to resolve, and they divert management’s time and attention and could cause 
current or potential customers to seek other providers. Although we carry insurance, our insurance may not cover potential 
claims of this type or may not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed nor the full extent of the harm 
that we might face. We cannot predict the outcome of lawsuits and the results of any such actions may harm our business. 

Failure to protect our intellectual property rights could impair our ability to protect our proprietary technology and our 
brands as well as our competitive advantage. 

We currently rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws and other intellectual property 
rights and confidentiality or license agreements with our employees, customers, partners and others, to protect our intellectual 
property rights. Our success and ability to compete depend, in part, on our ability to protect our intellectual property, including 
our proprietary technology and our brands. If we are unable to protect our proprietary rights adequately, our competitors could 
use the intellectual property we have developed to enhance their own products and services, which may harm our business. It 
can be difficult to successfully enforce intellectual property rights and the fact that we have certain intellectual property rights 
does not necessarily mean that such rights are broad or strong enough to afford us a meaningful degree of protection. 
Furthermore, irrespective of the scope of our intellectual property rights, we may not be able to stop competitors from 
developing similar technologies or offering similar solutions. 

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-
consuming and unsuccessful. 

Third parties, including our competitors, could be infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating our intellectual 
property rights. In order to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor 
and protect our intellectual property rights. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights 
and to protect our trade secrets. Litigation brought to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time-
consuming and distracting to management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. 

Further, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits 
attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights, and if such defenses, counterclaims or countersuits 
are successful, we could lose valuable intellectual property rights. An adverse determination of any litigation proceedings could 
put our intellectual property at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put our related patents, patent 
applications and trademark filings at risk of being invalidated, not issuing or being cancelled. Furthermore, because of the 
substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our 
confidential or sensitive information could be compromised by disclosure in the event of litigation. In addition, during the 
course of litigation there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or 
developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect 
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on the price of our common stock. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as 
well as any costly litigation or diversion of our management’s attention and resources, could delay further sales or the 
implementation of our solution, impair the functionality of our solution, delay introductions of new applications, result in our 
substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our solution or injure our reputation. Any of the foregoing could adversely 
impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We may be subject to claims asserting that our employees, consultants or advisors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged 
trade secrets of their current or former employers or claims asserting ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual 
property. 

Although we try to ensure that our employees, consultants and advisors do not use the proprietary information or know-
how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or these individuals have used or disclosed intellectual 
property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any such individual’s current or former employer. 
Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying 
monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending 
against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management. 

In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the creation or 
development of intellectual property on our behalf to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be 
unsuccessful in having all such employees and contractors execute such an agreement. The assignment of intellectual property 
may not be self-executing or the assignment agreement may be breached and we may be forced to bring claims against third 
parties or defend claims that they may bring against us to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual 
property. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Provisions in various agreements to which we are party potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual property 
infringement, data protection and other losses. 

Our agreements with customers and other third parties sometimes include provisions under which we are liable or agree 
to indemnify them for losses suffered or incurred as a result of claims of intellectual property infringement, data protection, 
damages caused by us to property or persons, or other liabilities relating to or arising from our solution, services, or other 
contractual obligations. Some of these agreements provide for uncapped liability for which we would be responsible, and some 
provisions survive termination or expiration of the applicable agreement. Large liability payments could harm our business, 
results of operations and financial condition. Although we normally contractually limit our liability with respect to such 
obligations, we may still incur substantial liability related to them, and in the case of an intellectual property infringement 
indemnification claim, we may be required to cease use of certain functions of our solution as a result of any such claims. Any 
dispute with a customer with respect to such obligations could have adverse effects on our relationship with that customer and 
other existing customers and new customers and harm our business. Even when we have contractual protections against such 
customer claims, we may choose to honor a customer’s request for indemnification or otherwise seek to maintain customer 
satisfaction by issuing customer credits, assisting our customer in defending against claims, or in other ways. 

Any significant change to applicable laws, regulations or industry practices regarding the collection, use, retention, 
security or disclosure of our customers’ content, or regarding the manner in which the express or implied consent of customers 
for the collection, use, retention or disclosure of such content is obtained, could increase our costs and require us to modify our 
solution, possibly in a material manner, which we may be unable to complete and may limit our ability to store and process 
customer data or develop new applications and features. 

Risks Related to Litigation, Regulatory Compliance and Governmental Matters 

Any future litigation against us could be costly and time-consuming to defend. 

We are, and may become, subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, such as 
claims brought by our customers in connection with commercial disputes or employment claims made by our current or former 
employees. Litigation might result in substantial costs and may divert management’s attention and resources, which might 
seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Insurance might not cover such claims, might not 
provide sufficient payments to cover all the costs to resolve one or more such claims and might not continue to be available on 
terms acceptable to us. A claim brought against us that is uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs, 
potentially harming our business, financial position and results of operations. 

Table of Contents

29



We operate in a highly regulated industry and either are or may be subject to a wide range of federal, state and local, as well 
as foreign, laws, rules and regulations and our failure to comply with these laws and regulations may force us to change our 
operations or harm our business. 

The legal industry is and will continue to be subject to extensive and evolving U.S. federal, state and foreign laws, rules 
and regulations, including the rules and regulations of the organizations and other authorities governing the legal profession in 
the jurisdictions in which we or our customers operate. These laws, rules and regulations can vary significantly from 
jurisdiction to jurisdiction. For example, in the United States, each state has adopted laws, regulations and codes of ethics that 
provide for the licensure of attorneys, generally grant licensed attorneys the exclusive right to practice law in that state and 
place restrictions upon the activities of licensed lawyers. The practice of law other than by an attorney entitled to practice in the 
jurisdiction is generally referred to as the unauthorized practice of law. As a company, we are not authorized to practice law. In 
the United States, we may not provide legal advice to our clients, primarily because we do not meet the ethical and regulatory 
requirements, present in nearly every U.S. jurisdiction, of being exclusively owned by licensed attorneys. 

Our solution includes alternatives to certain traditional methods of legal services and we therefore may face claims that 
we are engaged in the unauthorized practice of law. Despite our belief that our operations are not subject to, or are otherwise 
compliant with, the requirements of the jurisdictions in which we or our customers operate, regulators or other authorities of 
such jurisdictions could deem that we, our employees or our customers are engaged in the unauthorized practice of law or 
otherwise determine that we are subject to the relevant rules and regulations governing the conduct of attorneys. In such 
circumstances, regulators may enjoin our operations, subject us to rules governing conflicts of interests, require registration, 
seek to impose punitive fines or sanctions or take other disciplinary actions against us, our employees or our customers, any of 
which may inhibit our ability to do business in those jurisdictions, adversely impact our reputation, increase our operating 
expenses and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. 

In addition, we are subject to regulations and laws specifically governing the internet and the collection, storage, 
processing, transfer and other use of personal information and other customer data. We also are subject to laws and regulations 
involving taxes, privacy and data security, anti-spam, content protection, electronic contracts and communications, mobile 
communications, unencumbered internet access to our solution, the design and operation of websites and internet neutrality. 

The foregoing description of laws and regulations to which we are or may be subject is not exhaustive and the regulatory 
framework governing our operations is subject to evolving interpretations and continuous change. Moreover, if we expand into 
additional jurisdictions, we will be subject to an increased variety of new and complex laws and regulations. 

We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and similar laws and noncompliance with such laws 
can subject us to criminal or civil liability and harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, U.S. domestic bribery laws, the United Kingdom 
Bribery Act and other anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws in the countries in which we conduct activities. Due to 
the international scope of our operations, we must comply with these laws in each jurisdiction where we operate. Additionally, 
many anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, including the FCPA, have long-arm statutes that can expand the applicability of 
these laws to our operations worldwide. Accordingly, we must incur significant operational costs to support our ongoing 
compliance with anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws at all levels of our business. If we fail to comply with these laws, we may 
be subject to significant penalties. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws have been enforced aggressively in recent years and 
are interpreted broadly to generally prohibit companies, their employees and their third-party intermediaries from authorizing, 
offering or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or benefits to recipients in the public or private sector. As we 
increase our international and public sector sales and businesses, we may engage with business partners and third-party 
intermediaries to market our solution and to obtain necessary permits, licenses and other regulatory approvals. In addition, we 
or our third-party intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies 
or state-owned or affiliated entities. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party 
intermediaries and our employees, representatives, contractors, partners and agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize such 
activities. 

While we have policies and procedures to address compliance with such laws, we cannot assure you that all of our 
employees and agents will not take actions in violation of our policies and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held 
responsible. As we increase our international sales and business, our risks under these laws may increase. 

Detecting, investigating and resolving actual or alleged violations of anti-corruption laws can require a significant 
diversion of time, resources and attention from senior management. In addition, noncompliance with anti-corruption, anti-
bribery or anti-money laundering laws could subject us to whistleblower complaints, investigations, sanctions, settlements, 
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prosecution, enforcement actions, fines, damages, other civil or criminal penalties or injunctions, suspension or debarment from 
contracting with certain persons, reputational harm, adverse media coverage and other collateral consequences. If any 
subpoenas or investigations are launched, or governmental or other sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any 
possible civil or criminal proceeding, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be harmed. In addition, 
responding to any action will likely result in a materially significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and 
significant defense costs and other professional fees. 

Sales to government entities and highly regulated organizations are subject to a number of challenges and risks. 

We intend to sell our solution to U.S. federal, state and local, as well as foreign, governmental agency customers, as well 
as to customers in highly regulated industries such as financial services and healthcare. Sales to such customers are subject to a 
number of challenges and risks. Selling to such customers can be highly competitive, expensive and time-consuming, often 
requiring significant upfront time and expense without any assurance that these efforts will generate a sale. These current and 
prospective customers may also be required to comply with stringent regulations in connection with purchasing and 
implementing our solution or particular regulations regarding third-party vendors that may be interpreted differently by 
different customers. In addition, Congress and regulatory agencies may impose requirements on third-party vendors generally, 
or our company in particular, that we may not be able to, or may not choose to, meet. In addition, government customers and 
customers in these highly regulated industries often have a right to conduct audits of our systems and practices, which can be 
time-consuming and expensive. In the event that one or more customers determine that some aspect of our business does not 
meet regulatory requirements, we may be limited in our ability to continue or expand our business and could be subject to 
audits or investigations by government enforcement personnel. In addition, if our solution does not meet the standards of new 
or existing regulations, we may be in breach of our contracts with these customers, allowing or requiring them to terminate their 
agreements. 

Government contracting requirements may also change and in doing so restrict our ability to sell into the government 
sector until we have attained the requisite approvals or until our solution meets government requirements. Government demand 
and payment for our solution are affected by public sector budgetary cycles and funding authorizations, with funding reductions 
or delays adversely affecting public sector demand for our solution. 

These customers may also be subject to a rapidly evolving statutory and regulatory framework that may influence their 
ability to use our solution. Moreover, changes in the underlying statutory and regulatory conditions that affect these types of 
customers could harm our ability to efficiently provide them access to our solution and to grow or maintain our customer base. 
If we are unable to enhance, modify or improve our solution to keep pace with evolving customer requirements, or if new 
technologies emerge that are able to deliver competitive products and services at lower prices, more efficiently, more 
conveniently, or more securely than our solution, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely 
affected. 

Further, governmental and highly regulated entities may demand contractual terms that differ from our standard 
arrangements and are less favorable than terms agreed with private sector customers, including preferential pricing or “most 
favored nation” terms and conditions or are contract provisions that are otherwise time-consuming and expensive to satisfy and 
monitor. In the United States, applicable federal contracting regulations change frequently and the President may issue 
executive orders requiring federal contractors to adhere to new compliance requirements after a contract is signed that could 
result in the loss of contracts for contractors who do not meet those requirements. If we undertake to meet special standards or 
requirements and do not meet them, we could be subject to significant liability from our customers or federal and state 
regulators and enforcement agencies. Even if we do meet these special standards or requirements, the additional costs 
associated with providing our solution to government and highly regulated customers could harm our operating results. In 
addition, engaging in sales activities with foreign governments introduces additional compliance risks specific to the FCPA, the 
United Kingdom Bribery Act and other similar statutory requirements prohibiting bribery and corruption in the jurisdictions in 
which we operate. 

Such entities may have statutory, contractual or other legal rights to terminate contracts with us or our partners for 
convenience or for other reasons. Any such termination may adversely affect our ability to contract with other government 
customers as well as our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could impair our ability to compete in international markets 
or subject us to liability if we violate such controls. 

Our solution is subject to U.S. export controls, including the Export Administration Regulations administered by the U.S. 
Commerce Department and economic sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC, of the U.S. 
Treasury Department, and we incorporate encryption technology into certain of our applications. These encryption products and 
the underlying technology may be exported outside of the United States or accessed by foreign persons within the United States 
only with the required export authorizations. 

Furthermore, our activities are subject to U.S. economic sanctions laws and regulations that generally prohibit the direct 
or indirect exportation or provision of products and services without the required export authorizations to countries, 
governments and individuals and entities targeted by U.S. embargoes or sanctions, except to the extent authorized by OFAC or 
exempt from sanctions. Obtaining the necessary export license or other authorization for a particular sale may not always be 
possible, and, even if the export license is ultimately granted, the process may be time-consuming and may result in the delay or 
loss of sales opportunities. Violations of U.S. sanctions or export control laws can result in significant fines or penalties and 
possible incarceration for responsible employees and managers could be imposed for criminal violations of these laws. 

Other countries also regulate the import and export of certain encryption products and technology through import and 
export licensing requirements and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute our solution or could limit our 
customers’ ability to implement our solution in those countries. Changes in our solution or future changes in export and import 
regulations may create delays in the introduction of our solution in international markets, prevent our customers with 
international operations from deploying our solution globally, or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our solution to 
certain countries, governments or persons altogether. From time to time, various governmental agencies have proposed 
additional regulation of encryption products and technology, including the escrow and government recovery of private 
encryption keys. Any change in export or import regulations, economic sanctions or related legislation, increased export and 
import controls, or change in the countries, governments, persons or technologies targeted by such regulations could result in 
decreased use of our solution by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our solution to, existing or potential customers with 
international operations. Any decreased use of our solution or limitation on our ability to export or sell our solution would harm 
our business. 

Risks Related to Information Technology and Cybersecurity 

The unavailability of or change in the terms or nature of access to third-party technology could harm our business 

We license certain software from third parties and incorporate or integrate such components into and with our solution. 
Certain third-party software has become central to the operation and delivery of our solution. Any inability to license necessary 
third-party technology in the future, or maintain sufficient rights or reasonable terms under existing third-party technology that 
we rely upon, could have an adverse effect on our business or operating results and adversely affect our ability to compete. 

A large portion of our third-party software license contracts have fixed durations and may be renewed only by mutual 
consent. There is no assurance that we will be able to renew these contracts as they expire or that such renewals will be on the 
same or substantially similar terms or on conditions that are commercially reasonable to us. If we fail to renew these contracts 
as they expire, we may be unable to offer certain aspects of our solution to our customers. In addition, all of our third-party 
software licenses are nonexclusive; and therefore, our competitors may obtain the right to license certain of the technology 
covered by these agreements to compete directly with us. 

If certain of our third-party licensors were to change product offerings, cease actively supporting the technologies, fail to 
update and enhance the technologies to keep pace with changing industry standards, encounter technical difficulties in the 
continuing development of these technologies, significantly increase prices, terminate our licenses, suffer significant capacity or 
supply chain constraints or suffer significant disruptions, we would need to seek alternative suppliers and incur additional 
internal or external development costs to ensure continued performance of our solution. Such alternatives may not be available 
on attractive terms or may not be as widely accepted or as effective as the current licenses provided by our existing suppliers. 
Furthermore, certain customers may require that we use or ensure that our solution is compatible with certain enterprise 
software offerings, such as Microsoft Office 365. If we fail to obtain licenses to use such third-party offerings or otherwise 
integrate our solution with such offerings, our business may be harmed. If the cost of licensing or maintaining the third-party 
intellectual property significantly increases, our operating earnings could significantly decrease. In addition, interruption in 
functionality of our solution as a result of changes in or with third-party licensors could adversely affect our commitments to 
customers, future sales of our solution and harm our business. 
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Elements of our solution use open source software, which may restrict the functionality of our solution or require that we 
release the source code of certain applications subject to those licenses. 

Our solution incorporates software licensed under open source licenses and we expect to continue to incorporate 
software licensed under open source licenses in the future. Such open source licenses sometimes require that source code 
subject to the license be made available to the public and that any modifications or derivative works to open source software 
continue to be licensed under open source licenses. Few courts have interpreted open source licenses and the manner in which 
these licenses may be interpreted and enforced is therefore subject to some uncertainty. We rely on multiple software 
programmers to design our proprietary technologies and we do not exercise complete control over the development efforts of 
our programmers and we cannot be certain that our programmers have not incorporated open source software into our 
proprietary solution and technologies or that they will not do so in the future. There is a risk that open source licenses could be 
construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions, restrictions or costs on our ability to provide or distribute our 
software solution. To that end, while we try to mitigate the likelihood of such risks, we may from time to time face claims from 
third parties alleging ownership of, or demanding release or general availability of, the open source software or derivative 
works that we developed using such software, which could include our proprietary source code, or otherwise seeking to enforce 
the terms of the applicable open source license. These claims could result in litigation, which could be costly for us to defend 
and could adversely affect our core functionality and services. If we face such problems and attempt or are required to re-
engineer our solution to mitigate them, it could require significant additional research and development resources and we may 
not be able to complete it successfully or in a timely manner. In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of 
certain open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors 
generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of software. Many of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or 
manage and could reduce or eliminate the value of our solution and technologies and materially and adversely affect our ability 
to sustain and grow our business. 

Our actual or perceived failure to comply with privacy, data protection and information security laws, regulations and other 
non-regulatory obligations related to data privacy and security could lead to regulatory investigations or actions, litigation, 
fines and penalties, disruptions of our business operations, reputational harm or otherwise harm our business. 

In the ordinary course of business, we process personal information and other sensitive information, including 
proprietary and confidential business information, trade secrets, intellectual property, and sensitive third-party data. As a result, 
we are, or may become, subject to numerous federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations regarding privacy, data 
protection, information security and the storing, sharing, use, processing, transfer, disclosure and protection of personal 
information and other content, the scope of which is changing, subject to differing interpretations and may be inconsistent 
among countries, or conflict with other rules. We are also subject to the terms of our privacy policies and obligations to third 
parties (including contractual) related to privacy, data protection and information security. We strive to comply with applicable 
laws, regulations, policies and other legal obligations relating to privacy, data protection and information security. However, the 
regulatory framework for privacy and data protection worldwide is unclear, and is likely to remain uncertain, for the foreseeable 
future. We expect that there will continue to be new laws, regulations and industry standards concerning privacy, data 
protection and information security proposed and enacted in various jurisdictions. 

Outside the United States, an increasing number of laws, regulations, and industry standards apply to data privacy and 
security. For example, the collection, use, storage, disclosure, transfer or other processing of personal information regarding 
individuals located in the European Economic Area, or EEA, and/or carried out in the context of the activities of our 
establishment in any EEA member state, may be subject to the European Union General Data Protection Regulation, or EU 
GDPR. The EU GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes numerous requirements, including requiring that consent of 
individuals to whom the personal information relates is obtained in certain circumstances, requiring additional disclosures to 
individuals regarding data processing activities, requiring that appropriate safeguards are implemented to protect the security 
and confidentiality of personal information, creating mandatory data breach notification requirements in certain circumstances 
and requiring that certain measures (including contractual requirements) are put in place when engaging third-party data 
processors. The EU GDPR permits data protection authorities to impose large penalties for violations of the EU GDPR, 
including potential fines of up to €20 million or 4% of annual global revenue, whichever is greater. The EU GDPR also 
provides individuals with various rights in respect of their personal information, including rights of access, erasure, portability, 
rectification, restriction and objection and confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge 
complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial remedies and obtain compensation for damages resulting from violations 
of the EU GDPR. The EU GDPR requirements may apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of 
information between us and our subsidiaries, including employee information. Additionally, the United Kingdom, or UK, 
following its exit from the EU, has implemented its own version of the EU GDPR which is known as the UK GDPR; it is 
currently substantially similar to the EU GDPR, but could diverge in the future, which could complicate our compliance efforts 
and increase the risk that we fail, or are perceived to have failed, to comply. Furthermore, there is a proposed regulation related 

Table of Contents

33



to artificial intelligence, or AI, that, if adopted, could impose onerous obligations related to the use of AU related systems. Such 
regulations may require us to change our business practices.

Moreover, certain jurisdictions have enacted data localization laws and cross-border personal information transfer laws. 
For example, absent appropriate safeguards, the EU GDPR generally restricts the transfer of personal information to countries 
outside the EEA absent certain safeguards. The European Commission released a set of “Standard Contractual Clauses” that are 
designed to be a valid mechanism in which entities can transfer personal information out of the EEA to jurisdictions that the 
European Commission has not found to provide an adequate level of protection. The Standard Contractual Clauses require 
parties that rely upon them to comply with addition obligations, such as conducting transfer impact assessments to determine 
whether additional security measures are necessary to protect the at-issue personal information. Moreover, due to potential legal 
challenges, there is some uncertainty regarding whether the Standard Contractual Clauses will remain a valid legal mechanism 
for transfers of personal information out of the EEA.

Laws in Switzerland and the UK similarly restrict personal information transfers outside of those jurisdictions to 
countries such as the United States of America that do not provide an adequate level of protection for personal information. As 
such, our processing of personal information from Europe may not comply with European data protection law, may increase our 
exposure to the GDPR’s heightened sanctions for violations of its cross-border data transfer restrictions and may reduce 
demand for our services from companies subject to European data protection laws. Challenges involving import personal 
information from Europe may also require us to increase our data processing capabilities in Europe at significant expense. Other 
countries outside of Europe have enacted or are considering enacting similar cross-border data transfer restrictions and laws 
requiring local data residency, which could increase the cost and complexity of delivering our services and operating our 
business. 

Additionally, Brexit has created uncertainty with regard to the transfer of personal information from the EEA to the 
United Kingdom. On June 28, 2021, the European Commission issued an adequacy decision under the GDPR which allows 
transfers (other than those carried out for the purposes of United Kingdom immigration control) of personal information from 
the EEA to the United Kingdom to continue without restriction for a period of four years ending June 27, 2025. After that 
period, the adequacy decision may be renewed, however, only if the United Kingdom continues to ensure an adequate level of 
data protection. During these four years, the European Commission will continue to monitor the legal situation in the United 
Kingdom and could intervene at any point if the United Kingdom deviates from the level of data protection in place at the time 
of issuance of the adequacy decision. If the adequacy decision is withdrawn or not renewed, transfers of personal information 
from the EEA to the United Kingdom will require a valid ‘transfer mechanism,’ and we may be required to implement new 
processes and put new agreements in place, such as Standard Contractual Clauses, to enable transfers of personal information 
from the EEA to the United Kingdom to continue. 

In the United States, federal, state, and local governments have enacted numerous data privacy and security laws, 
including data breach notification laws, personal information privacy laws, and consumer protection laws. For example, 
California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, or CCPA, which imposes obligations on businesses to which 
is applies. For example, the CCPA gives California residents rights to access and require deletion of their personal information, 
opt out of certain personal information sharing and receive detailed information about how their personal information is used. 
The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations (up to $7,500 per violation), as well as a private right of action for data 
breaches that may increase data breach litigation. Additionally, the California Privacy Rights Act, or CPRA, the majority of 
which becomes effective on January 1, 2023, will modify the CCPA, potentially resulting in further uncertainty and requiring 
us to incur additional costs and expenses in an effort to comply. Other states have also enacted data privacy laws. For example, 
in 2021, Virginia passed its Consumer Data Protection Act, and Colorado passed the Colorado Privacy Act, both of which differ 
from the CPRA and become effective in 2023. If we become subject to new data privacy laws, at the state level, the risk of 
enforcement action against us could increase because we may become subject to additional obligations and the number of 
individuals or entities that can initiate actions against us may increase (including individuals via a private right of action and 
state actors).

With laws and regulations worldwide imposing evolving and relatively burdensome obligations, and with substantial 
uncertainty over the interpretation and application of these and other laws and regulations, there is a risk that the requirements 
of these laws and regulations, or of contractual or other obligations relating to data privacy or information security, will be 
interpreted or applied in a manner that is, or is alleged to be, inconsistent with our management and processing practices, our 
policies or procedures or the features of our solution. We may face challenges in addressing their requirements and making 
necessary changes to our policies and practices and may incur significant costs and expenses in an effort to do so. Although we 
endeavor to comply with our published policies, certifications and documentation, we may at times fail to do so or may be 
perceived to have failed to do so. Moreover, despite our efforts, we may not be successful in achieving compliance if our 
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employees or vendors do not comply with our published policies and documentation. Any failure or perceived failure by us to 
comply with our privacy policies, our data privacy- or information security-related obligations to customers or other third 
parties or any of our other legal obligations relating to data privacy or information security may result in significant 
consequences. These consequences may include, but are not limited to, governmental investigations or enforcement actions 
(e.g., investigations, fines, penalties, audits, inspections), litigation, claims or public statements against us by consumer 
advocacy groups or others, which could result in significant liability or cause our customers to lose trust in us, additional 
reporting requirements and/or oversight, bans on processing personal information, or orders to destroy or not use personal 
information, any of which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business. Furthermore, the costs of compliance 
with, and other burdens imposed by, the laws, regulations and policies that are applicable to the businesses of our customers 
may limit the adoption and use of, and reduce the overall demand for, our solution. Additionally, if third parties we work with, 
such as vendors or developers, violate applicable laws or regulations or our policies, such violations may also put our 
customers’ content at risk and could in turn have an adverse effect on our business. 

Any significant change to applicable laws, regulations or industry practices regarding the collection, use, retention, 
security or disclosure of our customers’ content, or regarding the manner in which the express or implied consent of customers 
for the collection, use, retention or disclosure of such content is obtained, could increase our costs and require us to modify our 
solution, possibly in a material manner, which we may be unable to complete and may limit our ability to store and process 
customer data or develop new applications and features. 

If our information technology systems or data, including the personal information and other sensitive information we 
process, or the information technology systems or data of third parties upon whom we rely, are or were comprised, we could 
experience adverse consequences, including, but not limited, to additional costs, loss of revenue, significant liabilities, harm 
to our brand, or material disruption of our operations.

Our business involves the collection and storage of potentially highly sensitive electronic documentation for use in 
various legal matters, including litigation and governmental investigations. In addition, we collect and maintain data about 
individuals and customers, including personally identifiable information, as well as other confidential, privileged or proprietary 
information. We may use third-party service providers and sub-processors to help us deliver services to our customers. These 
vendors may store or process personal information or other sensitive information our behalf.

Despite the implementation of security measures in an effort to protect our information and the systems on which it is 
stored, given their size and complexity and the increasing amounts of information maintained on our information technology 
systems and those of third parties upon whom we rely, these systems are potentially vulnerable to breakdown or other damage 
or interruption from service interruptions, system malfunction, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and 
electrical failures. Cyberattacks and other malicious internet-based activity continue to increase and are increasingly difficult to 
detect. Other threats to our information systems and data include, but are not limited to, social engineering attacks (including 
through phishing attacks), malicious code (such as viruses and worms), malware, denial-of-service attacks (such as credential 
stuffing), personnel misconduct or error, and supply-chain attacks. These threats come from a variety of sources. In addition to 
traditional computer “hackers,” threat actors, personnel (such as through theft or misuse), sophisticated nation-state and nation-
state supported actors and organized criminals now engage in attacks. Ransomware attacks, including those perpetrated by 
organized criminal threat actors, nation-states, and nation-state-supported actors, are becoming increasingly prevalent and can 
lead to significant interruptions in our operations, loss of data and income, reputational harm, and diversion of funds.  Extortion 
payments may alleviate the negative impact of a ransomware attack, but we may be unwilling or unable to make such payments 
due to, for example, applicable laws or regulations prohibiting such payments.  Additionally, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
our employees are temporarily working remotely, which may pose additional data security risks.

The techniques used to sabotage or to obtain unauthorized access to our systems, networks and/or physical facilities in 
which data is stored or through which data is transmitted, or those of the third parties upon whom we rely, change frequently 
and we or our vendors may be unable to implement adequate preventative measures or stop security breaches while they are 
occurring. The recovery systems, security protocols, network protection mechanisms and other security measures that we have 
integrated into our solution, systems, networks and physical facilities and any such measures implemented by our vendors, 
which are designed to protect against, detect and minimize security breaches, may not be adequate to prevent or detect service 
interruption, system failure, or data loss. Any of these threats may lead to significant adverse consequences, including 
compromise of our system infrastructure or the loss, destruction, alteration, denial of access to, disclosure or dissemination of, 
or damage or unauthorized access to, our information technology systems, data (including trade secrets or other confidential 
information, intellectual property, proprietary business information and personal information) or data that is processed or 
maintained on our behalf, or other assets.
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We are required to comply with laws, rules, regulations and other obligations that require us to maintain the security of 
personal information. A security breach may also cause us to violate the terms of our customer contracts. Our agreements with 
certain customers may require us to use industry-standard or reasonable measures to safeguard personal information. We also 
may be subject to laws that require us to use industry-standard or reasonable security measures to safeguard personal 
information.

We cannot guarantee that our vendors’ security measures will be sufficient to protect against unauthorized access to or 
other compromise of personal information and our confidential or proprietary information. We operate in an industry that is 
prone to cyber-attacks. Our solution, systems, networks and physical facilities, and those of our vendors, could be attacked and/
or breached and personal information could be compromised. Third parties have exploited in the past, and could exploit in the 
future, vulnerabilities in, or could obtain unauthorized access to, platforms, systems, networks and/or physical facilities utilized 
by our vendors.

If we, or a third party upon whom we rely, experience a security incident or are perceived to have experienced a security 
incident, we may experience adverse consequences, which could include: government enforcement actions (for example, 
investigations, fines, penalties, audits, and inspections); additional reporting requirements and/or oversight; restrictions on 
processing information (including personal information); litigation (including class action claims); indemnification obligations; 
negative publicity; reputational harm; monetary fund diversions; interruptions in our operations (including availability of data); 
financial loss; and other similar harms. Further, the cost to respond to a security breach and/or to mitigate any security 
vulnerabilities that may be identified could be significant, our efforts to address these issues may not be successful, and these 
issues could result in interruptions, delays, cessation of service, negative publicity, loss of customer trust, diminished use of our 
solution as well as other harms to our business and our competitive position. These adverse consequences could force us to 
spend money, divert management’s time and attention, increase our costs of doing business, or adversely affect our reputation. 
We could be required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices or modify our solution and/or platform 
capabilities, which could have an adverse effect on our business. Additionally, there can be no assurance that the limitations of 
liability in our contracts would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from liabilities or damages and in 
some cases our customer agreements do not limit our remediation costs or liability with respect to data breaches.

Notifications and follow-up actions related to a security incident could impact our reputation and cause us to incur 
significant costs, including legal expenses and remediation costs.  We may have contractual and other legal obligations to 
notify relevant stakeholders of security breaches. Most jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring companies to notify 
individuals, regulatory authorities and others of security breaches involving certain types of data. In addition, our agreements 
with certain customers and partners may require us to notify them in the event of a security breach. Such mandatory disclosures 
are costly, could lead to negative publicity, may cause our customers to lose confidence in the effectiveness of our security 
measures and require us to expend significant capital and other resources to respond to and/or alleviate problems caused by the 
actual or perceived security breach.  

Risks Related to Tax and Accounting Matters 

Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations. 

Our net operating loss, or NOL, carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax 
liabilities. Our NOLs generated in tax years beginning on or prior to December 31, 2017 are only permitted to be carried 
forward for 20 years under applicable U.S. tax law. Under legislation enacted in 2017, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs 
Act, or Tax Act, as modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or CARES Act, our federal NOLs 
generated in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such 
federal NOLs in tax years beginning after December 31, 2020 is limited to 80% of current year taxable income. It is uncertain if 
and to what extent various states will conform to the Tax Act or the CARES Act. 

In addition, under Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a corporation that 
undergoes an “ownership change” is generally subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs to offset post-
change taxable income. We may have experienced ownership changes in the past and may experience ownership changes in the 
future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership (some of which shifts are outside our control). Furthermore, our 
ability to utilize NOLs of companies that we may acquire in the future may be subject to limitations. For these reasons, we may 
not be able to utilize a material portion of the NOLs, even if we were to achieve profitability. 
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Our international operations may subject us to potential adverse tax consequences. 

We are expanding our international operations and staff to better support our growth into international markets. Our 
corporate structure and associated transfer pricing policies contemplate future growth into the international markets and 
consider the functions, risks and assets of the various entities involved in the intercompany transactions. The amount of taxes 
we pay in different jurisdictions may depend on the application of the tax laws of the various jurisdictions, including the United 
States, to our international business activities; changes in tax rates; new or revised tax laws or interpretations of existing tax 
laws and policies; and our ability to operate our business in a manner consistent with our corporate structure and intercompany 
arrangements. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which we operate may challenge our methodologies for pricing 
intercompany transactions pursuant to our intercompany arrangements or disagree with our determinations as to the income and 
expenses attributable to specific jurisdictions. If such a challenge or disagreement were to occur, and our position was not 
sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties, which could result in one-time tax charges, 
higher effective tax rates, reduced cash flows and lower overall profitability of our operations. Our financial statements could 
fail to reflect adequate reserves to cover such a contingency. 

Our results of operations may be harmed if we are required to collect sales or other related taxes for our subscriptions in 
jurisdictions where we have not historically done so. 

We collect and remit sales tax in a number of jurisdictions where we, through our employees, have a presence and where 
we have determined, based on the U.S. Supreme Court decision in South Dakota v. Wayfair, Inc. and legal precedents in the 
jurisdiction, that we have “economic nexus” or sales of our solution are otherwise classified as taxable. The application of 
indirect taxes (such as sales and use tax, value-added tax, or VAT, goods and services tax, or GST, business tax and gross 
receipt tax) to businesses that transact online, such as ours, is a complex and evolving area. There is uncertainty as to what 
constitutes sufficient physical presence or nexus for a state or local jurisdiction to levy taxes, fees and surcharges for sales made 
over the internet and our characterization of our solution as not taxable in certain jurisdictions may not be accepted by state and 
local taxing authorities. As a result, it may be necessary to reevaluate whether our activities give rise to sales, use and other 
indirect taxes as a result of any nexus or transaction thresholds in those states in which we are not currently registered to collect 
and remit taxes. A successful assertion by a state, country, or other jurisdiction that we should have been or should be collecting 
additional sales, use, or other taxes could, among other things, result in substantial tax payments, create significant 
administrative burdens for us, discourage potential customers from subscribing to our solution due to the incremental cost of 
any such sales or other related taxes, or otherwise harm our business. We continue to analyze our exposure for such taxes and 
liabilities. 

Additionally, we have not historically collected VAT or GST on sales of our solution, generally, because we make all of 
our sales through our office in the United States, and we believe, based on information provided to us by our customers, that 
most of our sales are made to business customers. Taxing authorities may challenge our position that we do not have sufficient 
nexus in a taxing jurisdiction or that our solution is subject to use, VAT, GST and other taxes, which could result in increased 
tax liabilities for us or our customers, which could harm our business. 

The application of existing, new or future laws, whether in the United States or internationally, could harm our business. 
There have been, and will continue to be, substantial ongoing costs associated with complying with the various indirect tax 
requirements in the numerous markets in which we conduct or will conduct business. 

Changes in our effective tax rate or tax liability may harm our business. 

Our effective tax rate could be adversely impacted by several factors, including: 

• Changes in the relative amounts of income before taxes in the various jurisdictions in which we operate that have 
differing statutory tax rates;

• Changes in tax laws, tax treaties and regulations or the interpretation of them, including the Tax Act and federal 
income tax legislation proposed by Congress (which has not yet been enacted);

• Changes to our assessment about our ability to realize our deferred tax assets that are based on estimates of our 
future results, the prudence and feasibility of possible tax-planning strategies and the economic and political 
environments in which we do business;

• The outcome of current and future tax audits, examinations or administrative appeals; and

• Limitations or adverse findings regarding our ability to do business in some jurisdictions.
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Should our effective tax rate rise, our business could be harmed. 

Our financial results may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles applicable to us. 

U.S. GAAP is subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the SEC, and other various bodies 
formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. Changes in these accounting principles could adversely 
affect our financial results. Any difficulties in implementing these pronouncements could cause us to fail to meet our financial 
reporting obligations, which could result in regulatory discipline and harm our business. 

If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our results of operations 
could be adversely affected. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our 
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, 
as described in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements 
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments 
about the carrying values of assets, liabilities and equity and the amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. Significant assumptions and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include those 
related to allowance for credit losses, fair value of financial instruments, valuation of stock-based compensation, and the 
valuation allowance for deferred income taxes. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions change 
or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below the 
expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the trading price of our common stock. Significant 
judgments, estimates and assumptions used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include, or may in the future 
include, those related to revenue recognition, stock-based compensation expense, income taxes, goodwill and intangible assets. 

Risks Related to Being a Public Company 

We will continue to incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company and our management will be required 
to devote substantial time to compliance with our public company responsibilities and corporate governance practices. 

As a newly public company, we have and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we 
did not incur as a private company, which we expect to further increase after we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
Act, the listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, and other applicable securities rules and regulations 
impose various requirements on public companies. Our management and other personnel are expected to devote a substantial 
amount of time to compliance with these requirements, which may divert their attention from managing our business 
operations. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some 
activities more time-consuming and costly. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we will incur as a 
public company or the specific timing of such costs. 

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company. 

Our management team has limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company 
investors and securities analysts and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. These new 
obligations and constituents require significant attention from our management team and could divert their attention away from 
the day-to-day management of our business, which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

If we fail to develop and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and 
accurate financial statements or comply with applicable laws and regulations could be impaired. 

Neither our management nor an independent registered public accounting firm has ever performed an evaluation of our 
internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act because no such 
evaluation has been required. We will be required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or Section 404, to 
furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting for 
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. In addition, our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to 
attest to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting in our first annual report required to be filed with the 
SEC following the date we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” We have recently commenced the costly and 
challenging process of compiling the system and processing documentation necessary to perform the evaluation needed to 
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comply with Section 404, but we may not be able to complete our evaluation, testing and any required remediation in a timely 
fashion once initiated. Our compliance with Section 404 will require that we incur substantial expenses and expend significant 
management efforts. We will need to hire additional accounting and financial staff with appropriate public company experience 
and technical accounting knowledge and compile the system and process documentation necessary to perform the evaluation 
needed to comply with Section 404. 

We have in the past experienced material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting, including in the 
course of preparing our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. Management has 
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021. However, our testing, or the 
subsequent testing by our independent public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in our internal control over financial 
reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses. If we or our accounting firm identify deficiencies in our internal control 
over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses, it could harm our operating results, adversely affect our 
reputation, or result in inaccurate financial reporting. Furthermore, should any such deficiencies arise we could be subject to 
lawsuits, sanctions or investigations by regulatory authorities, including SEC enforcement actions and we could be required to 
restate our financial results, any of which would require additional financial and management resources.

We may not be able to successfully manage the growth of our business if we are unable to improve our internal systems, 
processes and controls. 

We need to continue to improve our internal systems, processes and controls to effectively manage our operations and 
growth. We may not be able to successfully implement and scale improvements to our systems and processes in a timely or 
efficient manner or in a manner that does not negatively affect our operating results. For example, we may not be able to 
effectively monitor certain extraordinary contract requirements or provisions that are individually negotiated by our sales force 
as the number of transactions continues to grow. In addition, our systems and processes may not prevent or detect all errors, 
omissions or fraud. We may experience difficulties in managing improvements to our systems, processes and controls or in 
connection with third-party software, which could impair our ability to offer our solution to our customers in a timely manner, 
causing us to lose customers, limit us to smaller deployments of our solution or increase our technical support costs. 

We are an “emerging growth company” and a “smaller reporting company,” and we cannot be certain if the reduced 
reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies will make 
our common stock less attractive to investors. 

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS 
Act, and we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public 
companies that are not “emerging growth companies,” including the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404, reduced 
disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements and exemptions from the 
requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden 
parachute payments not previously approved. Pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act, as an emerging growth company, we 
have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards until those standards 
would otherwise apply to private companies. As a result, our consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to the 
financial statements of issuers who are required to comply with the effective dates for new or revised accounting standards that 
are applicable to public companies, which may make our common stock less attractive to investors. In addition, if we cease to 
be an emerging growth company, we will no longer be able to use the extended transition period for complying with new or 
revised accounting standards. 

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of: (1) December 31, 2026; (2) the last day of the first 
fiscal year in which our annual gross revenue is $1.07 billion or more; (3) the date on which we have, during the previous 
rolling three-year period, issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt securities; and (4) the last day of the fiscal year in 
which the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of such fiscal year. 

We may continue to be a smaller reporting company even after we are no longer an emerging growth company. We may 
take advantage of certain of the scaled disclosures available to smaller reporting companies and will be able to take advantage 
of these scaled disclosures for so long as (i) the market value of our voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates 
is less than $250 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter or (ii) our annual revenue is less than 
$100 million during the most recently completed fiscal year and the market value of our voting and non-voting common stock 
held by non-affiliates is less than $700 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter. 
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We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. For 
example, if we do not adopt a new or revised accounting standard, our future results of operations may not be as comparable to 
the results of operations of certain other companies in our industry that adopted such standards. If some investors find our 
common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price 
may be more volatile. 

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock 

Insiders have substantial control over us and will be able to influence corporate matters. 

Based on the number of shares outstanding as of December 31, 2021, our officers, directors and their associated 
investment funds collectively beneficially owned a majority of our outstanding common stock. As a result, these stockholders 
will be able to exercise significant influence over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors 
and approval of significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets. This 
concentration of ownership will limit the ability of other stockholders to influence corporate matters and may cause us to make 
strategic decisions that could involve risks to you or that may not be aligned with your interests. This control may adversely 
affect the market price of our common stock. 

Our stock price may be volatile, and the value of our common stock may decline. 

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and may fluctuate or decline substantially as a result of a 
variety of factors, some of which are beyond our control, including: 

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition or results of operations;

• variance in our financial performance from expectations of securities analysts;

• changes in the pricing of our solution;

• changes in our projected operating and financial results;

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant business developments, acquisitions or new offerings;

• changes in laws or regulations applicable to our solution;

• significant data breaches, disruptions to or other incidents involving our software;

• our involvement in litigation;

• future sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders;

• changes in senior management or key personnel;

• the trading volume of our common stock;

• changes in the anticipated future size and growth rate of our market; and

• general economic and market conditions.

Broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general economic, political, regulatory and market conditions, may 
also negatively impact the market price of our common stock. 

An active public market for our common stock may not be sustained.

Prior to the closing of our IPO in July 2021, no public market for our common stock existed. An active public trading 
market for our common stock may not continue to develop or, if further developed, it may not be sustained. The lack of an 
active market may impair the ability of holders of our common stock to sell their shares at the time they wish to sell them or at a 
price that such holders consider reasonable. The lack of an active market may also reduce the fair value of shares of our 
common stock. An inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital to continue to fund operations by selling shares 
and may impair our ability to acquire other companies by using our shares as consideration. 
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Sales of our common stock in the public market could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. 

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales 
might occur, could depress the market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale 
of additional equity securities. Many of our existing equity holders have substantial unrecognized gains on the value of the 
equity they hold, and therefore they may take steps to sell their shares or otherwise secure the unrecognized gains on those 
shares. We are unable to predict the timing of or the effect that such sales may have on the prevailing market price of our 
common stock. 

In addition, there were 2.6 million shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options and 0.5 million shares 
of common stock issuable upon the vesting and settlement of restricted stock units outstanding as of December 31, 2021. We 
have registered all of the shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options or other equity incentives 
we may grant in the future, for public resale under the Securities Act. The shares of common stock will become eligible for sale 
in the public market to the extent such options are exercised.

Further, as of December 31, 2021, holders of a substantial number of shares of our capital stock had rights, subject to 
some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering the sale of their shares or to include their shares in 
registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other stockholders. 

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable or inaccurate research about our business, 
the market price and trading volume of our common stock could decline. 

The market price and trading volume of our common stock is heavily influenced by the way analysts interpret our 
financial information and other disclosures. We do not have control over these analysts. If few securities analysts commence 
coverage of us, or if industry analysts cease coverage of us, our stock price would be negatively affected. If securities or 
industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, downgrade our common stock, or publish negative 
reports about our business, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to 
publish reports on us regularly, demand for our common stock could decrease, which might cause our stock price to decline and 
could decrease the trading volume of our common stock. 

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, your ability to achieve a return on your 
investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock. 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock and we do not intend to pay any cash dividends 
in the foreseeable future. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors. 
Accordingly, holders of our common stock may need to rely on sales of their holdings of common stock after price 
appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment. 

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company 
more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the market price of 
our common stock. 

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may have the effect 
of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management. Our amended and restated certificate of 
incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions that: 

• authorize our Board of Directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, shares of undesignated 
preferred stock with terms, rights and preferences determined by our Board of Directors that may be senior to our 
common stock;

• require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and 
not by written consent;

• specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our Board of Directors, the chairperson of 
our Board of Directors or our chief executive officer;

• establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including 
proposed nominations of persons for election to our Board of Directors;

• establish that our Board of Directors is divided into three classes, with each class serving three- year staggered 
terms;
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• prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors;

• provide that our directors may be removed for cause only upon the vote of at least 66 2/3% of our outstanding 
shares of voting stock; 

• provide that vacancies on our Board of Directors may be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even 
though less than a quorum; and

• require the approval of our Board of Directors or the holders of at least 66 2/3% of our outstanding shares of voting 
stock to amend our bylaws and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation. 

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current 
management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our Board of Directors, which is responsible 
for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the 
provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits a 
Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a 
period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder. Any of the foregoing 
provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock and they 
could deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the likelihood that you would receive a premium for your 
shares of our common stock in an acquisition. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the 
federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us 
and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or 
our directors, officers or employees. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the 
exclusive forum for the following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law: 

• any derivative claim or cause of action brought on our behalf;

• any claim or cause of action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty;

• any claim or cause of action against us arising under the Delaware General Corporation Law;

• any claim or cause of action arising under or seeking to interpret our amended and restated certificate of 
incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws; and

• any claim or cause of action against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

The provisions would not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all such 
Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having 
to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other 
considerations, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will further provide that the federal district courts of the 
United States of America will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause or causes of action arising 
under the Securities Act, including all causes of action asserted against any defendant to such complaint. For the avoidance of 
doubt, this provision is intended to benefit and may be enforced by us, our officers and directors, the underwriters to any 
offering giving rise to such complaint and any other professional entity whose profession gives authority to a statement made 
by that person or entity and who has prepared or certified any part of the documents underlying the offering. 

While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may 
nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive forum provisions. In such instance, we 
would expect to vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our amended and restated 
certificate of incorporation. This may require significant additional costs associated with resolving such action in other 
jurisdictions and there can be no assurance that the provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions. 

These exclusive forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds 
favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our 
directors, officers and other employees. If a court were to find either exclusive-forum provision in our amended and restated 
certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur further significant additional costs 
associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, all of which could seriously harm our business. 
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in Austin, Texas where we currently occupy approximately 49,000 square feet of 
office space pursuant to a lease that expires in October 2022. We may lease or purchase additional space as needed to 
accommodate our needs.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities. 
We are not presently a party to any litigation the outcome of which, we believe, if determined adversely to us, would 
individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, cash flows or financial 
condition. Defending such proceedings is costly and can impose a significant burden on management and employees. The 
results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have 
an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities

Market Information and Holders

Our common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “LAW” since July 21, 2021. 
Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our common stock. Our IPO was priced at $32.00 per share on July 20, 
2021. On February 15, 2022, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $40.49. 
As of February 15, 2022, we had 42 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of shareholders is greater than 
this number of record holders, and includes shareholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by 
brokers and other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not include shareholders whose shares may be held in 
trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. Any future determination to declare cash 
dividends on our common stock will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our financial 
condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general business conditions and other factors that our Board of Directors 
may deem relevant. We do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

On July 23, 2021, we completed our IPO in which we issued and sold 7,700,000 shares of our common stock at the IPO 
price of $32.00 per share, including the full exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase up to an additional 500,000 
shares of common stock from us and 200,000 shares of common stock from the selling stockholder named in the final 
prospectus, or the Prospectus, for our IPO, filed with the SEC on July 22, 2021 pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) under the Securities 
Act, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $223.2 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions. 
We did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholder. The offer and sale of all of the shares 
of our common stock in the IPO were registered under the Securities Act pursuant to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 
(File No. 333-257435), which was declared effective by the SEC on July 20, 2021.

There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO from those disclosed in the Prospectus.

Item 6. Reserved

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction 
with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
This discussion, particularly information with respect to our financial results of operations or financial condition, business 
strategy, plans and objectives of management for future operations, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and 
uncertainties as described under the heading “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. You should review the disclosure under the heading “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a 
discussion of important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements.

Overview

DISCO provides a cloud-native, artificial intelligence-powered legal solution that simplifies ediscovery, legal document 
review and case management for enterprises, law firms, legal services providers and governments. Our scalable, integrated 
solution enables legal departments to easily collect, process and review enterprise data that is relevant or potentially relevant to 
legal matters. We leverage a cloud-native architecture and powerful artificial intelligence, or AI, models to automatically 
identify legally relevant documents and improve the accuracy and speed of legal document review. Our AI models continuously 
learn from legal work conducted on our solution and can be reused across legal matters, which further strengthens our ability to 
help our customers find evidence and resolve matters faster as they expand usage of our solution. We provide legal departments 
with the ability to centralize legal data into a single solution, improving security and privacy for our customers, enabling 
transparent collaboration with other legal industry participants and allowing customers to reuse data and lawyer work product 
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across legal matters. By automating the manual, time-consuming and error-prone parts of ediscovery, legal document review 
and case management, we empower legal departments to focus on delivering better legal outcomes.

We generate substantially all of our revenue from our customers’ actual usage of our solution. Customers generally do 
not commit to purchase a specific amount of usage on our solution and their usage can fluctuate based on the number and nature 
of legal matters they have at any particular time. As a result, our revenue and other financial results can fluctuate from period to 
period given the inherent unpredictability of the timing, duration and scope of legal casework. We also offer our customers the 
option to enter into subscriptions based on committed minimum usage on an annual or multi-year basis, which represented 11% 
and 14% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. In addition, we generate revenue from 
a range of professional services aimed at accelerating the time-to-value for our customers.

After using and realizing the benefits of our solution, our customers often increase usage of our solution to cover 
additional legal matters and adopt more of our offerings. As our customers use our solution over time, the amount of enterprise 
data in our solution increases, enhancing the strategic value and stickiness of our solution within an organization. This dynamic 
of increased activity from our existing customers and overall user satisfaction is best demonstrated by our dollar-based net 
retention rate. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 our dollar-based net retention rate was 146% and 127%, respectively.

Our customers include a diverse set of enterprises across a broad set of industries, as well as law firms, legal services 
providers of all sizes and government organizations. While we serve customers across many different industries, the way in 
which lawyers and legal professionals use our solution is similar regardless of the specific industry in which each customer 
operates. This commonality has created efficiencies in our sales and marketing and research and development activities because 
we do not need to tailor our sales and marketing activities to a wide range of different customer use cases. As of December 31, 
2021, we had 1,126 customers, increasing from 825 customers as of December 31, 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 
2021 we had 214 large customers, defined as customers with revenue in excess of $100,000 over the previous 12-month period, 
increasing from 141 large customers as of December 31, 2020. Large customers accounted for approximately 81%, and 74% of 
our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Our go-to-market strategy is focused on acquiring new customers and driving continued use and increased usage of our 
solution for existing customers. We primarily sell through a direct sales force, which is organized based on the stages of our 
sales motion. Our sales organization is segmented into sales development representatives, field sales, inside sales, solution 
architects and our customer success team. In addition, our solution is designed such that customers can grant access to third 
parties, including law firms and other legal service providers, to use our applications on the customers’ behalf. This access 
facilitates widespread adoption of our solution, as these law firms and other legal service providers often become customers on 
their own or recommend our solution to other legal industry participants after realizing the benefits of working on our solution. 
Likewise, if a law firm is our customer, the law firm may add users from its clients’ legal departments to our solution in order to 
collaborate with them. These users may then become champions and encourage the companies they work for to become 
customers.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods. Since inception, we have raised $401.1 million of capital, of which 
$240.0 million was obtained through the proceeds of our initial public offering and $161.1 million through the sale of 
redeemable convertible preferred stock. We had $255.5 million of cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2021. We 
generated revenue of $114.3 million and $68.4 million in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, 
representing a period-over-period growth of 67%. Our net loss was $24.3 million and $22.9 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We generated Adjusted EBITDA of $(16.3) million and $(19.9) million for the 
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. See the section titled “—Non-GAAP Financial Measure” for the 
definition of Adjusted EBITDA, as well as a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable 
financial measure stated in accordance with GAAP.

Impact of COVID-19 on Our Business

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused general business disruption worldwide beginning in January 2020. The full extent 
to which the COVID-19 pandemic will directly or indirectly impact our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial 
condition will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted. As a result of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, governments in many of the jurisdictions in which we or our customers operate instituted shelter-in-
place orders in March and April 2020 to mitigate the outbreak of COVID-19, forcing court closures and causing general delays 
in litigation proceedings, as well as leading to delays in the collection of enterprise data. Due to these factors, we experienced 
flat revenue growth in the second quarter of 2020 from the first quarter of 2020, during which we generated $15.7 million in 
each quarter. In addition, we executed a reduction in our workforce in March 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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This reduction in workforce resulted in a total impact of $0.7 million of charges related to severance. As shelter-in-place orders 
expired and businesses and court systems adjusted their operations to accommodate remote work policies, usage in our solution 
increased and our revenue in the third quarter of 2020 returned to pre-pandemic levels of growth.

We have also experienced, and may continue to experience, a modest positive impact on other aspects of our business, 
including slower growth in certain operating expenses due to reduced business travel, deferred hiring for some positions and the 
virtualization or cancellation of customer and employee events. 

We cannot predict how long we will continue to experience these impacts as shelter-in-place orders and other related 
measures are expected to change over time. However, as certain of our customers or partners experience downturns or 
uncertainty in their own business operations or revenue resulting from the spread of COVID-19, they may decrease or delay 
their legal spending or request pricing discounts, any of which may result in decreased revenue for us. In addition, we may 
experience customer losses, including due to bankruptcy or our customers ceasing operations, which may result in an inability 
to collect accounts receivable from these customers. In addition, in response to the spread of COVID-19, we have required 
substantially all of our employees to work remotely to minimize the risk of the virus to our employees and the communities in 
which we operate. In September 2021, we opened our headquarters to employees on a voluntary basis. We may take further 
actions as may be required by government authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers 
and business partners.

The global impact of COVID-19 continues to rapidly evolve and we will continue to monitor the situation and the effects 
on our business and operations closely. We do not yet know the full extent of potential impacts on our business or operations or 
on the global economy as a whole, particularly if the COVID-19 pandemic continues and persists for an extended period of 
time. Given the uncertainty, we cannot reasonably estimate the impact on our future results of operations, cash flows or 
financial condition. For additional details, see the section titled “Risk Factors”.

Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

We believe that the growth and future success of our business depends on many factors. While each of these factors 
present significant opportunities for our business, they also pose important challenges that we must successfully address in 
order to sustain our growth, improve our results of operations and establish and maintain profitability.

Maintain and Advance Our Innovation and Brand

Our success depends in part on our ability to maintain and advance our innovation and brand. We have a strong history 
of innovation, demonstrated by our DISCO Ediscovery, DISCO Review and DISCO Case Builder offerings, and have built a 
research and development process that reliably produces applications and features that lawyers love. We intend to continue 
combining our deep legal domain expertise and commitment to world-class software engineering to continue delivering features 
that lawyers love and introducing new applications to address more areas of legal work. Our future success is dependent on our 
ability to successfully develop, market and sell existing and new applications of our solution to both new and existing 
customers.

Add New Customers

We believe we have a significant opportunity to continue to grow our customer base. As enterprises continue their digital 
transformation journeys and the demand for differentiation in the competitive market for legal services continues to grow, we 
expect more and more companies will struggle with existing legal solutions and ultimately will adopt integrated, easy-to-
use solutions like DISCO to improve productivity and legal outcomes. We believe our market leadership and differentiated 
solution will enable us to efficiently acquire new customers across all channels. As of December 31, 2021, we had 1,126 
customers, increasing from 825 customers as of December 31, 2020. Our ability to attract new customers will depend on a 
number of factors, including the effectiveness and pricing of our offerings, the offerings of our competitors and the 
effectiveness of our marketing efforts. We will need to dedicate significant resources to further develop the market for our 
solution and expand, retain and motivate our sales and marketing personnel.

Increase Usage and Penetration Within Our Existing Customer Base

Our large base of customers represents a significant opportunity for further sales expansion. We believe that we will be 
able to continue expanding customer relationships by increasing customers’ usage of offerings that they already buy from us, 
selling more of our existing offerings to existing customers, and, in the future, introducing additional offerings to sell to existing 
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customers. Our long-term offerings strategy is aimed at building features and offerings that address more and more types of 
legal work so that customers can continue to centralize on our solution as the system of record and engagement for the legal 
function. Our ability to increase sales to existing customers will depend on a number of factors, including our customers’ 
satisfaction with our solution, competition, pricing and overall changes in our customers’ spending levels. Even if our 
customers expand their usage of our solution, we cannot guarantee that they will maintain those usage levels for any meaningful 
period of time or that they will renew their commitments.

A further indication of the propensity of our customers to continue to work with and expand their relationship with us 
over time is our dollar-based net retention rate, which compares our revenue from the same set of customers in one period to the 
prior year period. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, our dollar-based net retention rate was 146% and 127%, respectively. 
We calculate our dollar-based net retention rate as of the end of a period by using (a) the revenue from all customers during the 
twelve months ending one year prior to such period as the denominator and (b) the revenue from all customers during the 
twelve months ending as of the end of such period minus the revenue from all customers who are new customers during those 
twelve months as the numerator. Our dollar-based net retention rate could decrease over time as our customer base matures and 
the amount of revenue used in the denominator to calculate net retention grows.

Expand Our Sales Coverage and Establish a Digital Sales Channel

We intend to continue to increase our sales force headcount in strategic locations across the United States and globally. 
Additionally, we plan to develop a digital, self-service sales channel that can simplify the sales process and enable customers to 
easily adopt our solution through our website without the need to speak with a sales representative. Our ability to achieve 
significant revenue growth will depend, in large part, on our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient numbers of 
sales personnel to support our growth. We will need to spend significant resources to expand, retain and motivate our sales and 
marketing personnel.

Expand Internationally

Our market is global and we believe there is a significant opportunity to expand internationally. In 2021, less than 10% 
of our revenue was generated by customers outside of the United States. International expansion, including our global sales 
efforts, will add increased complexity and cost to our business.

Extend and Strengthen Our Channel Partnerships and Integrations

Our partnerships, including with legal services providers and cloud infrastructure providers, assist us in driving 
awareness and adoption of DISCO and extending our reach. We intend to cultivate and leverage channel partners to grow our 
market presence, enhance the virality of our solution and drive greater sales efficiency. Our future success is dependent in part 
on our ability to develop and maintain relations with these partners.

Expand Our Offering Portfolio

We believe that our technology, and especially our approach to automation and AI, is applicable to a wider range of legal 
processes outside of our current core offerings. We intend to leverage our technology to introduce further offerings that increase 
lawyer productivity across more and more areas of legal work over time. We may expend significant resources in the 
development of additional offerings. Our ability to successfully develop, market and sell new offerings will depend on a 
number of factors, including the availability of capital to invest in innovation, our customers’ satisfaction with such offerings, 
competition, pricing and overall changes in our customers’ spending levels.

Pursue Strategic Acquisitions and Strategic Investments

We intend to selectively pursue acquisitions and strategic investments that we believe can expand the functionality and 
value of our solution and bring talent to our company. We believe that the combination of our market leadership, deep legal 
expertise and powerful end-to-end solution provides an advantage in pursuing select acquisitions. We may be required to 
expend significant resources in connection with the pursuit of acquisitions and investments.
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Key Components of Statement of Operations

Revenue

All of our revenue-generating activities directly relate to the sale and support of our legal solution within a single 
operating segment. We have two primary types of contractual arrangements: usage-based and subscription solutions. Our 
usage-based revenue is derived from contracts under which customers are billed monthly based on their usage of our offerings. 
Subscription revenue is derived from contracts where customers are contractually committed to a minimum data volume over a 
period of time. Revenue received from usage amounts above the fixed data volume in our subscription contracts is considered 
usage-based revenue.

In the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, usage-based revenue represented 89% and 86% of our total revenue, 
respectively. In the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, subscription revenue fees represented 11% and 14% of total 
revenue, respectively. 

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of third-party cloud infrastructure expenses incurred in connection with our 
customers’ use of our solution. Cost of revenue also includes outsourced staffing costs, amortization of internal-use software 
and personnel costs from employees involved in the delivery of our solution. Personnel costs include salaries, benefits, bonuses, 
stock-based compensation and allocated overhead costs. We intend to continue to invest additional resources in our 
infrastructure to expand the capability of solutions and ensure that our customers are realizing the full benefit of our solutions. 
The level, timing and relative investment in our cloud infrastructure could affect our cost of revenue in the future. Additionally, 
cost of revenue in future periods could be impacted by changes in outsourced staffing costs and amortization associated with 
capitalized internal-use software costs.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of research and development, sales and marketing, general and administrative expenses 
and refund of sales and use taxes. Personnel costs are the most significant component of operating expenses and consist of 
salaries, benefits, bonuses, share-based compensation expenses and sales commissions. Operating expenses also include 
overhead costs for facilities and shared IT related expenses, including depreciation expense. During the year ended 
December 31, 2020, certain operating expenses decreased as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and a related reduction in 
force. Certain expenses impacted by COVID-19 resumed in 2021, although the magnitude of these expenses did not reach pre-
pandemic levels.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs for our development team, including 
salaries, benefits, bonuses, stock-based compensation expenses and allocated overhead costs. Research and development 
expenses also include contractor or professional services fees and third-party cloud infrastructure expenses incurred in 
developing our solution. During the year ended December 31, 2020, growth in research and development expenses was offset 
by a one-time reduction in force in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. We expect that our research and development 
expenses will increase in absolute dollars as our business grows, particularly as we incur additional costs related to continued 
investments in our solution. Our research and development expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our revenue over time. In 
addition, research and development expenses that qualify as internal-use software development costs are capitalized, the amount 
of which may fluctuate significantly from period to period.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs directly associated with our sales and 
marketing staff, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, commissions, stock-based compensation and allocated overhead costs. 
Sales and marketing expenses also include advertising costs and other expenses associated with our marketing and business 
development programs. In addition, sales and marketing expenses are comprised of travel-related expenses, software services 
dedicated for use by our sales and marketing organizations and outside services contracted for sales and marketing purposes. 
Travel-related expenses decreased in the year ended December 31, 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic and resumed in the 
second half of 2021, although the magnitude of these expenses has not reached pre-pandemic levels. We expect that our sales 
and marketing expenses will increase in absolute dollars and continue to be our largest operating expense for the foreseeable 
future as we grow our business. Our sales and marketing expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our revenue over time.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel-related costs associated with our finance, legal, human 
resources and administrative personnel, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, stock-based compensation and allocated overhead 
costs. General and administrative expenses also include external legal, accounting and other professional services fees, software 
services dedicated for use by our general and administrative functions, insurance and other corporate expenses.

In the year ended December 31, 2021, we incurred additional expenses as a result of operating as a public company, 
including costs to comply with the rules and regulations applicable to companies listed on a national securities exchange, costs 
related to compliance and reporting obligations and increased expenses for insurance, investor relations and professional 
services. We expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollars as our business grows but 
may fluctuate as a percentage of total revenue from period to period. 

Refund of Sales and Use Taxes

Refund of sales and uses taxes consist of a one-time gain due to a sales tax refund related to sales tax paid in prior 
periods based on the resolution of a sales tax audit.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income, income related to non-operating activities, interest 
expense and gains and losses from foreign currency transactions and remeasurements of foreign currency-denominated 
monetary assets and liabilities to the U.S. Dollar.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes consists primarily of income taxes related to foreign and state jurisdictions in which we 
conduct business. We maintain a valuation allowance on our federal and state deferred tax assets as we have concluded that it is 
not more likely than not that the deferred assets will be utilized.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations and such data as a percentage of our revenue for each of the 
periods presented.

Year Ended
December 31,

(in thousands) 2021 2020

Revenue $ 114,342 $ 68,444 
Cost of revenue(1)  31,098  20,449 
Gross profit  83,244  47,995 
Operating expenses:

Research and development(1)  34,414  26,599 
Sales and marketing(1)  47,045  31,061 
General and administrative(1)  25,614  13,893 
Refund of sales and use taxes  —  (1,057) 

Total operating expenses  107,073  70,496 
Loss from operations  (23,829)  (22,501) 
Other income (expense):

Interest and other income  106  155 
Interest and other expense  (540)  (456) 

Total other income (expense)  (434)  (301) 
Loss from operations before income taxes  (24,263)  (22,802) 
Income tax provision  (81)  (71) 
Net loss $ (24,344) $ (22,873) 
Less accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock  (56)  (92) 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (24,400) $ (22,965) 

______________
(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

 
Year Ended

December 31,
(in thousands) 2021 2020
 
Cost of revenue $ 57 $ 28 
Research and development  2,081  864 
Sales and marketing  1,258  335 
General and administrative  2,207  766 

Total $ 5,603 $ 1,993 
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Year Ended

December 31,
 2021 2020
 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss as a percentage of 

revenue:**
Revenue  100 %  100 %
Cost of revenue  27  30 
Gross profit  73  70 
Operating expenses:

Research and development  30  39 
       Sales and marketing  41  45 

General and administrative  22  20 
Refund of sales and use taxes  —  (2) 

Total operating expenses  94  103 
Loss from operations  (21)  (33) 
Other income (expense):

Interest and other income * *
Interest and other expense *  (1) 

Total other income (expense) * *
Loss from operations before income taxes  (21)  (33) 
Income tax provision * *
Net loss  (21)  (33) 
Less accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock * *
Net loss attributable to common stockholders  (21)  (34) 

______________
* Less than 0.5% of revenue.
** Columns may not add up to 100% due to rounding.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Revenue 

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Revenue $ 114,342 $ 68,444 $ 45,898  67% 

Total revenue increased by $45.9 million, or 67%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 
2020. Approximately 70% of the increase is related to additional usage and adoption of our solution by our existing customers. 
The remaining 30% increase in revenue is related to new customers added throughout the period. 

Cost of Revenue 

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Cost of revenue $ 31,098 $ 20,449 $ 10,649  52% 
Percentage of revenue  27 %  30 %
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Total cost of revenue increased by $10.6 million, or 52%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same 
period in 2020. The increase was primarily driven by an increase in outsourced staffing vendor fees of $5.3 million and costs 
for cloud hosting of $2.0 million related to increased usage of our solution. Additionally, cost of revenue increased $2.9 million 
due to increased personnel costs, including stock-based compensation, as a result of increased headcount. 

Operating Expenses 

Research and Development 

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Research and development $ 34,414 $ 26,599 $ 7,815  29% 
Percentage of revenue  30%  39% 

Research and development expenses increased by $7.8 million, or 29%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared 
to the same period in 2020. The increase was primarily driven by an additional $8.3 million in personnel costs, including stock-
based compensation, as a result of increased headcount. Additionally, professional services expense increased $0.2 million 
related to security and compliance. These increases were offset by a decrease of $0.5 million of restructuring charges related to 
the one-time reduction in force that occurred in the first quarter of 2020. 

Sales and Marketing 

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Sales and marketing $ 47,045 $ 31,061 $ 15,984  51% 
Percentage of revenue  41%  45% 

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $16.0 million, or 51%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 
the same period in 2020. The increase was primarily related to an additional $12.3 million in personnel costs, including stock-
based compensation, as a result of increased headcount and variable compensation for our sales personnel. Software expense 
also increased $0.7 million to support the additional headcount. Additionally, marketing expenses increased $2.5 million and 
professional services expense increased $0.5 million to support our growth. 

General and Administrative 

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)

General and administrative $ 25,614 $ 13,893 $ 11,721  84% 
Percentage of revenue  22%  20% 

General and administrative expenses increased by $11.7 million, or 84%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 
compared to the same period in 2020. This increase was primarily attributable to an additional $6.2 million in personnel costs, 
including stock-based compensation, as a result of increased headcount and a $3.0 million increase in professional services 
related to additional compliance requirements of being a public company. Additionally, corporate insurance expense and 
franchise taxes increased $2.2 million as a result of our recent initial public offering.
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Refund of Sales and Use Taxes

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Refund of sales and use taxes $ — $ (1,057) $ 1,057  (100%) 
Percentage of revenue  — %  2 %

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we received a sales tax refund of $1.1 million related to sales tax paid in prior 
periods based on the resolution of a sales tax audit. There were no similar transactions in the current period.

Non-GAAP Financial Measure

We report our financial results in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. However, 
management believes that Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, provides investors with additional useful 
information in evaluating our performance. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss, adjusted to exclude: depreciation and 
amortization expense, provision for income taxes, interest and other, net, stock-based compensation expense, payroll tax 
expense on employee stock transactions, refund of sales and use taxes related to sales tax in prior periods and other one-
time, non-recurring items, when applicable. We monitor Adjusted EBITDA as a non-GAAP financial measure to supplement 
the financial information we present in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, to provide 
investors with additional information regarding our financial results.

Adjusted EBITDA is a financial measure that is not required by or presented in accordance with GAAP. We believe that 
Adjusted EBITDA, when taken together with our financial results presented in accordance with GAAP, provides meaningful 
supplemental information regarding our operating performance and facilitates internal comparisons of our historical operating 
performance on a more consistent basis by excluding certain items that may not be indicative of our business, results of 
operations or outlook. In particular, we believe that the use of Adjusted EBITDA is helpful to our investors as it is a measure 
used by management in assessing the health of our business and evaluating our operating performance, as well as for internal 
planning and forecasting purposes.

Adjusted EBITDA is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, has limitations as an analytical tool and 
should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial information presented in accordance with GAAP. Some of 
these limitations include that: (i) it does not properly reflect capital commitments to be paid in the future; (ii) although 
depreciation and amortization expense is a non-cash charge, the underlying assets may need to be replaced and Adjusted 
EBITDA does not reflect these capital expenditures; (iii) it does not consider the impact of stock-based compensation expense 
and payroll tax expense on employee stock transactions; (iv) it does not reflect other non-operating expenses, including interest 
expense; (v) it does not consider the impact of any contingent consideration liability valuation adjustments; and (vi) it does not 
reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us. In addition, our use of Adjusted EBITDA may not 
be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies because they may not calculate Adjusted EBITDA in the same 
manner, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure. Because of these limitations, when evaluating our performance, you 
should consider Adjusted EBITDA alongside other financial measures, including our net loss and other results stated in 
accordance with GAAP. We expect Adjusted EBITDA to fluctuate in the near term as we continue to invest in our business and 
improve over the long term as we achieve greater scale in our business and efficiencies in our operating expenses.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable financial 
measure stated in accordance with GAAP, for the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020
Net loss $(24,344) $(22,873)
Depreciation and amortization expense  1,674  1,624 
Provision for income taxes  81  71 
Interest and other, net  434  301 
Stock-based compensation expense  5,603  1,993 
Payroll tax expense on employee stock transactions 264 20
Refund of sales and use taxes  —  (1,057) 
Adjusted EBITDA $(16,288) $(19,921)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed operations since our inception primarily through customer payments and net proceeds from sales of 
equity securities, including our IPO in July 2021, as well as borrowings under our former revolving credit facility. As of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents, totaling $255.5 million and 
$58.6 million, respectively. Cash equivalents include highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and have original maturities of three months or less. We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient 
to fund anticipated cash requirements for the next 12 months. We believe we will meet our longer-term expected future cash 
requirements primarily from a combination of cash flow from operating activities and available cash and cash equivalents. We 
may also engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds.

The following table presents our material cash requirements for future periods as of December 31, 2021:

Payments Due by Period
Less than

1 Year
2-3

Years
4-5 

Years Total
(in thousands)

Operating lease commitments(a) $ 911 $ — $ — $ 911 
Finance lease commitments(b)  101  —  —  101 
Cloud platform purchase commitments(c)  17,900  36,000  18,000  71,900 
Other purchase commitments(d)  903  457  —  1,360 

Total $ 19,815 $ 36,457 $ 18,000 $ 74,272 

a. We occupy certain facilities under non-cancelable lease arrangements. Our only lease agreement is set to expire in 
October 2022. We may lease or purchase additional space as needed to accommodate our needs.

b. We lease certain furniture and fixtures classified as a finance lease. The leased furniture is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the life of the lease and is included in depreciation expense.

c. Cloud platform purchase commitments encompass non-cancellable agreements to support our software. These 
expenses are incurred as services are performed and are in the normal course of business.

d. Other purchase commitments encompass non-cancellable software agreements to support our internal functions. These 
expenses are incurred as services are performed and are in the normal course of business.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our revenue growth rate, usage of our solution, 
billing frequency, the timing and extent of spending to support further sales and marketing and research and development 
efforts, and the continuing market acceptance of our solution. Although the COVID-19 pandemic has not materially impacted 
our liquidity to date, we plan to continue to evaluate aspects of our spending, including capital expenditures, discretionary 
spending, and strategic investments in 2022. We have considered the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our liquidity and 
capital resources to date, and we do not currently expect it to impact our ability to meet future liquidity needs.

We may, in the future, enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, products and 
technologies. We may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event that we require additional financing, 
we may not be able to raise such financing on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital or 
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generate cash flows necessary to expand our operations and invest in continued innovation, we may not be able to compete 
successfully, which would harm our business, operations and financial condition.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Cash used in operating activities $ (21,642) $ (22,712) $ 1,070  (5) %
Cash used in investing activities  (3,107)  (1,904)  (1,203)  63 %
Cash provided by financing activities  221,657  59,961  161,696  270 %

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 196,908 $ 35,345 $ 161,563  457 %

Operating Activities

Our largest source of operating cash is payments received from our customers. Our primary uses of cash from operating 
activities are for personnel-related expenses, marketing expenses, hosting expenses and overhead expenses. We have 
historically generated negative cash flows and have supplemented working capital requirements primarily through net proceeds 
from the sale of equity securities.

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $21.6 million, a decrease of $1.1 million 
from net cash used in operating activities of $22.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The change in cash flow used 
in operations was primarily due to an increase in net loss of $1.5 million. Fluctuations in net loss are further explained in the 
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 section included elsewhere in Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis. The increase in cash used in operating activities was also due to an increase in accounts receivable of $2.7 million 
related to revenue growth and an increase in other current assets of $3.1 million related to various prepaid expenses. These 
increases in cash used in operating activities were partially offset by an increase in stock-based compensation of $3.6 million 
due to additional equity awards issued during the period with increased underlying share values and an increase in accounts 
payable and accrued expenses of $3.8 million related to growth of our operations.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $3.1 million, an increase of $1.2 million 
from net cash used in investing activities of $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase in cash used in 
investing activities was related to purchases of property and equipment to support the growth of our business and the 
capitalization of internal-use software associated with additional features in our solution.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $221.7 million, an increase of 
$161.7 million from net cash provided by financing activities of $60.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The 
change in cash flows were primarily related to an increase in net proceeds from equity financings of $159.9 million. In the year 
ended December 31, 2021 we received $219.8 million in net proceeds from our IPO. In the year ended December 31, 2020, we 
received $59.9 million in net proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock. Additionally, proceeds from 
exercises of stock options increased $1.8 million due to an increase in option exercise activity related to our stock being 
publicly traded.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we received and repaid $23.3 million of proceeds from our revolving credit 
facility and the Paycheck Protection Program. We had no borrowings in the year ended December 31, 2021.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
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statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. We evaluate our estimates and 
assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors and adjust those estimates and assumptions when 
facts and circumstances dictate. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates and assumptions.

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 in the notes to our consolidated financial 
statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K, the following accounting policies involve a greater degree of judgment and 
complexity. Accordingly, these are the accounting policies we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and 
evaluating our financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from contracts with customers using the five-step method described in Note 3 of the notes to our 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our performance obligations consist of usage-based and subscription solutions. Our usage-based revenue is generated 
from solutions that are typically billed on a monthly basis based on actual usage. Subscription revenue is derived from contracts 
where customers are contractually committed to a minimum data volume over a period of time. Usage amounts above the 
minimum data volume are considered usage-based revenue. Subscription arrangements are typically billed on a monthly, 
quarterly or annual basis with revenue recognized on a ratable basis over the contractual term. On a limited basis, we enter into 
contracts whereby the consideration payable is contingent upon the conclusion of the legal matter. We do not recognize the 
revenue related to these contracts until the legal matter is resolved. Such amounts recognized have been immaterial to date.

In general, we satisfy the majority of our performance obligations over time as we transfer the promised solutions to our 
customers. We review the contract terms and conditions to evaluate the timing and amount of revenue recognition, the related 
contract balances, and our remaining performance obligations. These evaluations involve uncertainty because they may require 
significant judgment that could affect the timing and amount of revenue recognized. Usage-based revenue is recognized 
monthly based on actual usage and subscription revenue is recognized on a ratable basis over the contractual term, which is 
generally one year.

Internal-Use Software Development

We capitalize certain costs related to the development of our solution and other software applications for internal use. In 
accordance with authoritative guidance, we begin to capitalize our costs to develop software when preliminary development 
efforts are successfully completed, management has authorized and committed project funding, and it is probable that the 
project will be completed and the software will be used as intended. We stop capitalizing these costs when the software is 
substantially complete and ready for its intended use, including the completion of all significant testing. These costs are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related asset, generally estimated to be four years. We 
also capitalize costs related to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable the expenditure will result in additional 
functionality and expense costs incurred for maintenance and minor upgrades and enhancements. Costs incurred prior to 
meeting these criteria together with costs incurred for training and maintenance are expensed as incurred and recorded within 
product development expenses in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The capitalization of 
internal-use software development contains uncertainties because it requires management to exercise judgment in determining 
the point at which various projects may be capitalized, in assessing the ongoing value of the capitalized costs and in 
determining the estimated useful lives over which the costs are amortized. To the extent that we change the manner in which we 
develop and test new features and functionalities related to our solution, assess the ongoing value of capitalized assets or 
determine the estimated useful lives over which the costs are amortized, the amount of internal-use software development costs 
we capitalize and amortize could change in future periods.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with the authoritative guidance on stock compensation. Under 
the fair value recognition provisions of this guidance, stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair 
value of the award and is recognized as expense, over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the 
respective award.

Determining the fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date requires judgment. Prior to the completion of our IPO 
in July 2021, we used the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options granted to our 
employees and directors. Subsequent to the completion of our IPO, the grant date fair value of equity awards is determined 
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using the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant. The determination of the grant date fair value of stock options 
using an option-pricing model is affected by our estimated common stock fair value as well as assumptions regarding a number 
of other complex and subjective variables. These variables include the fair value of our common stock, our expected stock price 
volatility over the expected term of the options, stock option exercise and cancellation behaviors, risk-free interest rates and 
expected dividends, which are estimated as follows:

• Fair value of the common stock.    Prior to our IPO, the fair value of common stock underlying the stock options 
had historically been determined by our Board of Directors, with input from our management. Our Board of 
Directors previously determined the fair value of the common stock at the time of grant of the options by 
considering a number of objective and subjective factors, including the results of contemporaneous independent 
third-party valuations of our common stock; the prices, rights, preferences, and privileges of our redeemable 
convertible preferred stock relative to those of our common stock; the prices of redeemable convertible 
preferred stock sold by us to third-party investors in arms-length transactions; the lack of marketability of our 
common stock; actual operating and financial results; current business conditions and projections; our history 
and the timing of the introduction of new applications; our stage of development; the likelihood of achieving a 
liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or a merger or acquisition of our company given prevailing 
market conditions; the market performance of comparable publicly-traded companies; recent secondary stock 
sales transactions; and U.S. and global market conditions. Subsequent to our IPO, the fair value of our 
underlying common stock is determined by the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant, as 
reported by the NYSE. 

• Expected term.    The expected term represents the period that the stock-based awards are expected to be 
outstanding. We use the simplified calculation of expected term, as we do not have sufficient historical data to 
use any other method to estimate expected term.

• Expected volatility.    The expected volatility is derived from an average of the historical volatilities of the 
common stock of several entities with characteristics similar to ours, such as the size and operational and 
economic similarities to our principle business operations.

• Risk-free interest rate.    The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time 
of grant for zero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to the expected term of the 
stock-based awards.

• Expected dividend.    The expected dividend is assumed to be zero as we have never paid dividends and have no 
current plans to pay any dividends on our common stock.

The following table summarizes the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair 
value of our stock options:

Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020

Stock options:
Risk-free interest rate 0.8%-1.3% 0.4%-1.7%
Weighted-average expected term of the options 6.25 years 6.25 years
Expected dividend rate —  % —  %
Expected volatility 52%-54% 49%-52%

If any assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model change significantly, stock-based compensation 
expense may differ. For example, a 10% increase in the fair value of common stock would cause a $0.5 million increase in 
stock-based compensation recognized over the requisite service period for stock options granted in 2021.

We have also granted restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), and commencing in 2021, we granted restricted stock units 
(“RSUs”). Stock-based compensation related to RSAs and RSUs is measured based on the fair value of the common stock on 
the grant date. It is recognized in our consolidated statement of operations over the period the recipient is required to perform 
services in exchange for the award, which is generally the vesting period. 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in Note 2 in the notes to our consolidated financial statements 
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information.

JOBS Act Accounting Election

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act, and, 
for so long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various 
reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not 
limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404, reduced disclosure obligations 
regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements and exemptions from the requirements of 
holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not 
previously approved. In addition, pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act, as an emerging growth company, we have elected to 
take advantage of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards until those standards 
would otherwise apply to private companies. If we cease to be an emerging growth company, we will no longer be able to take 
advantage of these exemptions or the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards.

7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are a smaller reporting company, as defined by Rule 12b-2 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and in 
Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K, and are not required to provide the information under this item.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of CS Disco, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CS Disco, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in redeemable convertible preferred 
stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the 
“consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over 
financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young, LLP 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.

Austin, Texas
February 25, 2022
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CS DISCO, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except par value amounts)

December 31,
2021 2020

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 255,477 $ 58,569 
Accounts receivable, net  20,740  12,912 
Other current assets  4,634  1,364 

Total current assets  280,851  72,845 
Property and equipment, net  5,335  3,873 
Operating lease right-of-use assets  864  1,850 
Other assets  351  539 
Total assets $ 287,401 $ 79,107 
Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock, and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 4,686 $ 3,588 
Accrued expenses  2,844  641 
Accrued salary and benefits  7,955  5,240 
Deferred revenue  2,175  1,642 
Operating leases  890  1,018 
Finance lease  99  112 

Total current liabilities  18,649  12,241 
Operating lease, non-current  —  890 
Finance lease, non-current  —  99 
Other liabilities, non-current  75  — 
Total liabilities  18,724  13,230 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock $0.005 par value, issuable in Series A-F no shares 

and 178,967 shares authorized as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively; no shares 
and 35,793 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively; no aggregate liquidation preference as of December 31, 2021 and $161,134 
aggregate liquidation preference as of December 31, 2020  —  160,800 

Stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Preferred stock $0.005 par value, 100,000 and no shares authorized, as of December 31, 

2021 and 2020, respectively; no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 
and 2020  —  — 

Common stock $0.005 par value, 1,000,000 and 277,406 shares authorized as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively; 58,010 and 13,533 shares issued and 
outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively  291  68 

Additional paid-in capital  395,850  8,129 
Accumulated deficit  (127,464)  (103,120) 
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)  268,677  (94,923) 
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock, and stockholders’ equity 
(deficit) $ 287,401 $ 79,107 
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CS DISCO, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020
Revenue $ 114,342 $ 68,444 
Cost of revenue  31,098  20,449 
Gross profit  83,244  47,995 
Operating expenses:

Research and development  34,414  26,599 
Sales and marketing  47,045  31,061 
General and administrative  25,614  13,893 
Refund of sales and use taxes  —  (1,057) 

Total operating expenses  107,073  70,496 
Loss from operations  (23,829)  (22,501) 
Other income (expense)

Interest and other income  106  155 
Interest and other expense  (540)  (456) 

Loss from operations before income taxes  (24,263)  (22,802) 
Income tax provision  (81)  (71) 
Net loss $ (24,344) $ (22,873) 
Less accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock  (56)  (92) 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (24,400) $ (22,965) 
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (0.73) $ (1.74) 
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to common 

stockholders, basic and diluted  33,208  13,171 
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CS DISCO, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

(in thousands)

Redeemable
convertible preferred

stock Common stock Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
deficit TotalShares Amount Shares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2019  31,755 $ 100,774  13,332 $ 67 $ 5,827 $ (80,247) $ (74,353) 
Issuance of Series F redeemable 
convertible preferred stock, net 
of issuance costs  4,038  59,934  —  —  —  —  — 
Issuance of warrant  —  —  —  —  84  —  84 
Accretion to redemption value  —  92  —  —  (92)  —  (92) 
Exercise of stock options  —  —  215  1  446  —  447 
Repurchase of common stock 
related to net share settlement  —  —  (14)  —  (138)  —  (138) 
Stock compensation expense  —  —  —  —  2,002  —  2,002 
Net loss  —  —  —  —  —  (22,873)  (22,873) 

Balance at December 31, 2020  35,793 $ 160,800  13,533 $ 68 $ 8,129 $ (103,120) $ (94,923) 
Accretion to redemption value  —  56  —  —  (56)  —  (56) 
Issuance of common stock upon 
initial public offering, net of 
underwriting discounts and 
commissions and other offering 
costs  —  —  7,500  37  219,490  —  219,527 
Conversion of redeemable 
convertible preferred stock  (35,793)  (160,856)  35,793  179  160,677  —  160,856 
Exercise of stock options  —  —  933  6  2,281  —  2,287 
Exercise of warrants  —  —  50  —  146  —  146 
Issuance of RSAs  —  —  201  1  (1)  —  — 
Repurchase of common stock 
related to net share settlement  —  —  (15)  —  (476)  —  (476) 
Vesting of restricted stock units  —  —  15  —  —  —  — 
Stock compensation expense  —  —  —  —  5,660  —  5,660 
Net loss  —  —  —  —  —  (24,344)  (24,344) 

Balance at December 31, 2021  — $ —  58,010 $ 291 $ 395,850 $ (127,464) $ 268,677 
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CS DISCO, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020
Cash flow from operating activities:
Net loss $ (24,344) $ (22,873) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operations:

Depreciation and amortization  1,674  1,624 
Stock-based compensation  5,603  1,993 
Charge to allowance for credit losses  833  451 
Loss (Gain) on disposal of long-lived assets  (1)  6 
Non-cash operating lease costs  986  1,337 
Non-cash interest  240  70 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable  (8,662)  (6,001) 
Other current assets  (3,168)  (24) 
Other long-term assets  (24)  31 
Accounts payable  1,091  (397) 
Accrued expenses and other  4,615  2,263 
Deferred revenue  533  224 
Operating lease liabilities  (1,018)  (1,416) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (21,642)  (22,712) 
Cash flow from investing activities:

Purchases of property, equipment and capitalized internal-use software development costs  (3,107)  (1,904) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (3,107)  (1,904) 

Cash flow from financing activities:
Debt issuance costs  —  (176) 
Proceeds from debt  —  23,302 
Repayment of debt  —  (23,302) 
Proceeds from public offering, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and other 
offering costs  219,811  — 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options  2,288  447 
Proceeds from exercise of warrants  146  — 
Net proceeds from the issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock  —  59,934 
Repurchase of common stock related to net share settlement  (476)  (138) 
Principal payments on finance lease obligations  (112)  (106) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  221,657  59,961 
Net increase in cash:  196,908  35,345 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  58,569  23,224 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 255,477 $ 58,569 

Supplemental disclosure:
Cash paid for interest $ 105 $ 365 
Cash paid for taxes $ 97 $ 87 

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Accretion of preferred stock to redemption value $ 56 $ 92 
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock upon initial public offering $ 160,856 $ — 
Costs related to initial public offering included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 284 $ — 
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CS DISCO, INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Nature of Operations

CS Disco, Inc. (the “Company” or “DISCO”), and its wholly owned subsidiary CS Disco Ltd., has built a cloud-
native, AI-powered software platform that enterprises, law firms, legal services providers, and governments use for ediscovery, 
legal document review, and case management in a wide variety of legal matters, ranging from litigation to investigations to 
compliance to diligence. The Company incorporated as a Delaware corporation on December 2, 2013, and registered CS Disco 
Ltd. in the United Kingdom on October 24, 2018. The Company’s headquarters are located in Austin, Texas.

Public Offerings

On July 23, 2021, the Company completed the initial public offering (“IPO”) of its common stock pursuant to a 
Registration Statement on Form S-1. In the IPO, the Company sold an aggregate of 7,500,000 shares of common stock, 
including 500,000 shares issued pursuant to the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares at a public offering price of 
$32.00 per share. The IPO resulted in net proceeds of approximately $223.2 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and 
commissions of $16.8 million. An existing stockholder sold an additional 200,000 shares of common stock pursuant the 
underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares of common stock at $32.00 per share. The Company did not receive any 
proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholder in the IPO. Offering expenses incurred by the Company for the IPO 
were approximately $3.7 million and were recorded against stockholders’ equity. Upon the completion of the IPO, all 
outstanding shares of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted into 35,793,483 shares of common 
stock.

On September 17, 2021, the Company completed a secondary public offering of its common stock pursuant to a 
Registration Statement on Form S-1. In the secondary offering, selling stockholders sold an aggregate of 6,050,000 shares of 
common stock, including 550,000 shares sold pursuant to the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares at an offering 
price of $53.00 per share. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares through the secondary offering. 
Offering expenses incurred by the Company that were not subject to reimbursement were approximately $0.1 million and were 
recorded as general and administrative expense. The total number of outstanding shares of common stock remained unchanged 
as a result of the secondary offering.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Emerging Growth Company Status

The Company is an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the 
“JOBS Act”). The JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period 
for complying with new or revised accounting standards. This provision allows an emerging growth company to delay the 
adoption of some accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. The Company has 
elected to use the extended transition period under the JOBS Act until the earlier of the date it (1) is no longer an emerging 
growth company or (2) affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a 
result, the Company’s financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting 
pronouncements as of public company effective dates.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U. S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company. All significant intercompany balances and 
transactions have been eliminated. There are no differences between the net loss and comprehensive loss.

Risks and Uncertainties

The ongoing global COVID-19 pandemic has impacted many operational aspects of the Company’s business and may 
continue to do so in the future. The Company assessed the impact that COVID-19 had on its results of operations, including, but 
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not limited to an assessment of its allowance for credit losses, the carrying value of other long-lived assets, and the impact to 
revenue recognition and cost of revenues. In March 2020, the Company executed a reduction in workforce in response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. This reduction in force resulted in a total impact of $0.7 million of charges related to severance. 
While the COVID-19 pandemic has not had a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial operations to date, the future 
impacts of the pandemic and any resulting economic impact are largely unknown and rapidly evolving. The Company will 
continue to actively monitor the impact that COVID-19 has on the results of the Company’s business operations, and may make 
decisions required by federal, state or local authorities, or that are determined to be in the best interests of the Company’s 
employees, customers, partners, and suppliers. As a result, the Company’s estimates and judgments may change materially as 
new events occur or additional information becomes available to them.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make 
certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses 
during the reporting period. There is complexity and judgment required in the Company’s process in determining the nature and 
timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations which affect the amounts of revenue, unbilled receivables and deferred 
revenue. Estimates are also used for, but not limited to, current expected credit losses, capitalization and useful life of the 
Company’s capitalized internal-use software development costs, useful lives of assets, income taxes and deferred tax asset 
valuation and valuation of the Company’s stock and stock options. Numerous internal and external factors can affect estimates. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences could be material to the Company’s consolidated financial 
position and results of operations.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is presented in conformity with the two-
class method required for participating securities. All series of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock are 
considered to be participating securities because all holders are entitled to receive a non-cumulative dividend on a pari passu 
basis in the event that a dividend is paid on the common stock. The holders of the redeemable convertible preferred stock do not 
have a contractual obligation to share in the Company’s losses. As such, the Company’s net losses were not allocated to these 
participating securities

Under the two-class method, basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the 
net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during 
the period.

Diluted earnings per share attributable to common stockholders adjusts basic earnings per share for the potentially 
dilutive impact of stock options, restricted stock awards, stock warrants and redeemable convertible preferred stock. As the 
Company has reported losses for all periods presented, all potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive, and accordingly, basic 
net loss per share equaled diluted net loss per share.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments acquired with an original maturity of three months or less at the 
date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents, which include the Company’s money market account, are measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded and carried at the original invoiced amount less an allowance for credit losses. The 
Company determines its trade accounts receivable allowances in line with (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on 
Financial Instruments (“Topic 326”), based upon the assessment of various factors, such as: historical experience, credit quality 
of its customers, geographic related risks, economic conditions, and other factors that may affect a customer’s ability to pay. 
Increases and decreases in the allowance for credit losses are included as a component of general and administrative expense in 
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company does not have any off-balance sheet credit 
exposure related to its customers.

Due to the short-term nature of our receivables, the estimate of the amount of accounts receivable that may not be 
collected is based on historical experience and the financial condition of customers. The Company has provisioned $1.0 million 
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for expected losses for the year ended December 31, 2021, and $0.5 million has been written off and charged against the 
allowance for the year ended December 31, 2021. Recoveries made by the Company were $0.2 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2021. The allowance for credit losses related to accounts receivable was $1.2 million and $0.9 million as of 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and cash 
equivalents and trade accounts receivable. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalent balances in highly rated 
financial institutions, which at times may exceed federally insured limits or be held in foreign jurisdictions. The Company has 
not experienced any loss relating to cash and cash equivalents in these accounts. The Company performs periodic 
credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral.

To reduce risk, the Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers. No customer represented more 
than 10% of total revenue in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company groups its assets and liabilities measured at fair value in a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes 
the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in 
active markets, with valuations obtained from readily available pricing sources for market transactions involving identical 
assets or liabilities; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly 
observable, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that 
are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; and 
Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its 
own assumptions. Level 3 assets and liabilities include financial instruments whose value is determined using pricing models, 
discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value 
requires significant management judgment or estimation.

The level of the fair value hierarchy in which the fair value measurement falls is determined by the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The Company’s financial instruments consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts 
payable, accrued expenses, and debt. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts 
payable, and accrued expenses are considered to approximate their respective fair values due to the short-term nature of such 
financial instruments. Cash equivalents, primarily consisting of investments in money market funds, are measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis, and are categorized as Level 1 based on quoted prices in active markets. The carrying value approximates 
the fair value for these assets and liabilities at December 31, 2021 and 2020. The Company had no Level 2 or Level 3 assets or 
liabilities at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

The Company recognizes transfers between levels at the end of the reporting period as if the transfers occurred on the 
last day of the reporting period. There were no transfers during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Maintenance, repairs and minor 
replacements are charged to expense as incurred. Significant renewals and betterments are capitalized. Depreciation on property 
and equipment, with the exception of leasehold improvements, is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets. Depreciation on leasehold improvements is recorded using the shorter of the lease term or useful life. 
The estimated useful life of each asset category is as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or 5 years
Computer equipment 2 years

The Company periodically reviews the estimated useful lives of property and equipment and any changes to the 
estimated useful lives are recorded prospectively from the date of the change.
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When property is retired or disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts 
and any resulting gains or losses are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss in the period 
of disposal.

Capitalized Internal-Use Software Development Costs

Costs related to software acquired, developed, or modified solely to meet our internal requirements, with no plans to 
market such software at the time of development, are capitalized. Costs incurred during the preliminary planning and evaluation 
stage of the project and during post implementation operational stage are expensed as incurred. The Company 
capitalizes qualifying internal-use software development costs that are incurred during the application development stage. 
Capitalization of costs begins when two criteria are met: (i) the preliminary project stage is completed and (ii) it is probable that 
the software will be completed and used for its intended function. Capitalization ceases when the software is substantially 
complete and ready for its intended use, including the completion of all significant testing. The Company also capitalizes costs 
related to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable the expenditures will result in additional functionality. Costs 
incurred for maintenance, minor upgrades and enhancements are expensed. Costs related to preliminary project activities and 
post-implementation operating activities are expensed as incurred.

Capitalized costs are included in property and equipment on the consolidated balance sheets. These costs are amortized 
over the estimated useful life of the software, generally four years, on a straight-line basis. Management evaluates the useful life 
of these assets on an annual basis and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could 
impact the recoverability of these assets. The amortization of costs related to the platform applications is included in cost of 
revenue.

Debt Issuance Costs

The Company records underwriting, legal, and other direct costs incurred related to the issuance of revolving line of 
credit within other current assets and amortizes these costs to interest expense over the term of the related debt on a straight-line 
basis, which approximates the effective interest rate method. Amortization of deferred financing costs was nominal for the year 
ended December 31, 2020. In November 2021, the Company extinguished the debt and $0.2 million of unamortized capitalized 
deferred financing costs were recorded to interest expense.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at contract inception. The Company presents the 
operating leases in long-term assets and current and long-term liabilities. Finance lease assets are included in property and 
equipment, net, and finance lease liabilities are presented in current and long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets.

Right of use assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset over the lease term and lease liabilities 
represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are 
recognized at the lease commencement date based on the estimated present value of lease payments over the lease term. The 
Company includes any anticipated lease incentives in the determination of lease liability.

The Company uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is derived from information available at the lease 
commencement date, in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company gives consideration to its recent debt 
issuances as well as publicly available data for instruments with similar characteristics when determining its incremental 
borrowing rates.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever an event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying 
amount of an asset or group of assets may not be recoverable. The impairment review includes comparison of future cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset or group of assets with the associated assets’ carrying value. If the carrying value of the 
asset or group of assets exceeds its expected future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges), an impairment loss 
is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. The Company did not identify any 
impairment indicators and recorded no impairment charges in the years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020.
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Segment Information

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the chief operating decision maker, who reviews the Company’s financial 
information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating the Company’s financial 
performance. Accordingly, the Company has determined that it operates in a single reporting segment.

Revenue Recognition

Refer to Note 3, “Revenue” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for our Revenue Recognition policy.

Advertising

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expenses were $0.4 million and $0.3 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 respectively.  These costs are included in sales and marketing expenses in the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of third-party cloud infrastructure expenses incurred in connection with customers’ 
use of the Company’s solutions. Cost of revenue also includes outsourced staffing costs, amortization of internal-use software 
and personnel costs from employees involved in the delivery of our solutions. Personnel costs include salaries, benefits, 
bonuses, stock-based compensation and allocated overhead costs.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs for the development team, including 
salaries, benefits, bonuses, stock-based compensation expenses and allocated overhead costs. Research and development 
expenses also include contractor or professional services fees, third-party cloud infrastructure expenses incurred in developing 
the Company’s solution and software services dedicated for use by the research and development organization.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs directly associated with the sales and 
marketing staff, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, commissions, stock-based compensation and allocated overhead costs. 
Sales and marketing expenses also include advertising costs and other expenses associated with the marketing and business 
development programs. In addition, sales and marketing expenses are comprised of travel-related expenses, software services 
dedicated for use by the sales and marketing organizations, and outside services contracted for sales and marketing purposes.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel-related costs associated with the finance, legal, human 
resources and administrative personnel, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, stock-based compensation and allocated overhead 
costs. General and administrative expenses also include external legal, accounting, professional services fees, software services 
dedicated for use by the general and administrative functions, insurance and other corporate expenses.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards (collectively referred to as 
stock-based compensation expense), including stock options, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units granted to 
employees, directors and non-employees, based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of grant in accordance 
with ASC Topic 718 Compensation - Stock Compensation (“Topic 718”). The fair value of each stock option granted is 
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes pricing model requires the Company to make 
assumptions and judgments about the inputs used in the calculation, including the expected term, the volatility of the 
Company’s common stock, risk-free interest rate and expected dividend yield. The assumptions used to determine the fair value 
of the option awards represent management’s best estimates. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application 
of management’s judgment. Stock-based compensation is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. 
Forfeitures are accounted for in the period in which they occur.
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Sales Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and other taxes collected from customers and subsequently remits to government 
authorities. The Company relieves the sales tax payable balances from the consolidated balance sheets as cash is collected from 
the customer and the taxes are remitted to the appropriate tax authority.

In September 2020, the Company received a $1.1 million refund of sales and use taxes from the state of Texas related to 
overpayments of sales taxes made between 2016 and 2019. There were no similar transactions in the current period.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the asset and liability method. Under the asset and liability 
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences 
between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates that are expected to apply to 
taxable income in the periods in which the deferred tax asset or liability is expected to be realized or settled. 
Valuation allowances are established when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized. All 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it meets the “more likely than not” 
threshold that the position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authority, based on the technical merits of the 
position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such a position are measured based on the 
largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company includes 
interest and penalties related to its uncertain tax positions, if any, as part of income tax expense within the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits outside of income tax 
expense within general and administrative expenses. No such interest or penalties were recognized during the periods presented. 
The Company had no accruals for interest and penalties as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2019-12, “Simplifying the 
Accounting for Income Taxes” which simplifies the accounting for income taxes by eliminating certain exceptions to the 
guidance in Topic 740 related to the approach for intraperiod tax allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an 
interim period and the recognition of deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. The new guidance also simplifies 
aspects of the accounting for franchise taxes and enacted changes in tax laws or rates and clarifies the accounting for 
transactions that result in a step-up in the tax basis of goodwill and allocating consolidated income taxes to separate financial 
statements of entities not subject to income tax. The standard is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2021, and the adoption 
did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

3. Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to over the term 
of the agreement, when control of the Company’s solutions are transferred to customers.

The Company recognizes revenue through the following five-step framework in accordance with ASC Topic 
606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers:

(1) Identification of the contract, or contracts with the customer;

(2) Identification of performance obligations in the contract;

(3) Determination of the transaction price;

(4) Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract;

(5) Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct solution to the customer. The Company 
identifies performance obligations in its contracts with customers, which primarily include usage-based and subscription 
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solutions. Usage-based solutions include fees based on usage of the Company’s platform or professional services, incurred on a 
time and materials basis, while subscription solutions represent the purchase of a committed data volume on the Company’s 
platform over a period of time. The transaction price is determined based on the amount which the Company expects to be 
entitled to in exchange for providing the promised services to the customer. For contracts that include multiple performance 
obligations, the transaction price in the contract is allocated to each distinct performance obligation on a relative standalone 
selling price basis. Revenue is recognized over time as performance obligations are satisfied. Variable consideration is 
evaluated on a contract-by-contract basis, and a constraint is applied using the facts and circumstances of the contract when 
applicable. On a limited basis, the Company enters into contracts whereby the consideration payable is contingent upon the 
conclusion of the legal matter. The Company does not recognize the revenue related to these contracts until the legal matter is 
resolved. Such amounts recognized have been immaterial to date.

The Company’s software contracts do not allow the customer to take possession of the software supporting the cloud-
based solution. Customers are not entitled to any refunds. The Company generally invoices its customers monthly, quarterly or 
annually in advance and recognizes revenue ratably over the life of the contract.

The Company’s arrangements do not contain general rights of return; however, credits may be issued on a case-by-
case basis. Amounts that have been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable and in revenue or deferred revenue depending 
on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Nature of Solutions

The Company’s revenue-generating activities directly relate to the sale and support of its legal solution within a single 
operating segment. The Company disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers based on how the nature, amount, 
timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. The Company has two primary types of 
contractual arrangements: usage-based and subscription solutions. Usage-based revenue is generated from solutions that are 
billed on a monthly basis and can be canceled with one month’s notice or are incurred on a time and materials basis. 
Subscription revenue is derived from contracts where customers are contractually committed to a fixed data volume over a 
period of time. Usage amounts above the fixed data volume are considered usage-based revenue. Subscription arrangements are 
typically billed on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis.

In the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, usage-based revenue represented 89% and 86% of total revenue, 
respectively. In the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, subscription revenue fees represented 11% and 14% of total 
revenue, respectively. 

No significant judgments are required in determining whether services are considered distinct performance obligations 
and should be accounted for separately versus together, or to determine the stand-alone selling price (“SSP”).

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue primarily consists of amounts that have been billed to or received from customers in advance of 
performing the associated services. Of the $1.6 million and $1.4 million of deferred revenue balance as of December 31, 2020 
and 2019, respectively, the Company recognized $1.6 million and $1.4 million as revenue during the years ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Company recorded $2.2 million and $1.6 million of 
current deferred revenue, respectively. The Company has no non-current deferred revenue as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Contract Assets 

Contract assets represent revenue recognized for contracts that have not yet been invoiced to customers, but are billed in 
arrears and for which the Company has an unconditional right to payment. Total contract assets were $3.2 million and $1.5 
million as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, and were included within accounts receivable on the 
consolidated balance sheets.

Remaining Performance Obligations 

Remaining performance obligations (“RPO”) represent the amount of contracted future revenue that has not yet been 
recognized, including both deferred revenue and non-cancelable contracted amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as 
revenue in future periods. RPO exclude performance obligations from certain time and materials contracts that are billed in 
arrears. RPO are not necessarily indicative of future revenue growth because they do not account for consumption in excess of 
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contracted capacity.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company expects to recognize approximately $17.4 million of revenue from remaining 
performance obligations. The Company expects to recognize revenue of approximately $9.6 million as of December 31, 2021 
from remaining performance obligations over the next 12 months, with the remaining balance recognized thereafter. 

Incremental Contract Costs

Incremental costs to obtain or fulfill a contract are recognized as an asset if the expected benefit is expected to be longer 
than one year. These assets are amortized over the expected period of benefit. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020, the Company identified no material incremental costs to obtain or fulfill a contract, primarily based on the nature and 
terms of the Company’s contracts, as well as the expected period of benefit.

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2020

Computer equipment $ 3,079 $ 2,261 
Capitalized internal-use software  5,168  3,259 
Leasehold improvements  111  111 
Furniture  649  648 

Total property and equipment  9,007  6,279 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization  (3,672)  (2,406) 

Property and equipment, net $ 5,335 $ 3,873 

Depreciation and amortization expense relating to the Company’s property and equipment was $1.6 million and $1.6 
million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Amortization expense relating to the cost of revenue for 
capitalized internal-use software was $0.7 million and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
respectively.

The Company capitalized $1.9 million and $1.4 million in internal-use software development costs in the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the unamortized balance of capitalized internal-
use software costs on our consolidated balance sheets was approximately $4.0 million and $2.8 million respectively. No 
impairment indicators were identified when the capitalized development costs were assessed for impairment for the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020.

5. Leases

As of December 31, 2021 the Company had one lease with a remaining lease term of 0.8 years and no leased properties 
classified as “short-term” leases. In accordance with Topic 842, leases with a term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the 
Company’s consolidated balance sheet. For each lease, the Company recognizes a right-of-use-asset and lease liability in 
accordance with Topic 842. The asset and liability are then amortized as payments are made. 
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The cost of leases recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss were as 
follows (in thousands):

 
Year Ended

December 31, 2021
Operating lease cost $ 1,062 
Finance lease cost

Depreciation expense  77 
Interest on lease liability  9 

Short-term lease cost
Lease expense  26 

Total lease cost $ 1,174 

The Company’s operating and finance right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

Leases Classification
December 31, 

2021

Assets
Operating lease assets Operating right-of-use asset, net of accumulated amortization $ 864 
Finance lease assets Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation  183 

Total leased assets $ 1,047 
Liabilities
Current

Operating leases Operating lease liability, current $ 890 
Finance leases Finance lease liability, current  99 

Non-current
Operating leases Operating lease liability, non-current  — 
Finance leases Finance lease liability, non-current  — 

Total lease liabilities $ 989 

The weighted average remaining lease term and discount rate as of December 31, 2021 are as follows:

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term
Operating leases 10 Months
Weighted Average Discount Rate
Operating leases  5.25 %
Finance leases  5.88 %

As of December 31, 2021, the Company did not have any leases with initial or remaining non-cancellable lease terms in 
excess of one year.

6. Operating Segment and Geographic Information

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the chief operating decision maker, who reviews the Company’s financial 
information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating the Company’s financial 
performance. Accordingly, the Company has determined that it operates in a single reporting segment.
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The Company determines the location of revenue using the billing address of each customer. The following table sets 
forth revenue by geographic area (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020
United States $ 107,084 $ 66,718 
All other countries  7,258  1,726 
Total revenue $ 114,342 $ 68,444 

Long-lived assets outside of the United States are not significant.

7. Debt and Related Warrants

In July 2015, the Company entered into a revolving debt facility (“Loan and Security Agreement”). The Loan and 
Security Agreement was subsequently amended and restated, the First Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, in 
November 2018 to increase the available borrowings to $18.0 million and extend the maturity date to April 2021. 

In December 2020, the Company entered into the Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, which 
provided a $40.0 million revolving credit facility with a maturity date of November 30, 2023. The Company’s obligations under 
the agreement contained certain customary covenants, including, but not limited to, those relating to additional indebtedness, 
liens, asset divestitures and affiliate transactions. The agreement also contained a liquidity covenant equal to the greater of (i) 
$5.0 million or (ii) total 6-month adjusted EBITDA burn when the sum of the outstanding principal amounts are equal or in 
excess of $18.0 million. The revolving credit facility bore interest on outstanding borrowings as the sum of the Daily Adjusting 
LIBOR Rate for such day plus 2.50% plus an applicable margin of 0.25% per annum. 

Additionally, the revolving debt facility included an unused facility fee equal to 0.25% per annum of the difference 
between the total revolving credit facility and the average outstanding principal balance of the obligations under the revolving 
credit facility during each quarter.

Substantially all the Company’s assets were pledged as collateral for these loans. The Company was required to meet 
certain nonfinancial covenants. 

In connection with its amended and restated loan and security agreements, at various times, the Company granted 
warrants to purchase 49,869 shares of the Company’s common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.525 per share to $10.80 
per share. The warrants are exercisable for 10 years. At the time of issuance, the Company determined the estimated fair 
value of the warrants. As the warrants represent a freestanding equity instrument, the Company recorded the fair value of the 
warrants in additional paid in capital. In October 2021, all outstanding warrants were exercised for a total of $0.1 million. 

In March 2020, the Company borrowed $17.0 million on its revolving debt facility. The Company repaid the $17.0 
million outstanding balance on the revolving debt facility in October 2020. Additionally, the Company applied for and received 
a loan under the Paycheck Protection Program in April 2020 totaling $6.3 million. The Company subsequently repaid the 
outstanding balance of $6.3 million in April 2020.

In November 2021, the Company extinguished the Loan and Security Agreement. The Company did not incur any early 
termination fees in connection with the termination of the agreement.

The Company incurred nominal aggregate debt issuance costs in connection with its loan and security agreements. These 
costs were being amortized to non-cash interest expense over the terms of the related indebtedness using the straight-line 
method which approximates the effective interest method. In connection with the extinguishment of the Loan and Security 
Agreement in November 2021, the Company recognized the remaining $0.2 million of debt issuance costs as interest expense.
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8. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases and Other Commitments

The Company leases office facilities under a non-cancellable operating lease with a remaining term of 0.8 years as well 
as furniture under a non-cancellable finance lease. See Note 5 to these consolidated financial statements for additional detail on 
the Company’s operating and finance lease commitments.

Additionally, the Company has contractual commitments that are noncancellable and expire within one to four years 
after December 31, 2021. These commitments, which relate mainly to hosting agreements as well as computer software licenses 
used to facilitate company operations, are as follows (in thousands):

Purchase obligations
As of December 

31, 2021

2022 $ 18,803 
2023  18,403 
2024  18,054 
2025  18,000 
Thereafter  — 
Total $ 73,260 

Litigation

From time to time, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business 
activities. The Company is not presently a party to any litigation the outcome of which, the Company’s management believes, if 
determined adversely to the Company, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition.

9. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had six outstanding series of redeemable convertible preferred stock. These 
redeemable convertible preferred shares were classified as temporary equity within the consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2020. Upon closing of the Company’s IPO, the outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock was 
automatically converted into 35,793,483 shares of common stock. No dividends were paid to holders of redeemable convertible 
preferred stock. As of December 31, 2021, there was no redeemable convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding.

10. Stock-Based Compensation

 Equity Incentive Plans

On December 17, 2013, the Company adopted the Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2013 Plan”). The 2013 Plan was 
terminated in July 2021 in connection with the adoption of the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (“2021 Plan”), which became 
effective on July 20, 2021, and no further awards will be granted under the 2013 Plan. The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of 
incentive stock options (“ISOs”), within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code to employees, including employees of any 
parent or subsidiary, and for the grant of nonstatutory stock options (“NSOs”), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards 
(“RSAs”), restricted stock units (“RSUs”), awards, performance awards and other forms of awards to the Company’s 
employees, directors and consultants, including employees and consultants of the Company’s affiliates. As of December 31, 
2021, 5.1 million shares remained available for future issuance under the 2021 Plan. The Company recognized total stock-based 
compensation cost related to equity incentive awards of $5.7 million and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020, respectively. 

Stock Options

Options under the 2021 Plan are granted at the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant. The maximum 
term of options granted under the plan is 10 years from the date of grant. Options normally vest according to a four-year vesting 
schedule, with 25% of the shares vesting on the one-year anniversary and equal monthly vesting installments thereafter.  
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The following table summarizes the stock option activity under the 2013 Plan and 2021 Plan (in thousands except for per 
share amounts and years):

 
Number of

shares

Weighted-
average
exercise
price per

share

Weighted-
average

remaining
contractual
life (years)

Aggregate
intrinsic

value

Options outstanding as of December 31, 2019  3,486 $ 3.47 8.07 $ 18,568 
Granted  362  9.07 
Exercised  (215)  2.08 
Forfeited and cancelled  (328)  6.72 

Options outstanding as of December 31, 2020  3,305 $ 3.86 7.21 $ 22,952 
Granted  537  18.70 
Exercised  (1,033)  2.21 
Forfeited and cancelled  (249)  7.43 

Options outstanding as of December 31, 2021  2,560 $ 7.29 5.46 $ 72,875 
Options vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2021  1,700 $ 3.61 5.21 $ 53,610 

Aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the Company’s estimated fair value of its common stock and 
the exercise price of outstanding options. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $33.6 million and $1.9 
million during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

As of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to outstanding 
unvested stock options that are expected to vest was $3.2 million and $3.7 million, which is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 2.44 years and 2.26 years, respectively. 

Restricted Stock Awards

The fair value of RSAs is determined using the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. During 
the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted 0.2 million RSAs. No RSAs were granted during the year ended 
December 31, 2020. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 51,336 and 50,000 RSAs vested and were released 
from the Company’s right to repurchase, respectively, and no RSAs were cancelled.

The weighted average estimated fair value of RSAs granted for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $18.70 per share. 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $3.7 million and $0.9 million of unrecognized stock-based 
compensation related to RSAs, respectively. The weighted average remaining requisite service period was 3.32 years and 2.15 
years, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

The fair value of RSUs is determined using the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of 
grant. The RSUs vest over the requisite service period, generally four years, subject to the continuous service of the individual. 
The following table summarizes the RSU activity under the 2021 Plan (in thousands except for per share amounts):

 
Number of

shares

Weighted-
average fair 

value

Aggregate
intrinsic

value

Unvested and outstanding as of December 31, 2020  — $ — $ — 
Granted  511  46.97  — 
Vested  (15)  44.51  — 
Forfeited and cancelled  (27)  45.72  — 

Unvested and outstanding as of December 31, 2021  469 $ 47.12 $ 16,781 
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At December 31, 2021, there was an estimated $21.0 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation costs 
related to RSUs. These costs will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.59 years.

Valuation Assumptions

The Company grants stock options with an exercise price equal to the stock’s fair value at the date of grant. The fair 
value of a stock option is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Stock-based compensation 
expense is recognized, net of forfeitures, over the requisite service periods of the awards. Stock option awards generally have 
10-year terms and vest and become exercisable at a rate of 25% on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date and 
1/48th each month thereafter.

The Black-Scholes assumptions used to value the employee options during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020

Stock options:
Risk-free interest rate 0.8%-1.3% 0.4%-1.7%
Weighted-average expected term of the options 6.25 years 6.25 years
Expected dividend rate —  % —  %
Expected volatility 52%-54% 49%-52%

These assumptions and estimates were determined as follows: 

• Fair Value of Common Stock.    The Company’s Board of Directors determined the fair value of its common stock 
using various valuation methodologies, including external valuation analyses.

• Risk-Free Interest Rate.    The risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the options was based on the U.S. 
Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. 

• Weighted-Average Expected Term.    The expected term was estimated using the simplified approach, in which the 
expected term of an award is presumed to be the mid-point between the vesting date and the expiration date of the 
award, as the Company does not have sufficient historical data relating to stock-option exercises. 

• Expected Dividend Yield.    The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends and does not presently 
plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, an expected dividend yield of zero was used. 

• Expected Volatility.    As there is not a long trading history of the Company’s common stock, the expected 
volatility is determined based on the historical stock volatilities of its comparable companies. Comparable 
companies consist of public companies in the Company’s industry, which are similar in size, stage of life cycle, 
and financial leverage. The Company intends to continue to apply this process using the same or similar public 
companies until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of its share price becomes 
available, or unless circumstances change such that the identified companies are no longer similar, in which case, 
more suitable companies whose share prices are publicly available would be used in the calculation.

11. Income Taxes

The U.S. and non-U.S. components of loss before income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

U.S $ (24,553) $ (22,952) 
Non-U.S.  290  150 

Loss before income taxes $ (24,263) $ (22,802) 
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The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Current
Federal $ — $ — 
State  45  42 
Foreign  34  47 

Total current  79  89 
Deferred

Federal  —  — 
State  —  — 
Foreign  2  (18) 

Total deferred  2  (18) 
Provision for income taxes $ 81 $ 71 

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to reverse. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 31,046 $ 23,433 
Deferred expenses  2,403  1,519 
Lease liability  232  542 
Stock compensation  1,140  393 
Interest expense carryforwards  70  71 
Depreciation and amortization  145  117 

Total deferred tax assets  35,036  26,075 
Deferred tax liabilities

Capitalized service costs  (1,077)  (732) 
Right-of-use asset  (225)  (474) 

Total deferred tax liabilities  (1,302)  (1,206) 
Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance  33,734  24,869 
Less: valuation allowance  (33,716)  (24,850) 
Net deferred tax asset $ 18 $ 19 

The Company has established a valuation allowance due to uncertainties regarding the realization of deferred tax assets 
based on the Company’s lack of earnings history. During 2021, the valuation allowance increased by approximately $8.9 
million due to continuing operations.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $122.2 
million and $93.2 million, respectively, and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $86.5 million and $60.7 
million, respectively, that will begin to expire in 2033, if not utilized prior to that time. Approximately $71.8 million of the U.S. 
federal net operating losses arose in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 and have an indefinite carryforward period. 
Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to the “change in 
ownership” provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating 
losses and tax credit carryforwards before utilization.
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The Company’s provision for income taxes attributable to continuing operations differs from the expected tax expense 
amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% to loss before income taxes due to the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Income tax at U.S. statutory rate  21.0 %  21.0 %
Effect of:

Change in valuation allowance  (36.6)  (25.2) 
State taxes, net of federal benefit  7.4  4.4 
Permanent items  7.7  (0.5) 
Other items  0.1  0.0 

Income tax provision effective rate  (0.4) %  (0.3) %

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various state jurisdictions, and in the United 
Kingdom. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations by tax authorities for 
years before 2017. Operating losses generated remain open to adjustment until the statute of limitations closes for the tax year 
in which the operating losses are utilized. The Company is not currently under examination by any tax jurisdiction, but tax 
years 2017 through 2020 remain open to examination.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax 
position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has 
recorded no unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company’s practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits outside of income tax 
expense. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company did not recognize any interest or penalties related 
to unrecognized tax benefits.

A U.S. shareholder is subject to tax on Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income, or GILTI, earned by certain foreign 
subsidiaries. Under GAAP, an entity can make an accounting policy election to either recognize deferred taxes for temporary 
basis differences expected to reverse as GILTI in future years or to provide for the tax expense related to GILTI in the year the 
tax is incurred as a period expense. The Company has elected to account for GILTI as a period cost in the year the tax is 
incurred.

12. Defined Contribution Plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution retirement plan qualifying under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986. This plan covers all employees within the United States who meet minimum age and service requirements and 
allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pre-tax basis. The Company’s contributions to the plan 
may be made at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company did not make any employer contributions to the plan 
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

The Company also engages in required pension plans of the United Kingdom. As of December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020, the liability under this plan was immaterial.
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13. Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following tables present calculations for basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share 
amounts): 

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020

Net loss $ (24,344) $ (22,873) 
Less accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock  (56)  (92) 
Loss applicable to common stockholders basic and diluted $ (24,400) $ (22,965) 
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to common 

shareholders, basic and diluted  33,208  13,171 
Net loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders, basic and diluted $ (0.73) $ (1.74) 

The following outstanding shares of common stock equivalents as of the periods presented were excluded from the 
computation of diluted net loss per share for the periods presented because the impact of including them would have been anti-
dilutive (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2021 2020

Redeemable convertible preferred stock, as converted  —  35,793 
Stock options  2,581  3,358 
Unvested restricted stock awards  263  113 
Restricted stock units  469  — 
Common stock warrants  —  50 

Total  3,313  39,314 

14. Related-Party Transactions

In October 2018, the Company loaned an officer of the Company $0.2 million, bearing interest at 2.83% per annum for 
the purpose of exercising stock options. The outstanding amount due under the note was repaid in June 2021.

15. Subsequent Events

In January 2022, the Company granted a total of 1.0 million RSUs to employees pursuant to the 2021 Plan. The fair 
value of the RSU grants was determined based upon the market closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of 
grant. The RSUs vest over the requisite service period, subject to the continued service of the individual. The Company expects 
to recognize aggregate stock-based compensation expense of $32.5 million related to the RSUs over a weighted-average 
requisite service period of approximately 4.0 years.

On February 22, 2022, the Company acquired legal workflow solutions from Congruity360, LLC in exchange for 
approximately $6.1 million of cash and up to $2.0 million of contingent consideration. With the acquisition of these legal 
workflow solutions, the Company will expand its offerings to address customers’ legal hold requirements. The Company is 
currently evaluating the purchase price allocation for this transaction.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rule 12a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) under the Exchange 
Act, that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits 
under the Exchange Act is recorded and processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s 
rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that 
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated 
and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to 
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2021. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure 
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2021, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of 
such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over 
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 12a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) or an attestation report of our 
independent registered public accounting firm as permitted in the transition period under the rules of the SEC for newly public 
companies.

Remediation of Previously Reported Material Weakness

We previously identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to designing and 
maintaining effective controls to evaluate and assess secondary sales transactions in our common stock. We have concluded 
that the material weakness arose because, as a private company, we did not have the necessary processes and controls 
formalized to effectively determine, in a timely manner, whether additional compensation expense was incurred based on the 
nature of the transaction. 

Accordingly, we determined that these control deficiencies constituted a material weakness in our internal control over 
financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in our internal control over financial 
reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements would 
not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

We implemented additional processes and controls during 2021 to address the deficiencies identified in our internal 
control over financial reporting. Based on the additional controls implemented and our evaluation of these controls, 
management has concluded that the material weakness described above and first disclosed in our Prospectus has been 
remediated as of December 31, 2021.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required 
by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2021 that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believe that our disclosure controls 
and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their 
objectives and are effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, our management does not expect that our disclosure 
controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no 
matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control 
system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits 
of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of 
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent 
limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a 
simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two 
or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon 
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certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in 
achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a 
cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information required by Part III, Item 10 (other than as set forth below) will be included in our Proxy Statement relating 
to our 2022 annual meeting of stockholders, or the 2022 Proxy Statement, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the 
end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, and is incorporated by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all our employees, officers and directors. This includes our principal 
executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar 
functions. The full text of our Code of Conduct is available on our website at www.csdisco.com. We intend to disclose on our 
website any future amendments of our Code of Conduct or waivers that exempt any principal executive officer, principal 
financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, persons performing similar functions to our directors from 
provisions in the Code of Conduct. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated 
by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and you should not consider information on our website to be part of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by Part III, Item 11, will be included in our 2022 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by Part III, Item 12, will be included in our 2022 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information required by Part III, Item 13, will be included in our 2022 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information required by Part III, Item 14, will be included in our 2022 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Exhibits.

The following exhibits are included herein or incorporated herein by reference:

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, as 
currently in effect. 8-K 001-40624 3.1 July 23, 2021

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant. 8-K 001-40624 3.2 July 23, 2021
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate. S-1/A 333-257435 4.1 July 12, 2021
4.2* Description of Securities.
10.1 Fifth Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of 

September 29, 2020. S-1/A 333-257435 10.1 June 25, 2021

10.2+ Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of agreements 
thereunder. S-1/A 333-257435 10.2 June 25, 2021

10.3+ 2021 Equity Incentive Plan for forms of agreements thereunder. S-1/A 333-257435 10.3 July 12, 2021
10.4+ 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S-1/A 333-257435 10.4 July 12, 2021
10.5+ Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by and between Registrant 

and each director and executive officer. S-1/A 333-257435 10.5 July 12, 2021

10.6† Sublease Agreement, dated August 8, 2018, by and between the 
Registrant and Spiceworks, Inc. S-1/A 333-257435 10.6 June 25, 2021

10.7 Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated 
December 14, 2020, by and between the Registrant and Comerica Bank. S-1/A 333-257435 10.7 July 12, 2021

10.8+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between the 
Registrant and Kiwi Camara. 10-Q 001-40624 10.5 November 10, 2021

10.9+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between the 
Registrant and Michael Lafair. 10-Q 001-40624 10.6 November 10, 2021

10.10+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between the 
Registrant and Sean Nathaniel. 10-Q 001-40624 10.7 November 10, 2021

10.11+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between the 
Registrant and Andrew Shimek. 10-Q 001-40624 10.8 November 10, 2021

10.12+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between the 
Registrant and Keith Zoellner. 10-Q 001-40624 10.9 November 10, 2021

10.13+ Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy S-1/A 333-257435 10.13 July 12, 2021
10.14+* Transition and Separation Agreement by and between the Registrant and 

Sean Nathaniel.
21.1* List of subsidiaries of the Registrant.
23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public 

accounting firm.
24.1* Power of Attorney (see the signature page to this Annual Report on 

Form 10-K).
31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) 

and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted 
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) 
and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted 
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1# Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial 
Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521223173/d172099dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521223173/d172099dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001625641/000119312521223173/d172099dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521212468/d176601dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521200525/d176601dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521200525/d176601dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521200525/d176601dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521200525/d176601dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521212468/d176601dex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521212468/d176601dex104.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521212468/d176601dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521212468/d176601dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521200525/d176601dex106.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521200525/d176601dex106.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521212468/d176601dex107.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521212468/d176601dex107.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000162564121000053/kiwicamaraemploymentagreem.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000162564121000053/kiwicamaraemploymentagreem.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000162564121000053/michaellafairemploymentagr.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000162564121000053/michaellafairemploymentagr.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000162564121000053/seannathanielemploymentagr.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000162564121000053/seannathanielemploymentagr.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000162564121000053/andrewshimekemploymentagre.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000162564121000053/andrewshimekemploymentagre.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000162564121000053/keithzoellneremploymentagr.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000162564121000053/keithzoellneremploymentagr.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1625641/000119312521212468/d176601dex1013.htm


___________
* Filed herewith.
# This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 

or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing 
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
† Certain schedules and exhibits to this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. A copy 

of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished to the SEC upon request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CS DISCO, INC.

Date: February 25, 2022 By: /s/ Kiwi Camara
Name: Kiwi Camara
Title: Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes 
and appoints Kiwi Camara and Michael Lafair, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with 
full power of substitution, for him and her in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact, proxy, and agent full power and authority to do and perform each 
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or 
she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact, proxy and agent, or his or her 
substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, report has been signed by the following persons in the 
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Kiwi Camara Chief Executive Officer and Director February 25, 2022
Kiwi Camara (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Michael Lafair Chief Financial Officer February 25, 2022
Michael Lafair (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Krishna Srinivasan Chair of the Board of Directors and Director February 25, 2022
Krishna Srinivasan

/s/ Tyson Baber Director February 25, 2022
Tyson Baber

/s/ Susan L. Blount Director February 25, 2022
Susan L. Blount

/s/ Colette Pierce Burnette Director February 25, 2022
Colette Pierce Burnette

/s/ Aaron Clark Director February 25, 2022
Aaron Clark

/s/ Robert P. Goodman Director February 25, 2022
Robert P. Goodman

/s/ Scott Hill Director February 25, 2022
Scott Hill

/s/ James Offerdahl Director February 25, 2022
James Offerdahl
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